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SCOPE AND BOUNDARY

The Integrated Report represents RH Bophelo Limited’s  
(the Company or RH Bophelo) financial results and the social, 
economic and governance aspects which, in the Board of Directors’ 
of RH Bophelo Limited (the Board) opinion, are material to  
RH Bophelo’s ability to create and sustain value for all our 
stakeholders over the short, medium and long term. 

While we have attempted to include information relevant to all 
stakeholders, the Integrated Report has been primarily prepared for 
the financial capital providers.

The report is guided by the following local and  
international guidelines:

 The South African Companies Act 71 of 2008 (as amended)  
 (Companies Act);

 The reporting principles contained in the King IV Report on  
 Corporate Governance for South Africa 2016 (King IV);

  The Johannesburg Stock Exchange Limited (JSE)  
Listings Requirements;

 The Integrated Reporting Framework issued by the International  
 Integrated Reporting Council (IIRC); and

 The International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS).

 

STRUCTURE

In the Strategy section, we discuss our business and its value 
creation strategy and how it is impacted by our operations, the 
material interests of our stakeholders, and the principal risks and 
opportunities facing the Company and its wholly-owned subsidiary, 
RH Bophelo Operating Company Proprietary Limited (Group).

The Board, represented by the Chairman, Mr John Oliphant, is 
responsible for setting the strategy for the Company. Refer to page 
20 for his message. The Chief Executive Officer (CEO), Quinton 
Zunga, reports on progress against the strategy and future outlook 
in his report on page 22. 

The governance section on page 30 to 69 expands on the 
activities of the Board and its committees that ensure sound 
corporate governance.

ASSURANCE AND APPROVAL

The Company’s annual financial statements were prepared in 
line with the IFRS and audited by our external auditor, Deloitte & 
Touche (South Africa). The audit committee approved a combined 
assurance approach to this report. Executive management 
provided an oversight role by reviewing the Integrated Report for 
completeness and accuracy. The Company also followed other 
voluntary external assurance initiatives, complementing the 
Company’s combined assurance approach, as reported on in the 
Risk Management section of this Integrated Report. 

The Board acknowledges that it is ultimately responsible for 
overseeing the integrity of this report. With the assistance of the 
Board committees, we have applied our collective mind to the 
preparation and presentation of the 2019 Integrated Report and 
annual financial statements. The Board is of the opinion that 
this report addresses all material issues and fairly presents the 
Company’s performance, outlook, strategy and perspective on 
future value creation in accordance with the Integrated Reporting 
Framework. The Integrated Report was approved by the Board on  
25 June 2019. 

No forward-looking statements have been reviewed or reported on 
by the Company’s external auditors.

 

OUR VISION

To improve the reach of healthcare services to South Africans ranging 
from middle to low income earners, and to achieve clinical excellence. 

Our vision stems from the belief that wealth indirectly comes from 
good health. We invest our time and our WEALTH in HEALTH. 

OUR MISSION

RH Bophelo is a healthcare investment company dedicated to 
working closely with entrepreneurs, medical professionals and 
experienced business partners to service the gap between public 
and private healthcare sectors in South Africa. We achieve this 
by making acquisitions that can support our vision of providing 
affordable quality healthcare services for lower to middle income 
earners, whilst offering superior value to our stakeholders. 

Through our investments, the business is focused on the upliftment 
of the South African communities and its services by providing 
socio-economic value creation and development, as well as 
contributing to the ongoing transformation process.

Scope of the Integrated Report
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RH Bophelo listed on the JSE as a Special Purpose Acquisition 
Company (SPAC) in July 2017. Funds in excess of R500 million were 
raised. The listing allowed the Company to access the initial capital 
required to start operating; moreover, it opened doors for the general 
public to acquire shares in a fully Black-owned and entirely African 
healthcare company that offers growth and immediate returns in a 
defensive asset class. 

The Directors and management team possess significant experience 
in the healthcare sector and are well positioned in the market to 
implement the Company’s strategy and vision. 

The Company’s strategy is to increase access to quality healthcare 
services, while also creating an ecosystem designed to optimise 
synergies that deliver value to South Africans in the lower to middle 
income brackets.

RH Bophelo has made eight (8) acquisitions since its inception in 
2017, giving the Company access to 665 beds, 8 hospitals within 
four provinces, a nursing college, emergency services, pharmacy, 
complete facilities management, hospital management, healthcare 
insurance and emergency administration services.

The capital raised was used to acquire:

 3 entry level hospitals;  
 4 specialised services hospitals; and 
 medical insurance business (financial services) to facilitate  

 access of the uninsured population.

The Company will continue targeting businesses or companies that 
are strategically aligned to its value system.

Investment guidelines:

 acquire existing and operational healthcare infrastructure; 
 invest in brownfield projects that are no more than one year   

 from positive cashflow; 
 acquire independent hospitals in peri-urban areas;  
 hospitals that are strategically located and would enhance the  

 Company’s mandate and footprint; or 
 identify other opportunities along the value chain.

Significant milestones and changes:

 in June 2017, the Company listed as a SPAC on the JSE; 
 in October 2017, the Company announced the acquisition  

 of assets; 
 in May 2018, the Company obtained approval for the acquisition  

 of the assets; 
 in May 2018, the Company applied for a reclassification of the  

 Company from a SPAC to an investment holding entity; and 
  in October 2018, the Company was classified as a Section 15 

investment company by the JSE, under listed equities.

1.1 About Us

FINANCIAL OVERVIEW

The key financial indicators reflected in these financial results are: 

  RH Bophelo recorded an increase of 161% in operating profit to  
R21,2 million as compared to the prior year of R8 million, which 
comprised of a gain in the valuation of investments, the interests 
earned from funds held in the money market, less administrative 
and operational expenses;

  The total revenue increased by 98% in the current year to  
R41,3 million as compared to the prior year of R20,8 million;

  The operating expenses reported for this period increased by 
9% to R13,2 million, when compared to the prior year of  
R12,1 million; 

  Basic earnings per share and headline earnings per share 
increased by 63% to 41,5 cents when compared to the prior year 
of 24,7 cents;

 
 

 
 

  RH Bophelo recorded a 15% increase in the fair value of  
its investments;

  The net asset value of the Company increased by 7%  
to R530 million, when compared to the prior year of  
R495,9 million;

  The Company remains liquid and solvent, with its healthy 
balance sheet and a total of R373,5 million in cash and cash 
equivalents still available for new acquisitions.

  The Company made it clear to shareholders that it will not be 
declaring any dividends in the first 2 years, as the Company is in 
its expansion phase. The Board will re-asses the position in the 
next financial year; and

  RH Bophelo has acquired additional assets post year-end 
and therefore any income earned or presented in the income 
statement will not be indicative of the Company’s future 
earning prospects.
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FAST FACTS ABOUT SA HEALTHCARE

Most healthcare institutions servicing remote areas in 
townships and rural areas across South Africa lack the 
necessary financial resources and capacity to compete and 
to function at their best.

Public infrastructure is overcrowded.

Private healthcare in South Africa is expensive and 
unaffordable for the majority of South Africans.

No sufficient capital allocations for innovations.

The lower to middle-income market cannot afford private 
healthcare at the current rates, but is willing to pay for 
quality healthcare at a reasonable price.

Concentration of healthcare providers or operators on a few 
groups with over 60% market share is unsustainable and 
anti-competitive.

High cost of healthcare infrastructure and funding resulting 
in a high barrier to entry.

High burden of disease in South Africa.

RH Bophelo identified an opportunity to provide South Africans with 
affordable private healthcare, through making strategic acquisitions, 
partnering with empowered hospital operators and allowing them to 
expand the service offerings, thereby building and facilitating a more 
transformed healthcare provider that can compete in the market.  
In line with its mandate, the Company will invest within the 
ecosystem in order to defend its investment in the infrastructure 
through its exposure in the financial services. 

Infrastructure

 Africa Health Care (AHC)
 Owned:
  St Helena Private Hospital in Welkom, Free State
  Fountain Private Hospital in Carletonville, Gauteng
  Fochville Private Hospital in Carletonville, Gauteng 
 Managed: 
  Kiaat Private Hospital in Nelspruit, Mpumalanga
   Rand Mutual Assurance Care Centre (RMA) 120 in Welkom, 

Free State
 Vryburg Private Hospital (VPH) in Vryburg, Northwest
 Rondebosch Medical Centre (RMC) in Mowbray, Cape Town
 RH Fauchard Hospital (RH Fauchard) in Krugersdorp, Gauteng
 Medicare Private Hospital (Medicare) in Rustenburg, North West
 RH Bell Hospital (RH Bell) in Krugersdorp, Gauteng

Financial Services

 Wesmart Financial and Administration Solutions (Wesmart) 
 Africa and Worldwide Medical Assistance Service Proprietary   

 Limited (Africa Assist) 

ACQUISITIONS TO DATE 

KEY PERFORMANCE MEASURES

Feb 19 (R) Feb 18 (R)

Other income 16 827 266 –

Finance income 24 490 345 20 826 640

Total income for the year 41 317 611 20 826 640

Administrative and other operating expenditure (13 174 556) (12 128 479)

Profit before tax 28 143 055 8 698 161

Taxation (6 982 166) (578 836)

Profit for the year 21 160 889 8 119 325

Earnings per share (cents)

Basic headlines and earnings per share (cents) 41.5 25.5

WANOS 50 938 356 31 780 822

Note: There are no dilutive instruments in issue

Net asset value 530 119 886 495 945 698

Cash and cash equivalents 373 548 658 499 063 418

Number of shares in issue 51 250 000 50 000 000

Net Asset Value per share (R) 10.34 9.92

Tangible net asset value per share (R) 7.28 9.98

Shortage of healthcare specialists.
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9% operating healthcare related infrastructure; 

7% social infrastructure (including education); 

8% brownfield hospital projects; 

60% operating hospitals;

8% financial services;

4% pharmaceuticals; and

4% ancillary healthcare services.

The Company will be transparent in its strategy and clear to all 
stakeholders on all its acquisitions, by ensuring that the portfolio 
reflects a class of assets that is in line with its vision, mandate 
and strategy.

1.2 Our Strategy

RH Bophelo’s strategy is to create an integrated healthcare 
platform by leveraging off its Black Economic Empowerment 
(BEE) credentials to become the go-to provider of equity for 
healthcare projects. The strategy will be implemented in a  
three-pronged approach:

Consolidation of already 
operating assets01

The Company will either individually purchase equity or 
co-invest in healthcare assets that are already operating and 
have cash flow. The idea of a consolidated Group appeals 
to independent groups, as they will benefit from increased 
economies of scale and have a stronger bargaining position with 
medical schemes. This will allow them to compete in the market 
based on price and quality with the established operators.

Investment in  
brownfield projects 02

The Company will invest in brownfield hospital projects that are 
not more than a year from cash flow, with the opportunity to 
further develop and consolidate these projects to enhance value 
and support, and longer-term income and capital growth.  
RH Bophelo will ensure that project sponsors secure licenses 
and land, to ensure commitment and alignment of interests. 

Other healthcare funds and 
related healthcare sub-sectors03

The Company will invest in select healthcare funds and 
related attractive healthcare sub-sector opportunities in 
which RH Bophelo recognises value and can generate returns 
to its shareholders.

RH Bophelo will seek investment opportunities from 
the following sources: 

 RH Bophelo’s project pipeline;  
  Sponsors and advisors that independently approach  

the Company; 
  Other funds or investment vehicles interested in co-investment 

arrangements; and 
 Disposal of healthcare assets from industry players.
 Participation in auctions. 

RH Bophelo’s portfolio diversification
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Three-Year Strategic Framework

Over the past 22 months, we have identified the Company’s most 
vexing strategic problems and have used this as a starting point for 
refining our strategy since listing. The strategic refinements  
centre around:

 an operational skill set; 
 the need to raise additional capital; and 
 making affordable healthcare ubiquitous. 

OPERATIONS 

The strategy is to focus as much on the operations of the  
RH Bophelo assets as on developing a footprint (the focus of our 
first 22 months of investing). Operations focus is a phrase covering a 
number of processes supporting people and providing them with the 
know-how and real-time information to help them manage their role 
more efficiently. This will include investments in the following:

 bespoke healthcare information technology systems;  
 health insurance products to drive people to the RH Bophelo  

 network; and 
 further development of the RH Bophelo footprint in day hospitals  

 and other step-down facilities.

RH Bophelo’s operational processes will be designed to: 

 help people make the right decisions;  
 identify where problems occur and report or resolve them; and 
  define how the organisation should work, prescribing best 

practices and procedures.  

CAPITAL RAISING

The Board has identified the need to raise additional funding as  
RH Bophelo’s deal pipeline is both robust and includes assets that 
will support the firm’s mandate, “affordable for all”.

Our capital raise will focus on diversifying the investor base, while 
also bringing on board institutional and pension funds that are 
patient, longer term capital providers who see and understand the 
value in lowering the cost of healthcare in South Africa, while also 
being fully invested in the civic ethos. 

UBIQUITOUS AND AFFORDABLE HEALTHCARE

RH Bophelo will be offering a vast range of health insurance 
products offering and extending cover to uninsured employed 
South Africans through its recently acquired subsidiary, Wesmart. 
These products are in no way meant to replace medical aids but are 
rather designed as solutions addressing a market segment that has 
heretofore not been serviced by traditional service offerings. 

When applied in conjunction with the RH Bophelo footprint, we 
see the verticalisation of our offering; patrons will see cost savings 
by utilising both our health insurance products and our healthcare 
infrastructure. Ubiquitous healthcare provision and spreading of the 
healthcare franchise should then become a disruptive force in what 
is a mature market for certain segments of the population, and a 
heretofore unattainable necessity for the vast majority. 

Ultimately, the RH Bophelo cost base, with respect to 
infrastructure, varies vastly from that of the big three private 
hospital groups, thus we are not faced with the same revenue 
per bed pressures. This allows RH Bophelo to offer healthcare 
solutions more in line with the realities of the vast majority of the 
South African market while also alleviating some of the pressure 
on the public sector hospitals.

Aggressive cost cutting in healthcare requires innovation, 
technology and other interventions at the coal face of hospitals  
(both local and national) in order to drive operational effciencies 
(lower costs) that make healthcare affordable to patients. 
 

OUR ACQUISITIONS WILL BE FOCUSSED ON:

 Primary healthcare; 
 Entry level hospitals; 
 Specialised hospitals; 
 Mental health; and  
 Innovation and support services.

Innovative Energy Solutions

RH Bophelo will be seeking ways in which to self-service both its energy 
and water needs. In the case of energy, we will utilise renewables  
(wind, solar and battery), to reduce our reliance on the national 
electricity grid. With respect to water, the RH Bophelo group will 
examine ways to both save water and utilise same more efficiently.
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RH Bophelo Strategic 3-year Business Plan

S
TR

AT
EG

Y To become the leading capital provider of affordable healthcare in South Africa. This will be accomplished by growing and 
expanding the RH Bophelo brand and network through executing a series of purchases that are overlaid with management 
expertise, partnerships and a commitment to excellence in governance and operations; and, in so doing, collaboratively executing 
programmes of socio-economic change and services that positively impact the wellbeing of the people of South Africa and Africa.

H
O

W
 W

E 
W

IN  Entry level service hospitals 
 Specialised service hospitals  
 Mental health hospitals 
 Primary and day care facilities 
 Innovations and support services  

 (operational efficiency, IT, procurement,  
 pharmaceuticals and financial services)

  More skills, processes, governance 
and systems to manage this  
growing platform

  Hospital administration - investees 
and companies within the group.

  Hospital administration, 
commissioning , consulting and 
management (balance and  
counter balance)

  Organisational culture emanates 
from the top – Get it right, get it 
tight. REPLICATE

  Ethical culture and risk management
  Effective internal and external 

communications – all stakeholders

Deepen Operational Expertise Excellence in Governance

PURCHASE AND SWEAT ASSETS FOR A NAV OF 5BN WITHIN THREE YEARS 

COMMITMENT TO OURSELVES

EX
TE

N
D

ED
 M

A
N

D
AT

E

 Private medical and dental schools 
 Private nurse training and hospital management colleges.

 Spread the healthcare dividend (address the missing middle) 
  Provide opportunities for Africans to participate in the 

healthcare value chain (upstream and down)

Education and Training Health Equity and Justice 

COLLABORATIVELY EXECUTE SOCIO-ECONOMIC AND JUSTICE PROGRAMMES 

OUR COMMITMENT TO SOCIETY

R
ES

ID
U

A
L 

EF
FE

C
TS

 O
F 

W
H

AT
 W

E 
D

O

  Collaboration with other global 
healthcare providers.

  Thought leaders in healthcare 
provision – lead the charge to 
transform South African healthcare.

  Lobby governments to drive change 
that will be beneficial to the majority 
of South Africans, including the 
implementation of the National 
Health Insurance (NHI)

POSITIVELY IMPACT THE WELLBEING OF SOUTH AFRICANS AND THE AFRICAN SOCIETY
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KEY GOALS

  RH Bophelo listed on the JSE with a single vision of 
transforming the healthcare space through enabling 
lower to middle income citizens to gain access to 
affordable healthcare.

  RH Bophelo sets out to make the healthcare industry 
inclusive and affordable. We intend to achieve this through 
acquisitions of healthcare assets in exceptionally managed 
commercial entities and special strategic acquisitions 
across South Africa. 

  RH Bophelo will capitalise on its listing to help close the gap 
between low to middle-income people and offering quality 
healthcare services. 

  The Company will focus on assets such as acute and  
sub-acute hospitals, healthcare Information Technology 
(IT), pharmacies and clinics.

DIFFERENTIATORS

  RH Bophelo is the first and only 100% Black-owned listed 
investment holding company in South Africa, focused on the 
healthcare sector;

  Provide capital or exit alternatives to independent  
hospital operators;

  Ability to co-invest with the Razorite Healthcare and 
Rehabilitation Fund 2, a R2,5 billion South African Healthcare 
Infrastructure Fund;

  Ability to access a pipeline of 13 newly commissioned hospitals 
in South Africa by Razorite Healthcare and Rehabilitation Fund;

  Management’s reputation and track record in the sector;
  Willing to work with government to solve some of the healthcare 

problems including infrastructure backlog;
  Commitment to bringing affordable and reliable healthcare to  

the continent;
  Filling a unique market gap – there is currently no affordable 

private healthcare for the lower to middle income groups;
 Already have a portfolio of good performing assets;
  In-house hospital management, commissioning and consulting 

expertise through AHC;
 Our focus is on peri-urban hospitals; 
  Our relationships with institutional investors and commercial 

banks; and
 The ability to rapidly deploy equity capital for co-investment.
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1.3 Our Investment Policy

 The Company’s investment policy is to acquire commercially  
 viable healthcare assets and to only consider investment  
 opportunities in South Africa. Investments may be by way of:

 a.  Purchasing quoted and unquoted shares in appropriate 
companies;

 b. Outright acquisition;
 c.  By the acquisition of assets, including the intellectual 

property of a relevant business; and
 d.  By entering into partnerships, joint venture arrangements or 

co-investments.

  Although limited to South Africa, RH Bophelo will seek 
investment opportunities through strategic partnerships that will 
provide a reliable entry to the rest of the continent.

  Although limited to acquisitions that are cash flow positive 
or within 12 months to cash positive, RH Bophelo will seek 
investment opportunities through partnership with other funds, 
sponsoring innovative solutions that can make capital available 
in order to responsibly participate in new infrastructure.

  The Company may co-invest with other Funds and may invest 
solely if appropriate and the RH Bophelo’s investment criteria  
are met.

  The Company may acquire the whole or part of a project 
or company (private or listed) and such investments may 
constitute a minority or majority stake in the company, or  
project in question.

  The Company may be either an active or passive investor 
depending on the nature of the individual investments. The 
Company will assess each opportunity on its merits and, whilst 
the following are not prescriptive, the Company will apply 
two guiding principles as part of its decision-making process 
(majority versus minority):

   Majority stakes will be acquired for turnaround opportunities 
and/or where the Company believes that it will have to 
discharge a management company such as AHC, in the 
management of the acquired entity. RH Bophelo will seek 
synergies that reduce costs and drive efficiencies to deliver 
growth and drive earnings; and 

   Minority stakes will be acquired for opportunities in which the 
Company is satisfied with the existing management team’s 
competence and ability to drive growth, as well as deliver value. 

  The Company may offer new ‘A’ Ordinary Shares by way of 
consideration, as well as cash in making investments. The 
Company may, in appropriate circumstances, issue debt 
securities or otherwise borrow money to complete  
an investment. 

  The Company will actively manage the investment life cycle of 
investee companies to maximise the financial returns through 
appropriate exit mechanisms at maturity of investments. 

  To the extent that debt investments are used by the Company, 
it is envisaged that these will mostly be self-liquidating through 
the repayment of capital, whilst equity investments will be 
realised at full market value through sale. 

   In the case of investee companies with strong positive cash flow, 
active growth strategies will be pursued, or alternatively, high 
dividend distributions in order to create annuity type income. 
In exceptional cases, equity realisation may be by way of initial 
public offerings and listing of shares on the JSE. 

  In addition to the use of its own resources, the Company will 
employ external financing as a source of capital. The Company 
will use borrowings to advance cash flows in order to increase 
overall returns. The Board will adopt policies from time to time to 
set limits on the Company’s borrowings. Interest rate movement 
risk will be mitigated by using inflation-linked rate loans or other 
hedging instruments. The implementation of such policies and 
the use of such instruments largely serve to make interest on 
borrowings a known and controlled expense.

  The Company will use borrowings to fund acquisitions on a case-
by-case basis, and only where it is satisfied that the overall yield 
from a particular prospective acquisition is or will be greater than 
the cost of the borrowing required for that particular acquisition, 
or when the leveraging produces enhanced returns.
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ACQUISITION CRITERIA

The targeted investments should meet the following criteria: 

Consistent value orientation 

The Company will actively seek out investments in which the 
intrinsic value (such as replacement costs of the assets employed) 
and/or conservative market value is sufficiently higher than the 
transaction value of the securities being acquired. 

Discounted price for controllable growth 

Many of the Company’s equity investments will be in well-run 
companies primarily in need of a financing partner to pursue 
earnings growth initiatives, facilitate a recapitalisation, or  
avoid/solve current or impending balance sheet issues.

Motivated sellers 

The Company will not be an active participant in traditional merger 
and acquisition auction processes. Rather, the firm will focus on a 
proactive sourcing process that seeks motivated sellers who are 
actively searching for and in need of a strategic financing partner.

Holistic, team-based approach 

The Company will utilise a holistic, team-based approach that is 
pillared on a consistent investment process.

Control vs. passive investment 

The Company will take control of an entity if it believes it can better 
manage the entity and drive efficiency. It will also consider minority 
stakes if satisfied with existing management and would then only 
require strategic and financial inputs.

 

Time horizon 

Most participants in the corporate financing markets underwrite 
investments with a targeted duration of three to five years. Investors 
in the Company can access liquidity at any moment. 

The Company offers management teams and investment partners 
a differentiated view on time with potential holding periods of more 
than five years.

Exit criterion and timelines

The Board has empowered the management team to refine an exit 
strategy in accordance with IFRIS 10, and as a supplement to the 
Investment Policy of RH Bophelo dated 2018.

Given that RH Bophelo is an investment entity (Section 15) under the 
JSE rules, and thus, is not subject to the same exit pressure as unlisted 
private equity funds, we have resolved to consider exits if and when: 

(i)     there is an opportunity to roll-up into a more robust or more 
strategic business that fulfills our original rationale for investing;

(ii)   an exit would provide an outsized return;
(iii)   if we believe that a particular portfolio investment had 

reached its high-water mark (was mature and we could not 
add further value); and 

(iv)   our original investment thesis faced significant headwinds 
from fundamental changes in the healthcare market. 

Ultimately, we are seeking at least a 3x exit cash multiple on our 
investments. We would in the event of having achieved the above 
criterion, and depending on the asset in question, seek to exit our 
investments in the following ways:

(i)   Trade sale;
(ii)   Management buy-out (which would be in keeping with  

RH Bophelo’s original mandate in that we would have grown 
and empowered Black operators); and/or

(iii)  A separate listing.
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INITIAL SHAREHOLDER APPROVAL

The targeted investments should meet the  
following criteria:

At the request of certain shareholders, RH Bophelo has provided 
additional voting protections to shareholders up to thresholds 
set out below. Notwithstanding the provisions of Section 15 of 
the JSE Listings Requirements applicable to investment entities, 
shareholders – including RH Bophelo’s controlling shareholder – felt 
that given the nature of a SPAC, they would feel more comfortable 
if afforded the opportunity to vote and approve future transactions 
that are equal to or greater than 30% of the initial capital raised 
on listing. However, this is only applicable up to a total cumulative 
threshold of R300 million, being 60% of the R500 million raised 
on listing. After careful consideration, RH Bophelo would like to 
accommodate their shareholders as a result of the following:

  RH Bophelo has, and always will, maintain strict compliance with 
the JSE Listings Requirements. However, it is RH Bophelo’s duty 
to address and find solutions to shareholder concerns. 

  RH Bophelo is of the opinion that enhanced governance and 
compliance should be encouraged.

  The additional voting protections are for the benefit of  
all shareholders. 

  The additional voting protections are only up to the threshold as 
detailed above.

Accordingly, any future corporate transaction by RH Bophelo is 
subject to categorisation in terms of Section 9 of the Listings 
Requirements up to the R300 million threshold, as agreed with the 
JSE. For the sake of clarity and to avoid any doubt, shareholders are 
asked to please note the following:

  For purposes of categorisation in terms of Section 9 of the JSE 
Listings Requirements, each proposed transaction will be looked 
at in isolation, unless RH Bophelo announces these transactions 
simultaneously or they are to be contained in the same circular 
to be issued to shareholders.

  The R300 million threshold indicated above applies to cash  
payments, the issue of shares, debt acquisitions or any other 
form of acquisition finance available to RH Bophelo.

  A related party transaction will be dealt with in terms of Section 
9 and Section 10 of the JSE Listings Requirements. 

  Once RH Bophelo has exceeded the threshold of R300 million, 
further acquisitions made by RH Bophelo will be subject to 
paragraph 15.8 of the JSE Listings Requirements applicable to 
investment entities. This will occur as soon as the threshold 
has been reached, regardless of whether shareholders have 
voted on a transaction as determined in accordance with the 
categorisation principles contained in Section 9 of the JSE 
Listings Requirements. 

  There will be no interest accrued on the R300 million and update 
announcements to shareholders will be made concerning the 
use of the R300 million threshold, including the residual amount 
left after each acquisition. An announcement will also be made 
once the threshold has been exceeded.

 
 The JSE will approve any circular and/or notice of a general  

 meeting required in terms of this approval process.  
 Disposals made by RH Bophelo will be subject to paragraph 15.8  

 of the JSE Listings Requirements.

Johannesburg Stock Exchange 

For every investment made by RH Bophelo, the Board and 
investment committee will consider all aspects of the JSE Listings 
Requirements and in particular, Section 15 of the JSE Listings 
Requirements and any amendments made from time to time. 
Should the Board and investment committee require guidance, 
they will seek independent advice from RH Bophelo’s JSE sponsors, 
advisors and legal team.

For the purposes of this section, RH Bophelo, the Board and 
investment committee would specifically like to reference the 
following in terms of Section 15 of the JSE Listings Requirements 
(including proposed amendments):

a) Paragraph 15.8 of the JSE Listings Requirements: 

Section 9 will not apply to investment entities, provided 
transactions are concluded in the ordinary course of business 
pursuant to the investment policy. All transactions by investment 
entities must be categorised and any transaction exceeding 10% 
must be announced pursuant to the provisions of Section 9. In 
respect of transactions less than 10%, issuers must consider the 
application of the general obligation of disclosure pursuant to 
paragraph 3.4(a) in the event that any transaction constitutes price 
sensitive information (applied individually or on a cumulative basis).

b) Paragraph 15.9 of the JSE Listings Requirements: 

The exclusion provided in paragraph 15.8 above will not apply to 
related party transactions irrespective of whether the transaction(s) 
is (are) in the ordinary course of business.

c) Paragraph 15.10 of the JSE Listings Requirements: 

In the event that an investment entity wishes to conclude a 
transaction outside the scope of the investment policy or any 
material changes hereof, the investment policy must be amended 
and approved by shareholders by way of ordinary resolution 
pursuant to paragraph 15.7 in order to allow the transaction.
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2.1. Message from the Chairman

ENABLING OUR VISION OF AFFORDABLE 
HEALTHCARE 

In our first year of operations, our focus was on building platforms 
for the acquisition and consolidation of independently run 
hospitals to create economies of scale and extract efficiencies. 
The manifestation of this has seen us invest in infrastructure and 
support a number of groups, making us a catalyst of change in the 
healthcare industry. Therefore, the consolidation of key platforms 
and operators within the healthcare system remains an important 
pillar of our strategy. 

In the current financial year, the team has continued to grow our 
infrastructure portfolio by increasing the number of beds from zero 
at listing to eight hundred and fifty-five (855) as of May 30th 2019, 
building our platform into one with a national footprint. 

However, creating a consolidated hospital infrastructure portfolio 
alone does not, in and of itself, deliver affordable healthcare – an 
integrated approach to healthcare provision and a supportive policy 
environment are necessary and vital components to achieve our 
mandate. In this regard, management has started to activate the 
second pillar of our strategy – which is the provision of affordable 
health insurance products to increase access to the RH Bophelo 
infrastructure and thus healthcare services. The medical aid 
population in South Africa has been relatively stagnant at 16% 
penetration or 9 million members. This low penetration rate and the 
fact that a significant number of South Africans are starting to find 
medical aid cover unaffordable are critical indicators of the need for 
an affordable alternative. 

As we build out our hospital platforms, and continue the 
development of the RH Bophelo footprint, we have doubled down on 
deepening our management expertise by integrating our external 
hospital managers and capabilities with those of our internal ones.
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As we seek to drive synergies (as per our pre-listing statement) 
in our hospitals, we have begun the process of the integration of a 
group-wide healthcare IT platform, the invigoration of our nurses 
training college (including a hospital manager training program), 
and a project that will see us become energy self-sufficient, utilising 
renewable energy to power our hospitals. Additional details on our 
integrated model and verticalization driven by our infrastructure for 

affordable healthcare provision are covered in the CEO’s report.

 
SHAREHOLDER SUPPORT

Our focus as a Company is to create sustainable value for the 
shareholders while simultaneously having a positive impact 
on society through the provision of affordable healthcare. As a 
platform, we offer investors direct access to impact investments 
in the healthcare sector. We have delivered a strong set of results - 
earnings per share increase of 63% in the year under review – while 
having a positive impact on the societies in which we operate. The 
details on the overall financial performance of the Company and the 
outlook are covered in the financial statements. 

As RH Bophelo’s deal pipeline is robust, the Board has 
identified the need to raise additional funding. Our capital 
raise will focus on diversifying the investor base, while also 
bringing on board institutional investors with an appetite for 
positive impact investments.

 

KEY GOVERNANCE DEVELOPMENTS 

Our commitment to best practice governance is fundamental to our 
business. The Board takes collective responsibility for its governance 
role and recognises that the execution thereof allows for an ethically 
run company.

The Board’s role and responsibilities, and the way that it executes 
its duties and decision-making, are documented and set out in the 
Board charter, which has been adopted by the Board. The provisions 
governing the relationship between the Board and its sub-committees 
are contained in the various sub-committee charters.

During the 2019 financial year, the board applied various principles 
of good governance in order to enable and support the Company’s 
value creation process. Appropriate governance policies and 
frameworks were developed to ensure that the Company adheres to 
the required governance standards as regulated by King IV. These 
are detailed in the governance section of the integrated report.

The Board oversees and monitors on an ongoing basis how the 
consequences of the Company’s activities and outputs affect its 
status as a responsible corporate citizen. Our stakeholder relations 
policy encourages the principles of transparency and active 
listening. Our stakeholder engagement plan takes cognisance of 
our stakeholders in the business and activities of the Company that 
enable us to forge relations based on trust. 

We continue to strive for an independent, experienced and 
transformed Board structure that will lead the Company, ethically 
and effectively, towards our vision of affordable healthcare provision. 

We will continue to adjust, manage and measure our performance 
with reference to the principles set out in King IV.

 

MANAGEMENT AND BOARD APPRECIATION 

The Company is squarely on its way to realising its vision of affordable 
quality healthcare services. Such a strong start was made possible by 
the dedicated, driven and quick-witted leadership of RH Bophelo led 
by CEO Quinton Zunga, and the support of his courageous executive 
team, which includes CIO Colin Clarke, CFO Dion Mhlaba, and 
Investment Director Vuyo Nomvalo, to name a few. 

The value of the Company’s Board members and its committees 
support over the last two years cannot be overstated. They took total 
charge of Company compliance and provided much-needed counsel 
and structure to operations. They remain committed to the corporate 
culture and to helping navigate the intricacies of an evolving 
healthcare sector and the habits of consumers.

John Oliphant (Chairman)
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We have maintained momentum in the past financial year by 
creating value from our assets under management. RH Bophelo 
recorded a 31% increase in the valuation of its investments and the 
value of its portfolio has grown by 10% since inception. We have 
added three (3) more hospitals to our portfolio: (i) Fauchard Day 
Clinic; (ii) Bell Hospital; and (iii) Medicare Hospital Rustenburg, with 
a total of 208 beds. These acquisitions were made in line with our 
mandate and our stated goals as per our investment strategy. 

These investments were additionally punctuated by our purchase of 
a sixty (60%) percent shareholding in Wesmart Financial Services 
Proprietary Limited (Wesmart). The acquisition of Wesmart, a health 
insurance underwriting agency, will allow us to offer affordable 
healthcare insurance products to the people of South Africa and, in 
so doing, deliver a viable means of access to RH Bophelo’s growing 
portfolio of hospital infrastructure.

RH Bophelo has not only grown in terms of its portfolio acquisitions, 
now at Four (4) wholly owned (Medicare Private Hospital, RH Bell 
Hospital, RH Fauchard Hospital and Vryburg Private Hospital),  

2.2 Report from the Chief Executive Officer

three (3) majority owned (St. Helena Private Hospital, Fountain 
Private Hospital, and Fochville Private Hospital) through our holding 
in AHC and one (1) minority owned (Rondebosch Medical Centre), 
but has seen its hospital management capabilities progress from 
strength to strength with the integration of its internal and external 
hospital management teams. 

We have established partnerships that are designed to enhance 
both our operations and cement ourselves as the go-to entity 
with respect to the building of partnerships intended to support 
emerging hospital groups and managers as well as assisting in the 
transformation of the South African healthcare landscape.

The synergies that we see going forward are to be found with 
respect to the execution of our mandate and as set out in the 
investment statement, which are to be found in extracting 
operational efficiencies from our portfolio of assets, while increasing 
traffic to our infrastructure through the creation of health insurance 
products at price points meant to spread the healthcare franchise to 
both those looking for value for money as well as those who are first 
time entrants into the health insurance market.

The strategy for RH Bophelo is established through a process that 
includes consultation between the transactors, external discussions 
with healthcare experts, as well as investment committee and 
Board interactions. Formally, once a year, we convene a strategy 
session to ascertain those elements of our business plan that have 
yielded results and those that require tweaking. The execution of 
strategy is left to the fund management team guided by the “C” 
level executives who are mandated to seek out, execute and drive 
earnings from investments. 

In the next financial year, we will continue to grow through our 
innovative products that will enhance our healthcare business offering. 
By combining intensified capacity expansion with accelerated 
operational efforts and continuous efficiency improvements in our 
hospitals, we will strengthen our pursuit of becoming the leading 
provider of affordable and quality healthcare to all.

Quinton Zunga (Chief Excutive Officer)
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It is my pleasure to present the annual financial report for RH 
Bophelo for fiscal year ended 28 February, 2019.

It was 22 months ago when a vision was decussated by the 
inadequate healthcare services  to a majority of South African, plus 
the ever increasing burden to government to provide healthcare 
to over 84% of the population, whilst the private sector has been 
comfortable for only being responsible for a mere 16% of the 
population. As a responsible Company, we have taken on this gigantic 
task of building a company that will see the migration of those that 
are working but not insured and those that don’t earn enough to be 
serviced by the private sector.

The Company has already taken steps towards the realisation of its 
vision of quality healthcare, affordable, access (geographical spread) 
and transformation. This process will entail the Company actively 
acquiring businesses that are in line with its mission statement.

For the 28 February 2019, the Company continued on its focus to 
aggressively expand its healthcare portfolio, whilst finance making 
sure that the businesses are integrated properly, processes factors 
through the respective boards and risk management.

Based on the Company’s exponential growth and strategy, it has proved 
difficult for valuers and auditors to reliably arrive at reliable cashflows 
that reflects the plans by management inline with its expansion and 

diversification plans. We believe that in the next 3 to 4 years time, the 
story and strategy will be much clearer, supported by proven cashflows. 
Although, the Company traded for a full year in the previous year, it 
still made it difficult for us to make reliable comparables with the 
current year, because of the acquisitions of three (3) assets. In 2019/20 
financial year, the Company’s portfolio would have materially increased, 
again making it difficult for investors and valuers to reliably measure the 
value of our assets or the Company.

Key judgements and estimates on the preparation of the financial 
statements were that of the valuation of the investments, including 
the application of the terminal value, Weighted Average Cost of 
Capital (WACC) and EBITDA multiple. 

In addition, the Board has been concerned about the lack of liquidity 
or low liquidity of the RH Bophelo’s shares, as the price per share 
for RH Bophelo is sometimes triggered by a trade of less than R1 
000, approximately +/- 0,0002% of the Company. This can cause a 
risk of share manipulation. The reasons for the lack of liquidity can 
be attributed to the size, investor concertation, low retail books and 
investors that are tightly holding onto the shares.

The Board has requested management to start with a capital raising 
process, where we can attract new investors to the group, pension 
funds, hedge funds, retail clients and etc.

Liquidity and solvency, the Company and its subsidiaries, were all 
assessed to be solvent and liquid, with access or sizeable cash and 
cash equivalents in the businesses.

IFRS application, basis of application and Accounting for investments; 

Subsidiaries and associates are classified as Investment Entities 
under IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements. Investment 
Entities are exempt from consolidation and measured at fair 
value through profit and loss in terms of IFRS 9. Changes in fair 
value, primarily driven by revaluation of portfolio investments, are 
recognised in profit and loss in the period of change. 

The introduction of new standards such as IFRS 9 and 15, was found 
not to be material to the Company.

Overall Results 
Refer to page 8 for the financial overview and pages 70 to 98 the 
financial statements.

Debt Obligations 
The Company did not have any debt obligations.

  

 

Dion Mhlaba (Financial Director)

2.3 Highlights from the Chief Financial Officer
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2.4 Investment Portfolio

On 3 May 2018, RH Bophelo successfully acquired a 60% equity 
holding in AHC. AHC was established in 2014 as a medical operating, 
management, services and facilities entity. It is strategically 
underpinned by management with extensive hospital operating 
expertise. AHC currently owns and operates a number of different 
hospital facilities.

Deal Rationale

The AHC acquisition has enabled RH Bophelo to offer 
administration, commissioning, management and/or hospital 
infrastructure assets. 

Deal Metrics 

 AHC owns and operates 3 hospitals and holds management  
 contracts for 3 hospitals.

 AHC’s primary divisions are:
  Hospitals;
  Pharmacy;
  Complete facilities management;
  Emergency services; and
  Nursing college. 

 Acquisition was for 60% of the equity in AHC for R62.5 million.  
 (R50 million in cash and R12.5 million in new shares issued at  
 RH Bophelo’s 30-day VWAP). 

  In addition, the shareholders of AHC have received an ‘agterskot’ 
payment (in new RH Bophelo ‘A’ Ordinary Shares) after  
31 March 2019, based on the performance of AHC Nursing College.  

 Purchase consideration represents a 6.6x (EV/EBITDA historic),
 a 3.2x (EV/EBITDA forward) and a 29.7% discount to the   
 independent valuation performed by BDO South Africa  
 Proprietary Limited.

 The AHC acquisition will enable RH Bophelo to address  
 administration, commissioning, management and/or hospital  
 infrastructure assets. 
 

Current Year Performance

 Total revenue effectively (annualised) increased year on year by  
 6% to R234,9 million

 EBITDA increased year on year by 21% to R21 million
 Earnings increased year on year by 35% to R11,2 million
 Owned beds increased by 37 to a total of 331 beds
  The valuation indicated a fair value increase of R33 million (53%);
 The Company reported an increased valuation to R95,5 million  

 (Cost: R62,5 million) in the current year.

a) Hospitals owned by Africa Health Care

St Helena Private Hospital in Welkom, Free State (131 beds) 

The hospital is licensed for medical and surgical procedures 
(including plastic surgery) and has units for infectious diseases, 
intensive care, high care and 24-hour accident and trauma. 

AFRICA  
HEALTHCARE01

INFRASTRUCTURE INVESTMENTS
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Fountain Private Hospital in Carletonville, Gauteng (163 beds)

This facility offers a comprehensive suite of specialists and 
diagnostic services, including general surgeons, orthopedic 
surgeons, physicians, radiologists, pathologists, a psychologist, an 
audiologist, a dietician and an optometrist. The hospital also offers 
intensive care and high care units.

Fochville Private Hospital in Carletonville, Gauteng (37 beds)

This facility includes 24 medical beds, 6 paediatric beds, and 7 
maternity beds. The facility also has a frail care unit. Fochville Private 
Hospital accepts all medical aids and caters to private patients.

b) Hospitals managed by Africa Health Care

Rand Mutual Assurance Care Facility (RMA) in Welkom,  
Free State (120 beds) 

AHC is appointed to manage the RMA Care Facility in Welkom. 
Operational since March 2016, the RMA Care Facility operates 120 
beds as a custodial and care centre for pensioners and beneficiaries 
with occupational injuries. AHC manages the care facility on a 
contract basis. The Company employs all nursing and service-related 
staff and provides the following services through complete facilities 
management: custodial care, cleaning, laundry, security, catering, 
grounds, maintenance, waste, IT and administrative support. 

Kiaat Private Hospital in Nelspruit, Mpumalanga (115 beds)

Kiaat offers an array of medical services: radiology, pathology, 
pharmaceutical, surgical care, medical care, intensive care, paediatric 
care, orthotic and prosthetic care, mother and child care, neonatal 
intensive care, 24-hour emergency care, occupational health 
screening, short stay care and day surgery. 

Vryburg Private Hospital in Vryburg, North West (44 beds) 

Vryburg Private Hospital has 18 doctors, 44 licensed beds 
(application to extend by 11 beds), 2 operating theatres and one 
baby delivery room. 

c) Other Services

AHC also owns the Africa Health Care Nursing College, ideally 
located onsite at the Fountain Private Hospital in Carletonville. The 
Africa Health Care Nursing College is an institution of higher learning 
accredited by the Department of Higher Education and Training 
(DHET) and registered with the South African Nursing Council 
(SANC). It boasts a heritage of over 60 years of training high-calibre 
students trained by a team of qualified and experienced educators 
and facilitators. At present, the college has over 200 students in its 
system; and this number is growing every year. 

AHC furthermore provides pharmaceutical services, emergency 
services (private ambulances) in Welkom and Carletonville, and 
complete facilities management services to all other divisions of AHC.

On 3 May 2018, RH Bophelo successfully acquired VPH. The acquisition 
entailed a 76% equity holding in a newly formed holding company 
(VPH HoldCo) that enabled RH Bophelo to acquire three entities that 
together operate as a unit referred to as Vryburg Private Hospital: VPH 
Equipment Trust, VPH Property Trust and VPH Hospital Trust. 

Currently, Vryburg Hospital has 18 doctors, 44 licensed beds (application 
to extend by 11 beds), 2 operating theatres and one baby delivery room. 

Deal Rationale

It is the only hospital within a 150km radius in the community. The 
acquisition presents an opportunity for RH Bophelo to leverage its 
experience to gain operating efficiencies in a 44-bed hospital. The 
investment will improve the hospital’s quality, capacity and service 
offering and, as a result, residents will have access to more affordable, 
quality healthcare – as set out in RH Bophelo’s mandate.

Deal Metrics 
 

 18 doctors, 44 licensed beds (application to extend by 5), two  
 operating theatres and one baby delivery room designed around a  
 central nursing station.

 Acquisition is for 76% of the equity in VPH HoldCo for  
 R24.3 million. 

 Purchase consideration represents a 8.2x (P/E) historic, a 3.4x
 P/E forward and a 11.4% discount to the independent medium case  
 valuation performed by EY.

Current Year Performance  

 Total revenue increased year on year by 28%.
 The valuation indicated a fair value increase of R2,8 million (12%).
  The Company reported an increased valuation to R27,1 million 

(Cost: R24,3 million) in the current year.
  Human resource: Changes in management, culture adjustments 

for staff and a new operator.
  Operations: Upgrades of billing systems, equipment, computers 

and materials.

VRYBURG PRIVATE 
HOSPITAL02
North West

RH BOPHELO  INTEGRATED ANNUAL REPORT 2019   CULTIVATING THE FUTURE OF HEALTHCARE 25



RONDEBOSCH 
MEDICAL CENTRE03
Cape Town

RH FAUCHARD 
HOSPITAL04
Krugersdorp

On 30 June 2018, RH Bophelo successfully acquired 30% of RMC, 
underpinned by an option to increase by 21%. RMC is an acute 123-
bed independent private hospital (with the capacity and potential 
to reach above 200 beds) conveniently located on Klipfontein Road, 
opposite the Red Cross Children’s Hospital, in Rondebosch,  
Cape Town. RMC was officially established in 2011 after converting 
an existing 27-bed and 4-theatre day hospital licence into an acute 
licence and moving the longstanding practice, which was originally 
established in the late 1980s and has been operating since then, to 
Rondebosch. RMC has grown incrementally with limited capital and 
the founders have successfully applied to the Department of Health 
(DoH) for an increase in beds over the years. 

Deal Rationale

RMC offers quick access into the Cape Town metropolis, which is 
generally prohibitive due to its cost of entry. The acquisition presents 
RH Bophelo with an opportunity for entry into a growing market 
at an attractive price per bed. RMC is well positioned to cater to 
a wide array of income groups, including those from a previously 
disadvantaged population. 

RMC represents a facility and doctors who are trusted in the community, 
ensuring a loyal patient base. It will serve as RH Bophelo’s launch pad 
into the greater Cape Town community and provides the ability to 
move from a minority shareholding to a majority shareholding position 
in 4 years, and the capacity and potential to establish new units and 
increase from 123 beds to more than 200 beds. 

Deal Metrics

Acquisition for 30% with an option for 21% in 4 years’ time for an equity 
cheque of R0.2 million and a shareholder loan of R49.8 million.

Current Year Performance

Total revenue decreased year on year by 5% to R100,8 million.
EBITDA decreased year on year by 244% to a negative R8,6 million.
RH Bophelo’s 30% investment, resulted in a decrease of 30%, the 
valuation in RMC reduced to R35 million (Cost: R50 million) in 
the current year. The Company has an option to acquire 21% of the 
business in 3 years, the option was valued at R1. 

Response to the Weak Performance
  The hospital commissioned a hematology unit in January 2019. 

The unit will contribute to at least 20% of revenue in the hospital 
going forward.

  Negotiations with key medical aids for the hospital to be included 
on the network options.

  Hospital renovations to be concluded in August 2019.
  Investigation on commissioning incorporating day hospital beds.
  Business remained with a strong net-working capital of  

R36 million, which include a positive bank balance of R34 million.

Ideally situated in Roodepoort on the West Rand, RH Fauchard 
Hospital is a 16-bed day hospital facility serving as a test-bed for our 
day hospital offerings. 

Deal Rationale

Discovery Health has moved in excess of 2 000 procedures to day 
hospitals and we anticipate that other medical aids will follow suit. 

Deal Metrics

  Legal documentation was executed in October 2018. 
  Acquired 100% of Fauchard Hospital for R25 million.
  The property will be upgraded in order to attract more doctors.
  The transaction was not publicly announced as it was not 

deemed material.
  The transaction had not met all CPs by the date of this report.
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Rustenburg

MEDICARE PRIVATE 
HOSPITAL05

Medicare is an acute 117-bed independent private hospital 
conveniently positioned in Rustenburg; there is further opportunity 
to expand the 4th floor by an additional 30 to 60 beds. It was 
officially established in 2009 and began as a 36-bed sub-acute 
hospital and has subsequently grown incrementally, with the 
founders having successfully applied to the DoH for an increase in 
beds over the years, resulting in Medicare becoming an established 
acute facility in the North West Province. 

Medicare currently offers the following services  
(including the number of beds):

 24/7 casualty unit;
 On-site laboratories and pharmacy;
 Chronic and renal dialysis unit;
 Major theatres: 3;
 Delivery rooms: 2;
 Emergency room;
 General medical and surgical unit: 65 beds;
 Paediatric Unit: 7 beds;
 Paediatric Hi-care Unit: 1 bed;
 Paediatric ICU Unit: 3 beds;
 Neonatal intensive care unit: 6 beds;
 Maternity unit: 10 beds;
 Intensive care unit: 11 beds; and
 High care unit: 7 beds.

Deal Rationale

The acquisition represents a strategic opportunity for RH Bophelo 
to acquire a controlling stake in an acute urban hospital, servicing 
a strategic region in the North West Province and further expand 
the reach of the RH Bophelo network of hospitals. Furthermore, the 
acquisition provides RH Bophelo with, inter alia, the following:

  Quick access into an established facility with doctors who are 
trusted in the community, ensuring a loyal patient base;

  The investment will improve the hospital’s quality, capacity and 
service offering, and in so doing the residents’ ability to access 
quality healthcare as set out in RH Bophelo’s mandate;

  Entry into a growing market at an attractive price per bed;
  Medicare is well positioned to cater to a wide array of income 

groups and their main source of revenue comes from medically 
insured patients;

  Medicare will serve as a further reach into the greater North 
West community;

  Opportunity to invest alongside doctors who have a strong 
patient base in the Rustenburg area and are incentivised to grow 
the hospital; and

  Combined with RH Bophelo’s previous acquisitions, RH Bophelo 
believes that it will be able to extract efficiencies from the 
operation, leading to additional cost savings and earnings growth. 

Deal Metrics

  RH Bophelo acquired 51% of the operating entity for  
R57.0 million (purchase settled through cash and issue of 
2.5million RH Bophelo shares at 30-day VWAP), which equates 
to a P/E of 7.8x (FY19 forward).

  Acquired 50.1% of the property entity for R92.7 million (purchase 
settled through cash and debt), which equates to a yield of 10.5%.
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RH BELL  
HOSPITAL06
Krugersdorp

RH Bell Hospital is a 31-bed private psychiatric hospital situated in 
Krugersdorp. It was founded in 1994 as a fully acute care facility and 
was acquired by Netcare in 2004. After the acquisition by Netcare, 
Bell hospital was converted to a specialist psychiatric hospital. 

While it is a specialist psychiatric hospital, it also offers the 
following services:

 Independent radiology services;
 General practitioner services;
 Dental services;
 Dermatology;
 Ear, nose and throat services (ENT); and
 Orthopaedic services.

Deal Rationale

The acquisition represents a strategic opportunity for RH Bophelo to 
acquire a 100% stake in a psychiatric facility servicing Johannesburg 
and enables RH Bophelo to further expand the reach of its hospital 
network. Furthermore, the acquisition provides RH Bophelo with,  
inter alia, the following:

  Quick access into an established facility that has a solid 
foundation and has referring psychiatric doctors already 
associated with the hospital;

  The investment will improve the hospital’s quality, capacity and 
service offering, and in so doing the residents’ ability to access 
quality healthcare as set out in RH Bophelo’s mandate;

  An opportunity to invest alongside doctors who have a strong 
patient base in the Krugersdorp area and are incentivised to grow 
the hospital; and

  Combined with RH Bophelo’s previous acquisitions, RH Bophelo 
believes that it will be able to extract efficiencies from the 
operation, leading to additional cost savings and earnings growth.

Deal Metrics

 The Company acquired the hospital for R55.2 million 
 The acquisition was for 100% of 

  Equipment for R1.6 million; and
  Property for R53.6 million.

 Assets represent a historic P/E of 2.3x.
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WESMART FINANCIAL AND ADMINISTRATION 
SOLUTIONS (WESMART)07

INVESTMENTS IN FINANCIAL SERVICES

AFRICA AND WORLDWIDE MEDICAL 
ASSISTANCE SERVICE (AFRICA ASSIST)08

On 30 April 2019, the Company subscribed to 60% of Wesmart 
Financial and Administration Solutions Proprietary Limited 
through its wholly owned subsidiary RH Financial Services for a 
total cash consideration of R2,75 million and corporate guarantee 
of R3 million. Wesmart is registered as an authorised Financial 
Services Provider, (FSP: 45769) and has received exemption 
in terms of the Demarcation Regulations from the Council for 
Medical Schemes (CMS) under exemption number DM1122. 
Wesmart provides both “off the shelf” and tailor-made solutions to 
corporate employers who are looking to provide both primary and 
tertiary healthcare benefits to their employees. 

Deal Rationale

Our strategic rationale for purchasing Wesmart is to provide 
coverage to the working uninsured and in so doing provide them 
with coverage allowing them to access healthcare. 

On 27 May 2019, the Company obtained approval to subscribe 
for a 60% interest in Africa Assist through its wholly owned 
subsidiary RH Financial Services Proprietary Limited for a total cash 
consideration of R3 million.

Africa Assist is a dedicated medical specialist call centre with 
a niche market in the transportation and case management of 
patients to hospitals in South Africa and internationally, which 
operates 24/7, 365 days a week. 

Deal Rationale

Africa Assist forms part of the Group’s strategy to attract people 
to our hospitals from the farthest-flung reaches of Africa and thus 
assist in managing the cost of patient stays in an efficient and cost-
effective way.
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Govern- 
ance 

The diversity and commitment of our Board is key in achieving the Company’s strategic objectives. The Board members accept responsibility as 
the custodians of corporate governance within the Group and are therefore accountable to our stakeholders for the provision of value creation in a 
responsible and balanced manner.

3.1 Governance Structure

RH Bophelo Shareholders

Board of Directors

Social and ethics 
committee

Audit and risk committee
Remuneration and 

nomination committee
Investment committee

Executive committee

RH Bophelo Management 
Company (ManCo)

RH Bophelo Operating 
Company (OpCo)

GENDER

Females: 5 

Males: 7

BALANCE

Non-executive Directors: 7 

Executive Directors: 4 

Company Secretary: 1

DIVERSITY

Black Women: 5 

Black Men: 7 

Other: 0

AGE

Younger than 46 years of age: 8 

46-55 years of age: 3 

Older than 55 years of age: 1

The above statistics includes the directors of the ManCo who are also members of the investment committee as well as the Company Secretary.
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THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

John Rabagadi Oliphant (37) 

Non-executive Director and Chairman

Date of appointment: 27 March 2017 

Qualification: BSc (Actuarial Science & Mathematical Statistics), 
BSc (Hons) Advanced Mathematics of Finance (University of 
Witwatersrand), and MSc Finance (Economic Policy)  
(University of London, SOAS).

John Oliphant is currently the Executive Chairman of Third Way 
Investment Group (TWIG), an investment holding company. He 
is also a Director of Third Way Investment Partners, a financial 
advisory and investment firm with more than R2.1 billion 
commitments in its Infrastructure Fund. As part of the TWIG 
portfolio of companies, John serves as the Chairman of All-Weather 
Capital, a specialist hedge fund manager with total assets of 
more than R9bn. He is the founding Chairman of RH Bophelo and 
a leading intellectual in the field of alternative and responsible 
investment. He pioneered the creation of the Code for Responsible 
Investing in South Africa (CRISA) and continues to chair this 
committee. John is the former Principal Executive Officer of the 
Government Employees Pension Fund (GEPF), the largest pension 
fund in Africa with assets above R1.8 trillion. He was the key driver 
behind GEPF’s leading investment policies and strategy, including 
the Developmental and Responsible Investment framework.

Dr Kgaogelo Rachel Ntshwana (42)

Independent Non-executive Director 

Date of appointment: 27 March 2017 

Qualification: MBChB (University of Cape Town), Fellowship of 
The College of Physicians of South Africa (CMSA), Certificate in 
Gastroenterology for Physicians (CMSA), Member of the Institute of 
Directors of South Africa.

Dr Kgaogelo Ntshwana is a specialist in internal medicine and a 
sub-specialist in medical gastroenterology and hepatology. She 
has 18 years of experience in clinical medicine. She spent 12 of the 
initial working years in the public sector mostly in the academic 
environment. Dr Ntshwana has worked in a wide array of disciplines 
including surgery, anaesthesiology, and paediatrics before settling 
in internal medicine. She opened her private practice in 2013 at 
Mediclinic Sandton, Johannesburg, where she currently practises.  
Dr Ntshwana is a Director at WAYFs.

JOJO

KNKN
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Maunatlala Piet (Peter) Mehlape (53) 

Non-executive Director 

Date of appointment: 27 March 2017 

Qualification: MBA (Bond University), Diploma in General 
Nursing, Midwifery, Community Health and Psychiatry  
(Rand Afrikaans University), Diploma in Marketing and 
Management (IMM), Management Advancement Programme  
(University of the Witwatersrand).

Peter Mehlape was formerly Regional Director for Eastern 
Europe, Middle East and Africa at Becton Dickinson. Peter led 
the design, development, and implementation of public health 
HIV/AIDS and TB delivery strategies. He oversaw and ensured 
delivery and measurement of global health programmes to meet 
relevant project performance goals and to ensure outcomes. 
Peter developed and managed distributors and agents across 
the African continent and grew the EBIT from 24% to 34%. He 
initiated and spearheaded a $50 million global partnering project. 
He developed and implemented a collaborative strategy in Africa 
to access funding and change policy further and also developed 
expert technical staff as a competitive advantage. Peter Mehlape 
has noted his resignation as a non-executive director of the Board 
of RH Bophelo in order for him to pursue other opportunities. 
Peter’s resignation will be effective as at the date of the Company’s 
Annual General Meeting (AGM).

Dr Solomon (Solly) Gabriel Motuba (55) 

Lead Independent Non-executive Director 

Date of appointment: 27 March 2017 

Qualification: MBChB (MEDUNSA), MBA (University of Pretoria), 
Digital Marketing Diploma (VEGA), Diploma in Financial 
Management (Damelin), Certificate in Administration of Estates 
(University of South Africa), Fellow Institute of Life and Pensions 
Advisors (FILPA) (FPA). 

Dr Solly Motuba has been a consultant for various medical schemes 
and corporate entities on the rationalisation and structuring of 
health funds. He has served on a number of medical aid Boards, in 
the capacity of a healthcare consultant, or as a trustee. Dr Motuba 
previously served as a principal officer for two medical schemes 
(one closed scheme and one self-administered open scheme) and 
as a CEO for a third-party medical aid administrator. He has also 
worked as an executive in charge of a managed care organisation. 
Dr Motuba co-founded Cure Day Clinics and Vmed Medical Aid 
Administrators and is a former Board member of the Board of 
Healthcare Funders of Southern Africa (BHF) and Mamelodi 
Hospital. Dr Motuba still serves on several Boards. Until recently, 
he was the head of private practice at the South African Medical 
Association. He is currently employed as an executive Director at 
Metropolitan Health, in the capacity of Chief Commercial Officer.

PMPM

SMSM
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PSPS

LSLS

Dr Phetole (David) Sekete (65) 

Non-executive Director 

Date of appointment: 27 March 2017 

Qualification: BSc (UNIC), MBChB (Natal University), MSc Med 
(University of Witwatersrand) 

Dr Sekete has 37 years of medical experience, having worked in 
both public and private hospitals. He has extensive management 
experience in healthcare, property and environmental health. 
Between 1995 and 1997, he was responsible for the integration of the 
Ekurhuleni District clinics with the provincial clinics and hospitals. 
Additionally, he served as Director on the Boards of: 

 MEDITECH (SA), an international health IT company,  
 operating in South Africa, Botswana and Middle East;  

 Acsion Limited, a JSE listed company;  
 GET Academy (GETA), a company involved in environmental and  

 occupational health in various hospitals, Health and Welfare  
 Sector Education and Training Authority (HWSETA) accredited;  

 Liseko Strategic Investments; and  
 Ingocure Proprietary Limited, a company which sources quality  

 products from reputable companies. 

Dr Sekete owns a leading waste management company, Buhle 
Waste Proprietary Limited, which is contracted to the DoH  
(15 years). Buhle Waste owns and operates two medical waste 
treatment facilities in Benoni, Bio-Med and the Converter Green 
Technology in Limpopo.

Londeka Anelisiwe Shezi (35)

Independent Non-executive Director

Date of appointment: 21 December 2017 

Qualification: BCom (Hons) (University of Witwatersrand), CA(SA).

In 2009, Londeka Shezi completed her articles whilst serving in the 
banking division at PricewaterhouseCoopers (PwC). She continues 
to serve as the co-founder and Director of Agile Capital, which she 
represents on the Boards of The Innovation Group Proprietary 
Limited, Provantage Proprietary Limited, Provest, Aquatico, Goldrush, 
Spilltech, BBE Group and Feedem. Previously, Londeka was a junior 
transactor in the Leverage and Acquisitions team at Standard 
Bank’s Corporate and Investment Bank. Here, she gained invaluable 
experience in debt advisory before moving into private equity as a 
dealmaker at Zungu Investments, a diversified investment holding 
company in SA. She currently sits as Non-executive Director on the 
RH Bophelo Board.
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DMDM

QZQZ

Quinton Zunga (42)

Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer 

Date of appointment: 27 March 2017 

Qualification: B.Bus.Sci, MSc (University of London).

Quinton Zunga is the founder and current CEO of RH Bophelo.  
He is also founder of RH Managers and prior to this co-founded 
Arkein Group. Quinton has 18 years of high-level business 
experience, which includes 12 years of professional experience at 
senior level in investment banking and six years in private equity. 

Prior to founding RH Managers and co-founding Arkein Group, 
Quinton was a Director at the Bank of America Merrill Lynch SA 
(BofAML) from 2007 to 2011 and was head of its Debt Capital 
Markets for South Africa and sub-Saharan Africa. Before joining 
BofAML, Quinton was Head of Debt Capital Markets at ABSA Capital 
and former Head of Debt Capital Markets at Barclays, where he was 
responsible for a team that covered 11 African countries. Highlights 
of his career include pioneering the issue of municipal bonds by 
the City of Johannesburg, as well as the inaugural bond issues in 
Tanzania and Mauritius.

Katekani Dion Mhlaba (33) 

Chief Financial Officer 

Date of appointment: 27 March 2017 

Qualification: BCom (Accounting) (Hons)  
(University of Johannesburg), (CA)SA.

Dion Mhlaba is the CFO for RH Bophelo Limited. He completed his 
auditing articles with KPMG (Johannesburg) in 2010, where he qualified 
as a chartered accountant. While with KPMG, Dion worked with Nedbank, 
Industrial Development Corporation (IDC) and Development Bank of 
Southern Africa (DBSA). 

From 2011 to 2013, Dion held advisory roles at Afripalm Resources, a 
company with mining and financial services interests, and Sakhumnotho 
Holdings, with exposure to a variety of projects, including mining, 
financial services and engineering. In 2013 and 2014, he worked with the 
finance team from Thebe Investments on a special project that entailed 
monitoring, reporting, budgetary and automation plans.. Dion previously 
held a full-time senior lecturing post with the University of Johannesburg 
and continues to mentor new businesses and young professionals. He 
holds a certificate from Wits Business School for Broad-Based Black 
Economic Empowerment (B-BBEE) and also holds a certificate in Global 
Health from Harvard.

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
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VNVN

RNRN

Vuyokazi Phatheka Nomvalo (38) 

Executive Director 

Date of appointment: 27 March 2017 

Qualification: BCom (Hons) (University of South Africa), CA(SA). 

Vuyokazi Nomvalo qualified as a CA in 2009 and completed her 
articles with PricewaterhouseCoopers (PwC) within the financial 
services sector. During this period, she was involved in the audit of 
various financial institutions including Standard Bank Equities, First 
National Bank Credit, Liberty Life, ABSA Credit and Rand Merchant 
Bank (RMB stockbroking, RMB Securities and RMB Morgan Stanley). 

Vuyokazi subsequently joined the IDC as a business analyst and 
was later promoted to project manager. During her time at the 
IDC, Vuyokazi gained valuable experience in deal-making within 
the various sectors of the IDC, including the Renewable Energy 
Independent Power Procurement Programme (REIPPP). She was 
involved in the funding of various projects submitted for REIPPP 
under the Department of Energy.

Rajeshree (Ragni) Naicker (45) 

Company Secretary (Representative of Corporate Vision 
Consulting Proprietary Limited) 

Date of appointment: 27 March 2017 

Qualification: CIS Professional Advanced Qualification in 
Governance and Administration, Associate Member of the Chartered 
Institute of Business Management (CIBM).

Ragni Naicker carries 24 years of professional experience and a 
vast knowledge that expands over finance, company secretarial, 
and corporate governance. She worked at Investec Asset Managers 
and RMB Private Bank and was later appointed group Company 
Secretary for a property fund listed on the JSE. Ragni played a 
pivotal role in setting up the governance structures for funds 
listed on the Nigerian Stock Exchange, the Stock Exchange of 
Mauritius and the London Stock Exchange. Through her wealth 
of experience, she was instrumental in assisting in the process of 
listing RH Bophelo on the JSE. Her current role in the Company 
includes informing the Board members of their legal responsibilities 
in line with the JSE Listings Requirements. Currently, Ragni serves 
as a Company Secretary and corporate governance professional 
consultant to Corporate Vision Consulting Proprietary Limited.
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FMFM

Colin Clarke (55) 

Chairman of investment committee and Executive Director 
of the RH Bophelo Management Company Proprietary 
Limited (ManCo)

Date of appointment: 27 March 2017 

Qualification: (BA) Political Science, MBA (University of Oxford), 
Juris Doctorate (JD), Advocate High Court SA.

Colin Clarke has many years of international law, private equity 
and corporate finance experience with multinational organizations. 
Currently Lead Independent Director and Chairman of the 
Compensation Committee for Atlatsa Group Resources; Chairman 
of Benguela Global Fund Managers, and Former Chairman of the 
Investment Committee of the Sizwe Medical Fund and Chairman of 
ACPI Africa, a London based Asset management firm (fixed income, 
hedge, special situations, wealth management and multi-asset funds).

Colin has extensive experience with listed and multinational 
organisations including BP Amoco, the African-America Institute 
(AAI), the National Empowerment Fund (NEF) in South Africa, the 
Africa Regional Assistance Electoral Fund (ARAEF) and the Sloan 
Financial Groups, NAIF. Colin has also served as a Chief Investment 
Officer for the Sishen Iron Ore Community Development Trust.

Fulufhelo (Fulu) Makwetla (40) 

Member of the investment committee and Non-executive 
Director of the ManCo

Date of appointment: 22 March 2018 

Qualification: BCom Econometrics, BCom (Hons) Economics, 
(University of Pretoria) 

Fulu Makwetla is the Managing Director of Third Way Investment 
Partners, she is also a Non-executive Director of All Weather 
Capital as well as Fundi Capital. She was previously the Investment 
Manager of the GEPF, the largest pension fund in Africa, with assets 
in excess of R1.8 trillion, representing the retirement interest of 1.2 
million members and over 360 000 pensioners. During her tenure 
at the GEPF, she served on various committees and represented the 
GEPF on advisory Boards of Private Equity Funds.

Prior to joining the GEPF, Fulu was an Executive and Senior 
Investment Consultant at RisCura, where she consulted in the fields 
of pension funds, insurance companies and medical schemes in 
Southern Africa. She was an employer elected trustee of the RisCura 
Provident Fund. She also worked for RMB Asset Management and 
has over 16 years of industry experience.

INVESTMENT COMMITTEE

RH BOPHELO  INTEGRATED ANNUAL REPORT 2019   CULTIVATING THE FUTURE OF HEALTHCARE 37



 

ATTENDANCE AT BOARD AND SUB-COMMITTEE MEETINGS

JOHN OLIPHANT 
(Chairman)

5/5

5/5

–

1/1

–

PETER MEHLAPE 1 
(Board Member Only)

4/5

–

–

–

–

DR SOLOMON MOTUBA

5/5

5/5

3/4

–

1/1

Board

Investment committee

Audit and risk committee

Remuneration and  
nomination committee

Social and ethics committee

DR KGAOGELO NTSHWANA

4/5

3/5

4/4

1/1*

–

DR DAVID SEKETE

4/5

5/5

–

–

1/1*

LONDEKA SHEZI

5/5

–

4/4*

–

–

Board

Investment committee

Audit and risk committee

Remuneration and  
nomination committee

Social and ethics committee

Remuneration and  
nomination committee

Remuneration and  
nomination committee

Non-executive Directors
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* Chair of the sub-committee. 
^ Director of RH Bophelo Management Company Proprietary Limited. 

¹ The role of Mr Peter Mehlape was reclassified from Executive Director to Non-executive Director effective from 1 August 2018.
2 Fulu Makwetla was appointed as a member of the investment committee on 5 March 2018.

QUINTON ZUNGA  
(Chief Executive Officer / Non-Committee Member)

4/5

–

–

–

–

DION MHLABA  
(Chief Financial Officer / Non-Committee Member)

4/5

–

–

–

–

VUYOKAZI NOMVALO

3/3

1/1

–

–

1/1

Board

Investment committee

Audit and risk committee

Remuneration and  
nomination committee

Social and ethics committee

COLIN CLARKE^

5/5

5/5*

–

–

–

FULU MAKWETLA^2

5/5

4/5

–

–

–

Board

Investment committee

Audit and risk committee

Remuneration and  
nomination committee

Social and ethics committee

Executive Directors
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3.2 Board Committees and Responsibilities

The Board has ensured that its arrangements for delegation within 
its own structures promote independent judgement and assist with 
balance of power and the effective discharge of its duties. 

Delegation to committees are recorded by means of a formal Board 
approved terms of reference. The Board determines and amends 
the scope and responsibilities of the committees, as well as the 
appointment of new committee members. 

Board committees have unrestricted access to company information 
and any resources required to assist them in fulfilling their 
responsibilities, including professional advice, which is paid for by 
the Company, following an approved procedure.

The CEO and CFO are present by invitation at Board committee 
meetings to optimise the access of relevant operational information. 
The Company Secretary attends all Board committee meetings.

 
AUDIT AND RISK COMMITTEE 

Members

Londeka Shezi (Chairperson)  
Dr Solly Motuba  
Dr Kgaogelo Ntshwana

The audit and risk committee has been established by the Board, 
in compliance with Section 94 of the Companies Act, and its 
composition complies within the provisions thereof.

The role of the audit and risk committee has been codified in the 
audit and risk committee Charter, which has been approved by the 
Board. This charter has been aligned with the requirements of King 
IV, the Companies Act and the JSE Listings Requirements.

The audit and risk committee presently comprise of Londeka Shezi 
(Chairperson), Dr Solly Motuba and Dr Kgaogelo Ntshwana, all of 
whom are Independent Non-executive Directors, in compliance 
with the requirements of King IV. The committee members have 
unlimited access to all information, documents and explanations 
required in the discharge of their duties, as do the external auditors.

The Board, in consultation with the remuneration and nomination 
committee, makes appointments to the committee to fill 
vacancies. Members of the audit and risk committee are subject to 
re-election by members in the general meeting on an annual basis. 
The Board has determined that the committee members have the 
skills and experience necessary to contribute meaningfully to the 
committee’s deliberations. 

The audit and risk committee assists the Board in its supervisory 
and governance responsibilities, with regards to the matters set 
out below: 

 Discharging its duties relating to the safeguarding of the  
 Company’s assets. 

  The operation of adequate systems and internal  
control processes. 

  The preparation of financial reports and statements that fairly 
present the results in compliance with all applicable legal 
requirements and accounting standards. 

 Compliance with good governance practices.
  Nomination of the external auditors, considered to be 

independent, whose appointment is subject to  
shareholder approval. 

  Interaction with external auditors.
  Ensuring that the Company has implemented an effective plan 

for risk management that will enhance the Company’s ability to 
achieve its strategic objectives.

The committee met four times during the Financial Year end  
28 February 2019.

Activities of the committee during the year

During the current year, the audit and risk committee paid particular 
attention to the Group’s exposure to risks. A risk strategy workshop 
was undertaken to identify and address current and potential risks 
of the Company. SkX Protiviti assisted in carrying out the process of 
developing a risk register.

Focus for the year ahead

During the coming year, the audit and risk committee will continue 
to focus on the Company’s risk exposure. 

The audit and risk committee is satisfied that it has fulfilled its 
responsibilities in accordance with its terms of reference for the 
reporting period.

Londeka Shezi  
Chairperson of the audit and risk committee 

INVESTMENT COMMITTEE 

Members

Colin Clarke (Chairman)  
Fulu Makwetla  
Dr Solly Motuba 
Vuyokazi Nomvalo  
Dr Kgaogelo Ntshwana 
John Oliphant  
Dr David Sekete

Policy and Procedure 

The investment committee is a non-statutory extension of  
RH Bophelo’s Board of Directors. The committee is governed 
by the Investment Charter, Investment Policy and procedures 
for the execution of the Company’s investment strategy as well 
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* The acquisitions were not finalised on the date of this report.

as overseeing the investment committee’s corporate actions. 
The investment committee establishes investment parameters 
and regularly reviews the performance of the Company’s asset 
acquisition activity. 

As custodian of the Fund’s portfolio of assets, the committee is 
accountable to the Board of Directors. The investment committee’s 
responsibilities and duties are stipulated in its Charter and its 
mandate is aligned with the Company’s business strategy as an 
Investment Holding Entity.

The Company’s Investment Policy prescribes the objectives, 
distribution policies, and investment guidelines that govern the 
activities of the committee.

The Investment Policy was formulated by taking RH Bophelo’s 
financial needs and risk appetite and tolerance into consideration. It 
is managed consistently with the short-term and long-term financial 
goals of the Company in mind, however, it allows for sufficient 
investment flexibility in lieu of changing market conditions and/or 
financial circumstances. 

The committee will review the Investment Policy statement at least 
once a year, and changes can only be made by affirmation of the 
majority of the committee and are subject to shareholder approval 
as per paragraph 15.7 of the JSE Listing Requirements.

During October 2018, the Board approved a Delegation of 
Authority (DOA) to RH Bophelo’s investment committee to permit 
it to make certain investments on behalf of and for RH Bophelo. 
The DOA is limited to investments in any one financial year of 
twenty million rand (R20,000,000) and is in keeping with  
RH Bophelo’s strategy and mandate. 

During March 2019 the investment committee, through the DOA 
approved an investment in Wesmart Financial and Administration 
Solutions Proprietary Limited for an amount of two million seven 
hundred and fifty thousand rands (R2,750,000).

The investment committee met five (5) times during the Financial 
Year end 28 February 2019.

Evaluation 

When RH Bophelo listed SPAC in July 2017 in order to raise capital, 
there were no viable assets. However, there has never been any 
doubt amongst the executives concerning what they wanted to 
achieve, which was to: “bring affordable healthcare to the person on 
the street”. 

Within the first twenty-four (24) months of its listing on the JSE, RH 
Bophelo managed to accumulate a sizable portfolio. It now owns a 
shareholding in:

  Medicare Private Hospital in Rustenburg (50.1% OpCo  
and PropCo);

 RH Bell Hospital in Krugersdorp (100%);  
 Vryburg Private Hospital (76%);  
 RH Fauchard Hospital (100%); and  
 Rondebosch Medical Centre in Cape Town (30%).

Furthermore, RH Bophelo acquired a 60% shareholding in Africa 
Healthcare, which owns: 

 Fountain Private Hospital just outside Carletonville; 
 St. Helena Private Hospital near Welkom;  
 Fochville Private Hospital; 
  Medicare Private Hospital (Medicare) in Rustenburg, North West; and
 RH Bell Hospital (RH Bell) in Krugersdorp, Gauteng.

Financial Services Portfolio

 Wesmart Financial Services (60%)
 Africa Assist (60%)*

 
The initial R500 million raised (of which approximately 74% is 
committed), has been used to acquire these already operational 
healthcare facilities and brownfield projects, which are no more 
than one year from positive cash flow. They are also independent 
hospitals strategically situated in peri-urban and/or rural areas, 
which will enable the Company to execute its mandate of spreading 
the healthcare dividend. 

If we want to be relevant, our footprint development has to be 
focused on where the people are, which means a strategic purchase 
of infrastructure at price points that speak to the market we want to 
serve. It must be noted however, that investment decisions are not 
made in haste or haphazardly. Prior to our listing, founding members 
spent five (5) years in dissecting every verticle of the local public 
and private healthcare space. 

Our strategy, however, is not just about buying into bricks and mortar 
(a property yield play that does not in the final analysis provide 
access to healthcare for our people). We are and must continue to 
invest in product development. To which end we have purchased 
controlling shareholding (60%) in Wesmart Financial Services 
Proprietary Limited - a Health Insurance Underwriting Agency 
focusing on holistic and well-priced solutions for private health 
insurance, and we will be bringing our offerings to market soon. 

Although we are growing rapidly, we do so cognizant of our 
mandate, the people we serve, the faith that our investors have 
placed in us and a driving desire to change the way healthcare is 
derived in South Africa. 

For us, it is all about doing good by doing well.

Colin Clarke 
Chairman of the investment committee 

REMUNERATION AND NOMINATION 
COMMITTEE 

Members 

Dr Kgaogelo Ntshwana (Chairperson)  
John Oliphant  
Londeka Shezi 

The remuneration and nomination committee comprises of three 
Non-executive Directors, the majority of whom are independent, and 
is chaired by an Independent Non-executive Director. 
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The role of the remuneration and nomination committee has been 
codified in the remuneration and nomination committee charter, 
which has been approved by the Board. This charter has been 
aligned with the requirements of King IV, the Companies Act and the 
JSE Listings Requirements.

The Company currently does not have any direct employees. All 
reference to ‘employees’, therefore, refers to future employees of the 
Company and its subsidiaries.

The remuneration and nomination committee has been 
established by the Board to: 

 assist the Board in determining and administering the  
 remuneration policy; 

 approve the remuneration of all the Executives;  
 oversee incentivisation of all employees;  
 consider any other matters relevant to remuneration of Executive  

 Directors and staff;  
 identify suitable Board candidates to fill vacancies on the Board;  
 ensure that there is a succession plan in place for key  

 management and members of the Board; and  
 assess the independence of Non-executive Directors and the  

 composition of the Board sub-committees. 

The remuneration and nomination committee met once during the 
Financial Year end 28 February 2019.

Activities of the committee during the year

The remuneration and nomination committee’s responsibilities and 
duties are governed by a charter that was approved by the Board.

The committee gave specific focus to the composition of the 
Board and balance of skills and experience of the non-executive 
directors. The Board is satisfied with the independence of all  
non-executive directors.

The remuneration and nominations committee approved a revised 
remuneration policy during February 2019. The policy was amended 
to define the key performance measures that the ManCo would be 
measured against. The executive team were then tasked to provide 
a guideline to RH Bophelo’s investors on the methodology used 
to select the different metrics. The meeting with investors will be 
undertaken in the next financial year. Based on the feedback from 
this interaction, the remuneration policy will be amended to include 
the defined measurement criteria that RH Bophelo will utilise in 
measuring the Manco’s performance. A remuneration implementation 
report is therefore not included in this integrated report.

Focus for the year ahead

During the coming year, the committee will focus on the composition 
of each of the sub-committees to ensure that the wealth of skills and 
experience brought to the Board by each of its non-executive directors 
are appropriately utilised to add value to RH Bophelo. The committee 
is satisfied that it has fulfilled its responsibilities in accordance with its 
terms of reference for the reporting period.

Dr Kgaogelo Ntshwana 

Chairperson of the remuneration and nomination committee 

SOCIAL AND ETHICS COMMITTEE

Members 
 
Dr David Sekete (Chairman)  
Dr Solly Motuba  
Vuyokazi Nomvalo

The social and ethics committee is a statutory committee that 
has been established by the Board to comply with Section 72 and 
Regulation 43 of the Companies Act and the requirements of King IV. 

The social and ethics committee will oversee and report on the 
Company’s ethics, responsible corporate citizenship, sustainable 
development and stakeholder relationships.

The committee comprises of two Non-executive Directors and one 
Executive Director. The social and ethics committee’s responsibilities 
and duties have been codified in the committee’s charter that has 
been approved by the Board.

The social and ethics committee is responsible for, inter alia: 

  monitoring the Company’s activities against global 
responsibility protocols, including the United Nations Global 
Compact (UNGC) and the principles of the Organisation 
for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD) 
recommendations regarding corruption; 

  monitoring compliance with the B-BBEE Act, transformation 
agenda and gender and race diversity; and

  monitoring corporate citizenship, consumer relations and the 
Company’s impact on the environment, health and public safety 
within its investments. 

The committee met once during the 2019 financial year. The Company 
is committed to making a positive impact on the country, notably 
within the health industry, through its investments in healthcare. 

Activities of the committee during the year

The social and ethics committee’s responsibilities and duties are 
governed by a charter that was approved by the Board.

During the past year, the committee focused on the Group’s B-BBEE 
compliance, stakeholder engagement and Corporate Social Initiative 
(CSI) projects. Refer to page 67 for details on the Company’s CSI 
projects undertaken during the year.

Focus for the year ahead

During the coming year, the committee will focus on setting targets on 
gender and race diversity and monitoring the Group’s environmental, 
social and governance compliance within its investments.

Dr David Sekete 
Chairperson of the social and ethics committee
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COMPLIANCE 

The Company is subject to external regulation by various 
supervisory authorities. The principal applicable frameworks include:

 The King IV Report on Corporate Governance for South Africa;  
 The JSE Listings Requirements; and  
 The Companies Act 71 of 2008, as amended and the  

 Companies Regulations.

We conform to having open and active dialogues with regulators and 
supervisors. We embrace our responsibility of conducting business 
in accordance with the governing laws and regulations.  

VALUES AND ETHICS 

RH Bophelo is committed to conducting business in an honest 
and ethical manner and in accordance with laws and legislations 
that apply to us. Our Business Code of Conduct and Ethics Policy 
expresses the commitment of the Board, senior management and 
employees of RH Bophelo to the values, principles and standards of 
the Company.  

The Company believes that accountability will be demonstrated in the willingness to 
take ownership for roles, responsibilities, actions and outcomes and by honouring the 
obligations to all stakeholders. Focus is placed on the following:

OUR CORE VALUES

Community relationships and the environment 

We acknowledge our dynamic and vital role within the 
communities we serve. We continue to foster growth and 
development in a manner that understands and serves 
their needs. When engaging with communities we will 
respect their rights and dignity and we are committed to 
improving the material well-being of the communities in 
which we operate, by introducing sustainable healthcare 
services that will fulfil their needs.

We will also carefully consider the utilisation of natural 
resources including energy and water resources 
and ensure an effective contribution to sustain our 
environment for the future.

Honesty and integrity 

Acting honestly, fairly, with due skill, care and diligence 
and with the highest ethical standards through all our 
business dealings and avoiding any act that reflects 
adversely on the Company’s professional competence.

Quality 

We conform to exceed the expectations of all our 
stakeholders by committing to deliver quality and value 
in every aspect of our work. Through our investments, 
we dedicate ourselves to providing high-quality care for 
patients within all our facilities. 

Accountability 

We accept accountability for work, commitments, 
resolving of issues and the delivery of exceptional 
results in all actions and decisions. We comply with all 
applicable legislation, common law, industry codes and 
the Company’s rules, procedures and regulations. 

We recognise and honour the Constitution of the 
Republic of South Africa. We comply with all South 
African and applicable foreign laws, regulations and 
Company policies that are in force and have bearing  
on our business.

We shall not engage in any criminal or malicious 
activity that may harm the reputation or well-being of 
the Company. We therefore have zero tolerance for any 
incidence of dishonesty and misconduct perpetrated in, 
or against the Company. 

Care, compassion and respect 

We believe that each patient is entitled to dignity and 
privacy. We are committed to following all applicable 
laws and regulations relating to quality healthcare 
and patient safety. We have respect for the inherent 
worth of all human beings, irrespective of social 
status, ethnic origin, gender, capacities or any other 
differentiating characteristics. 

3.3 Governance Report
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TRANSFORMATION 

The Board of RH Bophelo is committed to the transformation and 
empowerment objectives of South Africa. The Company believes 
that a B-BBEE policy is necessary to detail the plan that the 
Company needs to follow to ensure adherence with social and 
economic transformation.

We recognise that integrating transformation into our business 
practice is crucial for the sustainability of the Company and industry, 
and it is especially imperative in the context of South Africa.

The Company recognises the importance of a multifaceted,  
broad-based and integrated approach to BEE in the transformation 
of the macro socio-economic space where it is active, as well as 
for the long-term sustainability of South Africa; these are essential 
ingredients in ensuring continued stability and prosperity.

In this context, the Company has developed its B-BBEE policy 
based on the following principles: 

  The Company recognises its responsibility towards its 
shareholders, to continually deliver attractive returns on their 
investment and that any B-BBEE initiative must remain cognisant 
of the interests of shareholders as stakeholders in the business. 

  An inclusive approach to BEE, which is broad-based and 
deliberately advances previously disadvantaged communities, 
ensuring that the benefits are spread as widely as possible. 

  The empowerment of the Company’s own employees remains 
a priority. However, being a responsible corporate citizen, the 
Company has a role to play in the empowerment, economic 
development and social upliftment of the broader society. 

  In advancing B-BBEE, the Company ensures that there is a 
positive net effect on its business interests. Human resources, 
development and skills transfer remain critical components 
for sustainable B-BBEE, and they are perceived to be the key 
ingredients in the success of any B-BBEE programme. 

  The Board is committed to promoting diversity in its members 
across a variety of attributes relevant for promoting better 
decision making and effective governance, including the field 
of knowledge, skills and experience as well as age, culture, 
independence, race and gender.

  The Board has approved a race and gender policy that sets out 
the Board’s commitment and approach in promoting race and 
gender diversity at Board level over a reasonable transition 
period. The Board, through its remuneration and nomination 
committee, sets targets for gender and race representation in its 
membership. The Company will disclose its performance against 
these targets during the next financial reporting period.

RH Bophelo is currently in the process of obtaining a B-BBEE rating. 

 

 
 

SUSTAINABILITY

We are committed to preserving and encouraging sustainable 
environmental resources across all our operations that indirectly 
benefit our patients and stakeholders.

The Company will ensure that our suppliers and partners adhere to 
good environmental practices and adopts a caring responsibility for 
the environment.

We will comply with legislation and regulations throughout our 
operations relating to the use of natural resources in the process to 
dispose of and reduce waste products.

The Company has an obligation to assess all our business activities 
to minimise the negative impact on the environment and to keep our 
stakeholders informed on our environmental performance. 

REMUNERATION 

RH Bophelo currently does not have any direct employees. The 
Company has entered into a management agreement with  
RH Bophelo Management Company Proprietary Limited (ManCo), 
whereby the ManCo undertakes the recruitment of employees. The 
Company endeavours to guide the ManCo within the principles of 
this policy and in line with best industry practice. 

During the current financial year, the remuneration and nomination 
committee undertook a review of the Company’s remuneration 
policy. The committee suggested that key performance measures 
be included for the ManCo and a benchmark study be undertaken 
for non-executive directors’ fees. 

The benchmark exercise is currently being undertaken and 
the Board has agreed to keep all non-executive directors’ fees 
unchanged until this exercise has been completed.

The criteria for the performance measures for the ManCo has been 
developed and management will engage with the Company’s major 
shareholders on the amended remuneration policy in the next 
financial year. A remuneration implementation report has therefore 
not been tabled in this integrated report.

All references to ‘employees’ in this policy, refer to future employees 
of the Company and its subsidiaries.

Remuneration Policy

The Remuneration Policy for RH Bophelo is designed to attract, 
motivate and retain high calibre human resources in a competitive 
market. The remuneration policy establishes the philosophy and 
general guidelines for executives’ and employees’ remuneration. 

The scope of this policy is to ensure fair and equitable rules and 
regulations with regards to remuneration and except in positions where 
minimum wages are subject to annual negotiations, it is the Company’s 
policy to pay salaries within the applicable job grade salary ranges.
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The policy reflects the commitment of the Board to good 
corporate governance as well as sustained long-term value 
creation for shareholders.

Mandate and Authority

  This policy has been adopted by the Company’s Remuneration 
Committee and will apply to the Executive Directors of the 
Board, key management and all permanent, temporary and fixed 
term contracted employees of the Company. 

  The management of the Company as well as the Company’s 
Remuneration Committee shall take into account the Remuneration 
Policy, and any other relevant documents such as the Remuneration 
Committee Charter when considering matters before it.

  The Company’s Remuneration Committee has full discretion 
in determining appropriate remuneration policies and 
practices for the Company, including but not limited to, annual 
remuneration increases, performance bonuses and share 
incentives for the Company.

  The Company’s Remuneration Committee shall, as deemed 
necessary, report significant deviations from the principles set 
forth in the Remuneration Policy, to the Board.

  This policy does not apply to the following employees:  
a) Those contracted via third-party employers. 
b)  Other categories of employees excluded from the provisions 

hereof, as determined by the Company’s Remuneration 
committee from time to time.

Remuneration Philosophy and Key Principles

Remuneration Philosophy

The Company’s remuneration philosophy is aimed at ensuring 
that salaries/wages paid within the Company are equitable and 
comparable with salaries paid for similarly graded positions in 
the marketplace. Our philosophy is to set the employees’ total 
remuneration package at a competitive level by benchmarking to 
the market and providing incentives geared to agreed performance 
outcomes. The Company believes the long-term success of the 
Company is directly linked to the calibre of employees that are 
employed and the working environment that is created. We 
endeavour to create a working environment that motivates high 
performance so that all employees can positively contribute to the 
strategy, vision, goals and values of the Company.

Key Remuneration Principles

The Company’s Remuneration Policy is based on the  
following principles:

  The Remuneration Policy is aligned to the overall business 
strategy, objectives and values of the Company.

  Remuneration policies, procedures and practices are consistent 
with, and supportive of, effective risk management.

  Employees are rewarded on a total rewards basis, which includes 
fixed, variable, short and long-term rewards.

  Total remuneration (base salary, pension, benefits and incentives) 
is targeted in normal market conditions to the relevant competitive 
market at upper quartile levels for superior performance.

  Incentives aimed at encouraging retention are clearly 
distinguished from those relating to rewarding performance.

  The option to pay a low or ‘no performance’ bonus should the 
performance of the group or individual warrant this.

  Performance bonuses may be capped at a maximum percentage 
of the total guaranteed package.

 Adherence to principles of good corporate governance.

Key Performance Measures

ManCo’s performance will be measured by the following drivers:

 Return on Equity (ROE); 
 Increase in Earnings Before Interest, Taxation, Depreciation and  

 Amortisation (EBITDA); 
 Increase in PE Multiple; 
 Net asset value (NAV); 
 Increase in PE Multiple; and 
 Capital Raised vs. Capital Deployed as a percentage.

Remuneration Policy Areas

Executives and Key Management

  The remuneration and nomination committee, while considering 
the remuneration package of executives and key management, will 
ensure a balance between fixed and incentive pay, reflecting the short 
and long-term performance objectives of the Company and its goals.

  The remuneration and nomination committee considers that a 
successful remuneration policy must ensure that a significant 
part of the remuneration package is linked to the achievement 
of corporate performance targets and a strong alignment of 
interest with stakeholders.

  Remuneration packages are designed to attract high-calibre 
executives and key management in a competitive global market 
and remunerate executives and key management fairly and 
responsibly. The remuneration shall be competitive and based 
on the individual responsibilities and performance.

  Executive remuneration is proposed by the remuneration and 
nomination committee and subsequently approved by the 
Board. Executive remuneration is evaluated annually against 
performance. In determining packages of remuneration, the 
remuneration and nomination committee may consult with the 
CEO as appropriate.

Total remuneration shall be comprised as follows:

  A fixed base salary, set at a level aimed at attracting 
and retaining executives with professional and personal 
competencies required to drive the Company’s performance.

  Short-term incentives, based on the achievement of a number of 
individual, pre-defined financial and strategic business targets 
recommended by the remuneration and nomination committee 
and approved by the Board. 

  Long-term incentives in the form of stock options, promoting a 
balance between short-term achievements and long-term thinking. 

  Pension contributions, made in accordance with applicable laws 
and employment agreements.

  Severance payments in accordance with termination clauses in 
employment agreements. Severance payments shall comply 
with a local legal framework.
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Operational Staff

Operational staff includes the staff of RH Bophelo as well as 
employees within the portfolio companies where RH Bophelo holds 
a majority interest. The Board will strive to ensure that the portfolio 
companies implement a remuneration policy for their employees 
that includes, but is not limited to, the following criteria:

  Remuneration packages are designed to attract high-calibre 
employees in a competitive global market and remunerate 
employees fairly and responsibly. Salaries, remuneration and 
benefits shall be equitable and based on justifiable criteria 
related to market forces, operational needs and performance-
related criteria.

  Principles to be taken into account for the determination of 
positioning within pay bands:

  The performance of the group, the division and the  
individual employee.

  The employees’/team’s ability and willingness to support the 
culture and live the values of the Company. 

  The employee’s commitment to focus on empowerment  
and development.

  The scope of responsibility and level of accountability, as well as 
the individual’s contribution to performance.

  Appropriate industry benchmarks (external) and/or comparable 
internal benchmarks.

  Making provision for a pay-for-performance system whereby 
employees are remunerated on the basis of predefined 
quantitative and qualitative measures.

Deductions/Contributions

The employee agrees that certain deductions will be made from the 
monthly salary in respect of the following:

 Unemployment Insurance Fund (UIF). 
 Pay-as-you-earn (PAYE) tax. 
 Pension/Provident Fund (structured within the employees’ total  

 cost to company). 
 Medical Aid (structured within the employees’ total cost  

 to company).

 

  Money advanced to a staff member in the form of a loan/
advance, will also be deducted from the monthly salary as 
agreed between the staff member and the Company from time 
to time and the full and final amount (if still outstanding) paid at 
termination of the employment contract.

  The Company shall be authorised to make any deductions 
prescribed by any Act, as ordered by a Court of Law.

Payday

  Salaries are paid monthly on the 25th day of each month, or the 
nearest working day before the 25th. The Company however 
reserves the right to delay payment of salaries due to the last 
working day of the month should it be required to do so due to 
unforeseen circumstances.

 Salaries are paid directly into the employee’s bank account.
  It is the responsibility of the employee to advise the relevant 

Manager/HR department promptly of any changes to  
banking details. 

Salaries Review

  Salaries are reviewed annually. Salary increases may be awarded 
in terms thereof.

  Any increases granted are subject to the individual’s performance 
as well as dependent on the Company’s performance. This 
process is informed by the employee’s performance appraisal 
results as managed by the Company.

Disclosure of Information

Information on the total remuneration of members of the 
Company’s Board, Executives and Senior Management may be 
disclosed in the Company’s annual financial statements. This 
includes any deferred payments and extraordinary contracts during 
the preceding financial year.

The employee undertakes to promptly bring to the Company’s 
attention any judgments, sequestration order or administration 
orders issued against him/her. Failure of the duty to disclose, is 
considered by the Company as a material offence, and may lead to 
disciplinary measures against the employee.

RH BOPHELO  INTEGRATED ANNUAL REPORT 2019   CULTIVATING THE FUTURE OF HEALTHCARE 47



The King IV Report on Corporate Governance for South Africa 2016 (King IV) advocates an outcomes-based approach and defines 
corporate governance as the exercise of ethical and effective leadership towards the achievement of the following governance outcomes: 

 Ethical culture   
 Good performance  
 Effective control  
 Legitimacy

The application of King IV is on an “apply and explain” basis and the practices underpinning the principles espoused in King IV are entrenched in 
the Company’s internal controls, policies and procedures.

The practices implemented as well as the progress made towards achieving the 17 principles in meeting those outcomes are listed below:

GOVERNANCE OUTCOME ONE: ETHICAL CULTURE 

Principle Application and explanation

1.  The governing body 
should lead ethically 
and effectively.

Board charter

RH Bophelo’s Board is its governing body. 

A formal Board charter was adopted by the Board and is complementary to the provisions of the Companies Act No. 71 of 
2008 (Companies Act), the Memorandum of Incorporation (MOI) of RH Bophelo, King IV, the JSE Listings Requirements and 
the provisions governing the relationship between the Board and its sub-committees as contained in the charters of the sub-
committees, which have been adopted by the Board. 

The charter sets out the ethical foundation on how the Company operates as well as the Board’s composition, delegation, 
duties, roles and responsibilities, meetings procedures and other related matters for the Company. 

The Company’s business code of conduct and ethics policy expresses the commitment of the Board, senior management and 
employees of RH Bophelo to the values, principles and standards the Company adheres to.

The Board meets to consider the business and strategy of the Company. The Board reviews reports from the sub-committees 
and independent advisors. 

During the Financial Year end, 28 February 2019, five Board meetings were held. Agendas for Board meetings are prepared by 
the Company Secretary in consultation with the Chairman, the CFO and the CEO.

2.  The governing 
body should govern 
the ethics of the 
organisation in a 
way that supports 
the establishment of 
an ethical culture.

Ethical performance

The Board has a fiduciary duty to act in good faith, with due care and diligence and in the best interests of the Company and 
its stakeholders. It is the primary body responsible for the corporate governance values of the Company. 

While control for the day-to-day management of the Company is delegated to management, the Board retains full and 
effective control over the Group. The Board exercises ongoing oversight of the management of ethics through its  
various committees. 

Social responsibility and ethics in the Company is led by the social and ethics committee, which is the social conscience of 
the Group. 

RH Bophelo has adopted the following policies towards the application of the Company’s ethical standards: 

Code of conduct and ethics policy 

The policy provides a framework of the standards of business conduct and ethics that is required of the Board, management 
and employees in order to promote and enforce ethical business practices within the Company.

Anti-corruption and bribery policy

The Company’s policy is to conduct all its business in an honest and ethical manner. The Board prohibits corruption in 
any form, whether direct or indirect, and applies a zero-tolerance approach to acts of bribery and corruption by any of its 
members, employees, business partners, suppliers and service providers.

Whistleblowing policy

The Company has a culture of ethical conduct and openness and encourages honest whistleblowing. Employees, suppliers 
and stakeholders are advised to report malpractice without fear of penalty or punishment. The policy provides the Company 
and the whistle blower with all the rights and duties as defined in the Protected Disclosure Act.

The monitoring of adherence to the Company’s ethical standards is undertaken by the Company’s social and ethics 
committee on a biennial basis.

The Board is not aware of any transgressions of its ethics policies during the financial year.

3.4 King Code and Corporate Governance 
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GOVERNANCE OUTCOME TWO: PERFORMANCE AND VALUE CREATION

Principle Application and explanation

3.  The governing body 
should ensure that 
the organisation 
is and is seen to 
be a responsible 
corporate citizen.

Responsible corporate citizen

The Board is responsible for monitoring the overall responsible corporate citizenship performance of RH Bophelo. The Board, 
through its social and ethics committee, oversees and monitors on an ongoing basis how the consequences of the Company’s 
activities and outputs affect its status as a responsible corporate citizen. 

The oversight and monitoring are performed against measures detailed in the Company’s Stakeholder Engagement Plan as 
detailed on page 63.

4.  The governing 
body should 
appreciate that the 
organisation’s core 
purpose – its risks 
and opportunities, 
strategy, business 
model, performance 
and sustainable 
development are 
all inseparable 
elements of the 
value creation 
process.

Functions of the Board

The Board’s predominant responsibility is to ensure that RH Bophelo creates value for its shareholders. In so doing, the Board 
considers the legitimate interests and expectations of its stakeholders. 

The Board assumes responsibility for the Company’s performance by steering and setting the direction for the realisation of 
the Company’s core purpose and values through its investment policy strategy. A strategy workshop was undertaken by the 
Board during October 2018.

The audit and risk committee assists the Board with the governance of risk. The committee monitors the Company’s risks and 
ensures the implementation of various mitigating controls. This responsibility is contained in the Board and the audit and risk 
committee charters. 

A risk strategy workshop was held during September 2018, whereby an in-depth review of the Group’s risks were analysed. 
Thereafter, the Company engaged an independent company to assist with the development of a risk matrix. 

This integrated report demonstrates how performance is achieved through various strategic initiatives.

The risk matrix is tabled at each audit and risk committee meeting. Refer to pages 59 to 61 for RH Bophelo’s risk matrix.

Role of the Directors

Members of the Board assume collective responsibility for: 

 steering and setting the direction of the Company;  
 approving policy and planning; 
 overseeing and monitoring of implementation and execution by management; and 
 ensuring accountability for the Company’s performance.

Quarterly Board meetings are arranged every year and additional meetings are called should the circumstances require it. 
During the 2019 financial year, five Board meetings were held.

The remuneration and nominations committee reviews the effectiveness of the Board, its committees and  
individual Directors.
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GOVERNANCE OUTCOME THREE: ADEQUATE AND EFFECTIVE CONTROL

Principle Application and explanation

5.  The governing body 
should ensure that 
reports issued by 
the organisation 
enable stakeholders 
to make informed 
assessments of 
the organisation’s 
performance, and its 
short, medium and 
long-term prospects.

Reporting

The Company is committed to good corporate governance in ensuring that all material information is timely and accurately 
communicated to its stakeholders, in line with regulatory requirements.

The Board, through the audit and risk committee, ensures that the necessary controls are in place to verify and safeguard the 
integrity of the Company’s annual reports and any other disclosures. The audit and risk committee oversees and reviews the 
annual financial statements, which are audited by the external auditors. 

In its interim and annual report to stakeholders, RH Bophelo details both its historical and future performance outlook.  
This, together with supplementary information in the integrated report, enable stakeholders to make informed assessments  
of RH Bophelo prospects. 

Refer to pages 18 to 29 for RH Bophelo’s performance. 

6.  The governing 
body should serve 
as the focal point 
and custodian 
of corporate 
governance in the 
organisation.

Responsibilities of the Board

The Board is the focal point and custodian of corporate governance of RH Bophelo. Although certain responsibilities are 
delegated to committees or management, the Board acknowledges that it is not discharged from its obligations regarding 
these matters.

The Board has an approved protocol to be followed in the event that it, or any of its members or committees, needs to obtain 
independent, external professional advice at the cost of the Company on matters within the scope of its duties. 

The Board’s role and responsibilities, and the way that it executes its duties and decision-making, are documented and set out 
in the Board charter. 

The Board has developed appropriate governance policies and frameworks to ensure that the Company adheres to the 
required governance standards.

Prior to each Board meeting, an information pack, which provides background information on the performance of the 
Company and any other matters for discussion at the meeting, is distributed to each Board member. At meetings, the Board 
considers both financial and non-financial information that might have an impact on stakeholders.

Details of the Board meetings held during the year ended 28 February 2019, as well as the attendance at the Board  
sub-committee meetings by individual Directors, are disclosed on pages 38 to 39.
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GOVERNANCE OUTCOME THREE: ADEQUATE AND EFFECTIVE CONTROL Continued

Principle Application and explanation

7.  The governing body 
should comprise the 
appropriate balance 
of knowledge, skills, 
experience, diversity 
and independence 
for it to discharge 
its governance role 
and responsibilities 
objectively and 
effectively.

Composition of the Board

RH Bophelo has a unitary Board with nine Directors, the majority of whom are Non-executive Directors. The Board comprises 
three executive Directors, three independent Non-executive Directors and three Non-independent, Non-executive Directors. 

Effective the 1st of August 2018, Mr Peter Mehlape, who served as the Chief Operating Officer (COO) since the Company’s 
inception, transitioned to the position of Non-executive Director. With the exception of the reclassification of Peter’s role 
on the Board, there were no further changes to the composition of the Board. Peter Mehlape has noted his resignation as a 
non-executive director of the Board of RH Bophelo in order for him to pursue other opportunities. Peter’s resignation will be 
effective as at the date of the Company’s AGM.

The JSE Listings Requirements prescribes that the Chairperson must either be an independent Non-executive Director, failing 
which the Company must appoint a Lead Independent Director. The Board is chaired by John Oliphant and Dr Solly Motuba 
has been appointed as a lead independent Director. 

The roles of chairperson and CEO are separate, and the composition of the Board ensures a balance of authority, precluding 
any one Director from exercising unfettered powers of decision-making.

The Board of RH Bopehlo comprises the appropriate balance of knowledge, skills, experience, diversity and independence, 
facilitating independent judgement and broad deliberations in the decision-making process. 

All Directors, including the independent Directors, have a comprehensive understanding of the healthcare industry as well as 
the business of the Group.

The Board has established arrangements for periodic, staggered rotation of its members so as to invigorate its capabilities 
by introducing members with new expertise and perspectives while retaining valuable knowledge, skills and experience and 
maintaining continuity. The Board has an immediate and interim succession plan in the event of an unforeseen event.

No Director has an automatic right to a position on the Board. All Directors are required to be elected by shareholders at 
an annual general meeting. In a general meeting, the shareholders may appoint any person to be a Director, subject to the 
provisions of the memorandum of incorporation.

Board and Directors’ performance evaluation 

New Directors are subject to a ‘fit and proper’ test. 

The performance evaluation of the Board, its committees and individual Directors will be conducted every second year as 
recommended by King IV. During 2018, a formal review of the effectiveness of the Board, its sub-committees and individual 
directors were undertaken. Each director completed an evaluation questionnaire and an analysis of the findings were 
presented. There was agreement that the board was operating effectively.

Ongoing training and development 

At the Company’s first Board meeting held during August 2017, Directors underwent an induction provided by the Company’s 
auditors, Deloitte & Touche, on the JSE Listings Requirements and King IV.

All new Directors are provided with an induction pack containing information on the Company’s constitution documents, 
policies and charters. 

For details of Directors’ full names, their dates of appointment and a brief career synopsis, refer to pages 32 to 37.

Gender and race diversity at Board level

The Board is committed to actively managing diversity as a means of enhancing the Company’s performance. The Board has 
adopted a policy on the promotion of gender and race diversity at Board level. The process to identify suitable candidates for 
appointment to the Board involves taking into consideration diversity and inclusion. 

The current board structure comprises of 100% Black directors of which 40% thereof are female. The remuneration and 
nominations committee will meet in the next financial year to review the board composition and set targets on race and 
gender representation. The policy will be reviewed on an annual basis to ensure that it continues to facilitate the principles of 
gender diversity at Board level.

The Board is satisfied that there is a balance of skills, experience, diversity and knowledge needed to discharge its role  
and responsibilities.
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GOVERNANCE OUTCOME THREE: ADEQUATE AND EFFECTIVE CONTROL Continued

Principle Application and explanation

8.  The governing body 
should ensure that 
its arrangements 
for delegation 
within its own 
structures promote 
independent 
judgement and 
assist with balance 
of power and the 
effective discharge 
of its duties.

Independence of Directors

Non-executive Directors of the Board are categorised as independent if it has been concluded that there is no interest, 
position, association or relationship which, when judged from the perspective of a reasonable and informed third party, is 
likely to influence unduly or cause bias in decision making in the best interests of the Company.

The Board of Directors’ independence from the executive management team is ensured by the following:

 Separation of the roles of Chairman and Managing Director.
 The appointment of a Lead Independent Director.
 The Board being dominated by Non-executive Directors.
  The audit and risk committee, nomination and remuneration committee and social and ethics committee having a 

majority of Independent Directors.
 Non-executive Directors not holding service contracts.
 All Directors having access to the advice of the Company Secretary.
  With prior arrangement from the Chairman, all Directors are entitled to seek independent professional advice concerning 

the affairs of the Company at the Company’s expense.

The independence of the Non-executive Directors was assessed - three are considered to be independent in terms of the 
requirements of King IV. Independence evaluations will be performed annually. 

Board committees

The Board has established four sub-committees to assist the Directors in fulfilling their duties and responsibilities.  
The committees are as follows: 

 audit and risk committee
 investment committee 
 remuneration and nomination committee
 social and ethics committee

Each committee has a formal charter and reports to the Board at regular intervals. The charters, which set out the objectives, 
authority, composition and responsibilities of each committee, have been approved by the Board. All the committees are free 
to obtain independent professional advice, as and when required, at the expense of the Company.

Membership of the committees are as recommended in King IV. Non-executive Directors chair the various sub-committees  
of the Board. 

All sub-committees are appropriately constituted, and members are appointed by the Board, with the exception of the audit 
and risk committee whose members are nominated by the Board and elected by shareholders of the Company. 

The remuneration and nomination committee reviews the composition of Board committees and makes recommendations  
to the Board with regard to their composition, considering factors such as diversity and skills and the need to create a balance  
of power.

Refer to pages 40 to 42 for the members of each committee and their reports.

Independence of external auditor

The audit and risk committee is satisfied that the external auditor, Deloitte & Touche, is independent as defined by the 
Companies Act, and as per the standards stipulated by the auditing firm.

The CFO is the head of the finance function and he has a senior manager reporting to him. The CFO is responsible for 
overseeing and co-ordinating the effective functioning of the outsourcing arrangement. An assessment of the effectiveness of 
the CFO function is performed annually by the audit and risk committee.

The external auditors report directly to the audit and risk committee. The committee considered the nature, risks and internal 
control environment at the head office and concluded that it was not necessary to have a dedicated internal audit function. 
Specific internal audit assignments are considered on a periodic basis and outsourced.

Directors’ interests

Subject to legal provisions, each member of the Board submits a declaration of all financial, economic and other interests 
held by the Director and related parties to the Board at least annually, or whenever there are significant changes.

At the beginning of each meeting of the Board or its committees, all Directors are required to declare whether any of them 
has any conflict of interest in respect of a matter on the agenda. Any such conflicts are proactively managed as determined 
by the Board and subject to legal provisions. 

Directors recuse themselves from any discussion and decision on matters in which they have a material financial interest. 

Directors’ interests in the shares of the Company are disclosed on page 94.

Dealing in securities by the Directors

Dealing in the Company’s securities by Directors and Company officials is regulated and monitored as required by the 
JSE Listings Requirements. In addition, RH Bophelo maintains a closed period from the end of a financial period to 
the date of publication of the financial results and during any period when the Company’s shares are trading under a 
cautionary announcement.
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GOVERNANCE OUTCOME THREE: ADEQUATE AND EFFECTIVE CONTROL Continued

Principle Application and explanation

9.  The governing body 
should ensure that 
the evaluation of its 
own performance 
and that of its 
committees, 
its chair and 
individual members, 
supports continued 
improvement in its 
performance and 
effectiveness

The Board and sub-committee charters include the onus of annual assessments. The Directors believe the Board and the  
sub-committees have discharged all their responsibilities in terms of their respective charters.

In 2018, the Chairman with the assistance of the Company Secretary, led a formal review of the effectiveness of the Board 
and its committees and no major issues or concerns were identified. 

10.  The governing body 
should ensure that 
the appointment 
of, and delegation 
to, management 
contribute to 
role clarity and 
effective exercise 
of authority and 
responsibilities.

Delegation of Authority (DoA)

In line with the Board charter, the Board’s responsibilities include the appointment of the CEO and the implementation of the 
Company’s strategy, risk management and corporate governance. The Board reviews and approves the business plans and 
monitors the financial performance of the Company and the implementation of the strategies. 

The Board approved a Delegation of Authority policy that details the powers and matters reserved for itself and those to be 
delegated to management. 

The Board ensures that key management functions are led by suitably competent individuals. The Board is satisfied that 
RH Bophelo is appropriately resourced and its delegation to management contributes to an effective arrangement by which 
authorities and responsibilities are exercised.

Company Secretary

Corporate Vision Consulting Proprietary Limited, represented by Ragni Naicker, acts as Company Secretary to RH Bophelo, 
duly appointed by the Board in accordance with the Companies Act. All Directors have unlimited access to her services, and 
she is responsible to the Board for ensuring that proper corporate governance principles are adhered to.

In compliance with the JSE Listings Requirements, the Board has considered and is satisfied that the individuals who perform 
the Company Secretary role are suitably qualified and experienced to competently carry out the duties and responsibilities of 
Company Secretary and that there is an arm’s-length relationship between itself and the Company Secretary. In addition, the 
Board confirms that Ragni has not served as a Director on the Board, nor does she take part in Board deliberations, but only 
advises on matters of governance, form or procedure. 

11.  The governing 
body should 
govern risk in a 
way that supports 
the organisation 
in setting and 
achieving 
its strategic 
objectives.

Governance of risk

The audit and risk committee assists the Board with the governance of risk. The Board is aware of the importance of risk 
management as it is linked to the strategy, performance and sustainability of the business.

The audit and risk committee implemented a process whereby inherent risks of the Company are identified and managed 
within acceptable parameters. The audit and risk committee delegates to management to continuously identify, assess, 
mitigate and manage risks within the Company’s operating environment. Mitigating controls are formulated to address the 
risks and the Board is kept up to date on progress on the risk management plan.

Refer to pages 59 to 61 for an overview of RH Bophelo’s risks. 

12.  The governing 
body should govern 
technology and 
information in a 
way that supports 
the organisation 
setting and 
achieving 
its strategic 
objectives.

The Board, together with the audit and risk committee, oversees the governance of IT. The Board is aware of the importance 
of technology and information in relation to RH Bophelo’s strategy.
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GOVERNANCE OUTCOME THREE: ADEQUATE AND EFFECTIVE CONTROL Continued

Principle Application and explanation

13.  The governing 
body should govern 
compliance with 
applicable laws 
and adopted, non-
binding rules, codes 
and standards in a 
way that supports 
the organisation 
being ethical and 
a good corporate 
citizen.

The Board, with the assistance of the audit and risk committee and the Company Secretary, ensures that the Company 
complies with applicable laws and legislation.

There were no regulatory penalties, sanctions or fines for contravention of, or non-compliance with, statutory obligations.

14.  The governing body 
should ensure that 
the organisation 
remunerates fairly, 
responsibly and 
transparently so 
as to promote the 
achievement of 
strategic objectives 
and positive 
outcomes in short-, 
medium- and long-
term.

The Board, assisted by the remuneration and nomination committee, ensures that Directors are remunerated fairly, 
responsibly, transparently and in line with industry standards so as to promote the creation of value in a sustainable manner. 
This responsibility is contained in the remuneration and nomination committee’s charter and the Company’s  
remuneration policy.

The remuneration and nomination committee had resolved to forfeit an increase on Non-executive Directors fees for the 
current year. A benchmark study will be undertaken and an industry related fee will be agreed upon for the next financial year.

The remuneration and nominations committee approved a revised remuneration policy during February 2019. The policy was 
amended to define the key performance measures that the ManCo will be measured upon. The executive team were then 
tasked to provide a guideline to RH Bophelo’s investors on the methodology used to select the different metrics. The meeting 
with investors will be undertaken in the next financial year. Based on the feedback from this interaction, the remuneration 
policy will be amended to include the defined measurement criteria that RH Bophelo will utilise in measuring the Manco’s 
performance. A remuneration implementation report is therefore not included in this integrated report.

RH Bophelo’s remuneration report is reflected on pages 45 to 47 and individual Directors’ remuneration is disclosed on page 
94 of the financial statements.

15.  The governing 
body should ensure 
that assurance 
services and 
functions enable 
an effectively 
controlled 
environment, and 
that these support 
the integrity of 
information for 
internal decision-
making and of 
the organisation’s 
external reports.

The Board, assisted by the audit and risk committee, ensures that the combined assurance from the external auditors 
appropriately address the identified company risks.

The Board is satisfied that the assurance results indicate an adequate and effectively controlled environment and integrity of 
reports for better decision-making. This responsibility is contained in the Board charter and the audit and risk committee

charter.

Refer to pages 74 to 75 for information on assurance contained in the audit and risk committee report.
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GOVERNANCE OUTCOME FOUR: TRUST, GOOD REPUTATION AND LEGITIMACY

Principle Application and explanation

16.  In the execution 
of its governance 
roles and 
responsibilities, 
the governing 
body should adopt 
a stakeholder-
inclusive approach 
that balances the 
needs, interests 
and expectations 
of material 
stakeholders in the 
best interests of 
the organisation 
over time.

The Board believes that corporate social responsibility policies are intended to promote a culture of social responsibility 
within the Company, which will help improve the wellbeing of people, promote the economic and social development of the 
communities in which it has a presence, and create sustainable value for shareholders and investors, employees, investee 
companies, suppliers and other stakeholders of the Company. 

The Board has adopted a stakeholder relations policy to foster a framework of relations based on the principles of 
transparency, active listening, and equal treatment that favours the inclusion of stakeholders in the business and activities of 
the Company. The policy is based on information-gathering, surveying, engagement, and collaboration with the stakeholders. 

The social and ethics committee is ultimately responsible for supervising and coordinating the development of the strategy 
for relations between the Company and its stakeholders through the Company’s stakeholder engagement plan. Various 
stakeholder groups have been identified and the Board will balance its legitimate and reasonable needs, interests and 
expectations.

Refer to page 63 to 67 for information on RH Bophelo’s stakeholder relationship and engagements.

17.  The governing body 
of an institutional 
investor 
organisation 
should ensure 
that responsible 
investment is 
practiced by the 
organisation to 
promote the good 
governance and the 
creation of value by 
the companies in 
which it invests

The Board, through RH Bophelo’s investment policy, ensures that responsible investment is practiced by RH Bophelo to 
promote good governance and the creation of value by the companies in which the RH Bophelo invests.
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RISKS AND OPPORTUNITIES 

Risk management is integrated into the Company’s strategy and 
considered an intrinsic part of doing business. We acknowledge that 
the success of our Company depends on its ability to manage and 
respond to risks efficiently. The audit and risk committee has been 
mandated by the Board to monitor the Company’s risks. 

Risk management is an ongoing process in every organisation and 
everyone is a custodian for risk management in their department. 
A risk strategy workshop was held during September 2018, 
whereby an in-depth review of the Group’s risks were analysed. 
The purpose of the workshop was to identify and address the 
current and potential risks of the Company. This was linked to the 
operations of the Company and its underlying investments, the 
strategic direction that the Company is taking and any other risks 
that affect the industry that the Company operates in. Different 
stakeholders attended this risk workshop and presented their 
professional opinions on the risks in the market and their potential 
impact on the Company. The workshop was hosted by the audit 
and risk committee. The sponsors present included the lawyers/
legal counsel of the Company, the independent auditors and 
representatives from the companies that the business is insured 
with and by invitation, the internal audit practitioners. Some of 
the Company’s employees, hospital managers and operators 
also attended. Thereafter, the Company engaged an independent 
company to assist with the development of a risk matrix. 

Our risk management process 

The risk matrix is part of the risk management process. It involves 
identifying risks, gathering background data, calculating their 
likelihood and severity, and outlining risk prevention and management 
strategies. The risk assessment matrix details the severity of an event 
occurring and the probability of it occurring. By visualising existing 
and potential risks, the Company can assess its impact and identify 
which ones are of highest priority. The Company will then create a 
plan for responding to the risks that need the most attention.

 

 
 
The Company contracted the services of SkX Protiviti Proprietary 
Limited, a reputable internal audit firm, to assist in carrying out 
the process of developing a risk register. The project was divided 
into phases. Only phase one has been executed to date, which is 
the risk identification phase. SkX Protiviti was provided with the 
materials of all the parties that presented at the risk workshop. 
SkX Protiviti went through the presented material to identify 
the risks that were specific to the Company and benchmarked 
these against industry practices. Management identified key 
business processes from a strategic and operations level. SkX 
Protiviti then had discussions with the process owners for each 
process in order to obtain a more detailed understanding of each 
process, to unearth more risks and also identify if there were any 
compensating controls. 

Risk register document compilation:

  The principle risks were identified and described within the 
different divisions. 

  The likelihood or frequency of the risk was assessed, within a 
range of 1 to 5 with 1 being the lowest and 5 the highest, and 
the impact it has on the business from normal to severe ranging 
from 1 to 5. Based on this, the inherent risk would  
be determined. 

  There was also an assessment of whether there was a 
compensating control for the risk identified, as this would then 
determine the level of residual risk, if any. 

  The document was then provided to management for updating 
and commentary.

 The draft risk register was then formulated from this process.

3.5 Risk Management
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Strategic Risk Profile

No. Principle Risk Risk Description Division Existing Controls Monitoring Body

1 Reputational Unethical stakeholders Support 
Services

Only deal with ethical stakeholders that are directly linked to 
the company. The Company undertakes a due diligence on the 
stakeholders reputation.

Social and ethics 
committee

2 Reputational Lack of involvement of 
community members during 
construction of hospitals.

Operations "Development of a stakeholder engagement strategy plan. 
Monitoring of stakeholder engagement by the audit and risk 
committee. 
Regular engagement and active management of all 
stakeholders."

Social and ethics 
committee

3 Concentration High concentration on 
one project for investment 
purposes.

Investments Company diversifies its revenue through separate and 
independent hospital investments.

Investment 
committee

4 Due diligence Incorrect investment made 
as a result of inaccurate due 
diligence conducted.

Investments IC and Board Investment 
committee

5 Capital raising Inability to raise additional 
capital

Investments Ensure adequate funding available for capital requirements. 
Company has thus far been successful in capital raising.

Investment 
committee

6 Return on 
investment

Hospital investments not 
meeting targeted returns

Investments Project due diligence and investment committee approvals Investment 
committee

7 Compliance Non-compliance with 
JSE requirements, Non-
compliance with King IV, 
Non-compliance with NHI 
(Emerging Risk), Non-
compliance with Companies 
Act, Non-compliance with 
Health Act

Office of the 
CEO

"The Company engages both in house and external legal 
advisors. 
Training is provided where relevant new legislation is 
introduced. 
Management and the auditors monitor compliance with the 
legal requirements. 
The Company's employees regularly attend conferences 
and training specific to their area of responsibility within the 
company which would assist in the identification of the new 
and relevant legislation. "

Audit and risk 
committee

OPERATIONAL RISK PROFILE

Operational Risks

8 Compliance Timeous renewal of hospital 
licenses

Hospitals Audit and risk 
committee

9 Compliance Procurement in line with BEE 
codes of practice

Support 
Services

A social and ethics committee has been established to monitor 
compliance.

Social and ethics 
committee

10 Compliance Non-compliance to 
Environmental, Social and 
Governance (ESD) risk 

Office of the 
CEO

"Continuous ESG reporting throughout the investment. 
The company to undertake quarterly reporting on ESG 
compliance.  
A corrective action plan to be drawn up and timelines to be 
provided to meet compliance."

Audit and risk 
committee

11 Performance Non-performance of 
contractors providing 
medical supplies and 
equipment

Support 
Services

Regular review of performance and timeous response to 
matters that need addressing.

Social and ethics 
committee

RISK REGISTER
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OPERATIONAL RISK PROFILE CONTINUED

Financial and Reporting Risks

No. Principle Risk Risk Description Division Existing Controls Monitoring Body

12 Financial Unauthorised expenditure Finance Segregation of duties and internal controls are in place. A DoA 
to be developed.

Audit and risk 
committee

13 Insurance Insurance cover not 
optimised

Finance "Assets and staff are covered by the company. 
Professional Indemnity reviewed and in place. 
Insurance placed through brokers with sufficient financial 
backing to sustain cover period."

Audit and risk 
committee

14 Fraud Hospital theft Hospitals There are access controls at the gate. Audit and risk 
committee

15 Financial 
reporting

Incomplete and inaccurate 
reporting of revenue

Finance Monthly reporting of the hospital performance is submitted to 
the CFO and chairman of the board for monitoring.

Audit and risk 
committee

Legal Risks

16 Litigation Possible exposure to 
litigation

Office of the 
CEO

Operate in an open and honest manner Audit and risk 
committee

17 Contractual Entering into contracts that 
have onerous terms

Support 
Services

Contracts are prepared by a professional institution. Audit and risk 
committee

18 Insurance Hospital doctors not having 
indemnity cover

Hospitals Doctors are supposed to have medical indemnity insurance. Audit and risk 
committee

Health and Safety

19 Inventory Obsolete pharmaceutical 
inventory

Hospitals Regular stock counts are performed to reconcile any 
differences noted.

Audit and risk 
committee

20 Policy and 
procedure

Inadequate standard 
operating procedures for fire 
evacuation

Hospitals A valid fire certificate is kept for all hospitals. There are also 
evacuation procedures documented in case of a fire.

Audit and risk 
committee

21 Prescription Incorrect prescription of 
medication given to patients

Primary 
Healthcare

The nurses and pharmacy stuff are adequately trained at 
dispensing medication.

Audit and risk 
committee

Human Resource Risk

22 Skills Shortage of specialist skills Hospitals The remuneration of key staff is aligned with the interest of 
shareholders.

Remuneration 
Committee

23 Succession 
planning

No succession planning for 
key staff

Support 
Services

Succession planning for senior management Audit and risk 
committee

24 Labour 
relations

Industrial action (strikes) 
could impair the delivery of 
healthcare

Hospitals There are continuous discussions held with the staff to address 
any concerns.

Social and ethics 
committee
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OPERATIONAL RISK PROFILE CONTINUED

Human Resource Risk Continued

No. Principle Risk Risk Description Division Existing Controls Monitoring Body

25 Training Staff not up to date with 
changes in the medical 
industry

Support 
Services

Staff undergoes continuous development (CPD) training. Audit and risk 
committee

26 Recruitment Unqualified employees hired 
for key positions in hospitals

Hospitals All employees are hired based on their academic qualifications 
and the necessary skills or experience for their position..

Audit and risk 
committee

27 Contractual Employment contracts not 
in place

Support 
Services

Audit and risk 
committee

Socio - Economic Risk

28 Market Negative economic growth 
resulting in declining 
revenue.

Investments Keeping abreast of any changes in the market, especially the 
healthcare industry. Market studies are performed in any area 
where the acquisition will be made.

Investment 
committee

29 Affordability Inability to manage 
escalating healthcare 
costs directly affecting the 
affordability of medical 
care to the middle to lower 
income patients.

Primary 
Healthcare

Procurement of any supplies is based on quality and price 
competitiveness.

Social and ethics 
committee

Technology Risk

30 Disaster 
recovery

Failure to be adequately 
prepared for a disaster

Support 
Services

"Regular backup are performed. 
Modern IT infrastructure and processes in place to ensure 
accuracy. 
 
A BC Plan will be established and documented."

Board

31 Cybercrime Exposure to harm or loss 
resulting from breaches 
or attacks on information 
systems

Support 
Services

"Regular backups are made and maintained offsite. 
There are various firewalls and anti-virus software in place and 
access to the server is limited. 
The IT Security is outsourced but is monitored by 
management."

Audit and risk 
committee

32 Data retention Loss of data Support 
Services

Perform regular backups. Audit and risk 
committee

33 Access 
control

Unauthorised master file 
amendments

Support 
Services

Only senior management can authorise changes to master file 
data and there is a log kept for all the changes.

Audit and risk 
committee
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Stakeholder Review

The Company believes that accountability will be demonstrated in 
the willingness to take ownership of roles, responsibilities, actions 
and outcomes and by honouring the obligations to all stakeholders.

The Board has adopted a Stakeholder Relations policy to foster a 
framework of relations based on the principles of transparency,  

 
 
active listening, and equal treatment. Our policies favour the 
inclusion of stakeholders in the business and activities of the 
Company by means of an effective coordination instrument that 
makes it possible to forge relations based on trust on an ongoing 
basis. The social and ethics committee is responsible for monitoring 
the Company’s compliance in relation to stakeholder engagement.

Development of a responsible business model in 
order to be an innovative, transparent, integrative, 
open and committed Company, capable of creating 
sustainable value for all its stakeholders. 

Maintenance of a strategy of strong involvement in 
the communities within which we operate. 

Allocation of the necessary resources for the 
establishment of channels for dialogue with 
stakeholders, in order to establish balanced 
relationships between corporate values and social 
expectations, taking into account their interests, 
concerns, and needs. 

Having an organisational structure that allows for 
the promotion and coordination of responsible 
actions with stakeholders. 

The Company’s commitment to business ethics and 
corporate social responsibility and, in particular, the 
principles of business honesty and transparency, are 
the foundations on which the Company builds its 
relations with stakeholders.

In decision-making processes that may have 
potential impacts on the local population, the 
Company is aware of and takes into account 
the viewpoints and expectations of affected 
communities through processes of consultation.

The Company disseminates significant and reliable 
information on its performance and activities and 
annually prepares and publishes financial and 
non-financial information on its activities through its 
Integrated Report.

The corporate website of the Company is the 
channel of communication serving the Company’s 
Stakeholder Relations policy. 

The Company’s ultimate goal is to encourage the 
engagement of all of the Company’s stakeholders.

In its relations with stakeholders, the Company accepts and promotes the 
following basic principles:

3.6 Stakeholder Relations
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Stakeholder Engagement 

Management is proactive in responding to the needs, expectations and concerns of stakeholders, recognising that several groups impact on our ability to 
create value over the short, medium and long-term. 

We identify our key stakeholders based on their influence on our business decision-making processes. These stakeholders include shareholders and investors, 
government and regulators, patients, workforce, specialists, suppliers, communities and the media.

The table below briefly outlines the stakeholder groups who have a substantive impact on our ability to create value, outlining how they impact on value and 
identifying some of their primary interests relating to our business activities. 

Shareholders and investors

Our shareholders and investors provide the financial capital needed to sustain and grow.

Nature of engagement Priority interests

Annual and interim results presentation.

Trading updates and statements. 

Updating investors on material developments through 
the JSE Stock Exchange News Service (SENS). 

Company website.

The Integrated Report.

Investor interaction, including road shows, 
conferences, meetings for specific topics. 

Annual General Meeting (AGM).

Strategy to ensure sustained financial performance.

Responsible investments to ensure growth, and to manage the risks and opportunities in  
our industry.

Timeous and adequate information.

Minimising the risk of their investment.

Sound corporate governance practices.

Promotion of ethical corporate governance.

Key initiatives undertaken

We communicate our long-term focus and strategy through our Integrated Report. Refer to page 10 for the Company’s strategy.

The Company’s AGM was held on 30 July 2018.

Integrated Annual Report published on SENS and distributed to shareholders.

Shareholders were invited by the Company to discuss the Company’s remuneration policy.

Material events published on SENS.

Meetings with current and potential shareholders were held to expand and deepen RH Bophelo’s investor base.

Continued and deepening explanations of where RH Bophelo is going with respect to a product lead healthcare company where the assets become a 
conduit to the distribution of products. Refer to our three-year strategic framework on page 11.

Securing well trained and competent staff well versed in governance and other moral and ethical standards with respect to investing and 
investment management.

Continuous risk monitoring through our risk analysis and impact assessments. Refer pages 58 to 61.

Government and regulators

The custodians of legislative and regulatory requirements, and providers of licences. 

Nature of engagement Priority interests

Consultations and periodic meetings with 
regulatory authorities, both through direct contact 
and through industry organisations.

Membership in industry associations.

Affordable healthcare.

Regulatory compliance. 

Key initiatives undertaken

Liaising with government health departments directly and through industry forums.

Participation in government forums.

Meetings held with government healthcare officials around National Health Insurance (NHI).

Engagements with National Hospital Network (NHN), exploring possibilities with respect to setting our own fee tariffs.

Monitoring regulatory compliance within our healthcare facilities.

Through our interactions with society and our stance on affordable healthcare, we have begun to change the debate and become one of the thought 
leaders on the topic of affordability as it relates to healthcare. 

We have also begun to focus on products (health insurance), and other ways to expand the affordable healthcare franchise at price points people can afford.
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Customers

Our customers are the patients that utilise our medical facilities, providing the basis for revenue growth. 

Nature of engagement Priority interests

Investment strategy. 

Patient surveys.

Affordable healthcare.

Quality healthcare.

Key initiatives undertaken

The Company’s investment strategy is to pursue acquisitions of healthcare assets in exceptionally managed commercial entities or special situations 
across the South African market. A tenth of the fund is allocated for the acquisition of social assets.

Our focus on health insurance products and others as a way to expand the affordable healthcare.

Patient surveys undertaken, including analysis and feedback. 

Workforce

Our workforce is our employees based at the health facilities. Their skills and involvement determine our ability to provide quality healthcare services.

Nature of engagement Priority interests

Benchmarking remuneration.

Employee committees and regular meetings.

Employee surveys.

Suggestion boxes.

Training and development committees within the 
Group’s hospitals.

Fair and market related remuneration.

Open channels of communication.

Career development opportunities.

Transformation at all levels.

Key initiatives undertaken

Employees are encouraged to participate and give feedback to stimulate two-way communication. 

Formalised induction to ensure information is relevant, clear and easily retrievable for new employees.

Remuneration is benchmarked against industry companies. 

We support and encourage our staff to improve their skills and capabilities to remain relevant.

We consider employee promotions, where suitable, and encourage internal career growth.

Doctors and specialists

The doctors and specialists that provide services at our healthcare facilities, enabling our facilities to provide quality and cost-effective healthcare 
services.

Nature of engagement Priority interests

Specialist committees and regular meetings.

Continuing Professional Development (CPD) 
programmes held for specialists, utilising the 
Group’s hospital facilities. 

Surveys.

Open channels of communication.

Clinical support.

Consultative forums and hospital-based committees.

Engagement with doctors and specialists on quality, clinical support.

Hospital facilities are utilised to host CPD programmes for doctors and specialists.

Doctors and specialist surveys.
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Suppliers

The companies that provide medicines, equipment, consumables, IT services and professional and outsourced services. Our suppliers impact on 
our ability to provide services in a cost-effective manner.

Nature of engagement Priority interests

Maintain processes for supplier registration and 
meetings with suppliers. 

Contract and service agreement negotiations.

Continuous engagement with our suppliers 
throughout our procurement and vendor 
application process.

Fair negotiations.

Quality and cost effectiveness.

Fair payment terms.

Local representation and opportunities to uplift small enterprises.

We have begun the process of strategising on enforcing efficiencies through the RH Bophelo network of hospitals. We have come to the realisation that 
we require a larger footprint to do so. 

We now also understand that we must force efficiencies in conjunction with RH Managers as they have a larger network of hospitals. 

We have streamlined payment processes to minimise delays.

Communities and the environment

These are communities within which our healthcare facilities operate. They add to the longer-term viability of our business by strengthening the 
socio-economic context in which we operate. 

Nature of engagement Priority interests

Corporate Social Initiatives (CSI). 

Company website.

Direct engagement around community concerns 
facilitated through personal interaction.

Opportunities for job creation and socio-economic development, including transformation.

Business opportunities for entrepreneurs and local business owners.

Climate change, biodiversity, energy efficiency, and water management.

RH Bophelo is committed to being a good corporate citizen and frequently evaluates the impact of its projects and developments on society and 
the environment.

Strong emphasis is placed on supporting local business as well as ensuring local employment through the various service providers.

The inclusion of local groups as shareholders within our investment.

Interactions within the community included meetings with church leaders, municipalities, schools, South African Police Service (SAPS) and old age homes.

Community outreach programmes undertaken by hospitals. 
CSI projects undertaken by RH Bophelo as reflected on page 67.

ESG reporting within hospitals.

Media

The media has a critical role in keeping stakeholders informed of business developments, new products and services and the impact of our 
business operations.

Nature of engagement Priority interests

Press releases. 

Individual and group meetings. 

A mailbox for questions on the corporate website.

Channels of communication on social networks.

Crafting a clear and concise message setting out the direction and strategic imperatives of 
RH Bophelo.

A mailbox that allows the public to engage with the Company.

At least two radio addresses have been given by the CEO, one on 702 FM and the other on Power FM.

Stakeholder Engagement Continued
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CORPORATE SOCIAL INITIATIVES (#RHBCARES)

RH Bophelo participated in a number of CSI projects through the  
RH Foundation NPC. The Company made a donation to the foundation 
and gave it a mandate to spend the money on education and training 
initiatives, corporate social responsibility projects, and supplier 
development. The following projects were funded by the foundation:

Literacy Programme for Prisoners at Leeuwkop Prison

This was to promote a culture of reading and literacy at the prison; 
for inmates, this is part of their rehabilitation process, and it 
facilitates their integration back into the communities, when the 
time comes. The donation that was made by the foundation was 
used to provide catering for that day, to the prisoners attending the 
event and guests. 

Renovation of Thusanang HIV/AIDS Relief Project 
in Soweto

Thusanang HIV/Aids Relief Project is a drop-in centre situated in 
Slovoville, South Roodeport. Over the past 12 years, they have been 
providing the vulnerable and orphaned children from surrounding 
communities with daily meals, basic counseling, homework 
supervision and life skills. Their programmes also include education 
and awareness, child and youth care, entertainment for children, 
social auxiliary workers, and home-based care. The contribution was 
used to renovate the kitchen facility by adding a fresh coat of paint, 
cupboards and a ceiling, and servicing the gas stoves. 

Community Provision and Social Services 
(COMPASS)

The programme assists abused and abandoned babies, children, 
and women. The donations will be used to buy food and clothes for 
women and children in need.

Thuthuzela Aid Community Centre

The Thuthuzela Aid Community Centre (Thuthuzela) is an orphanage 
and day-care centre that provides a place of safety for Alexandra’s 
abandoned, abused and neglected children. The centre has the vision 
to educate, care for and develop the children in the centre and offer 
them the opportunity to enhance their future. The donation will be 
used to fund their operational costs to run the centre. This includes 
paying salaries, electricity, toiletries and medication.

Education and Training

Bursaries were awarded to the employees of RH Managers for 
the different fields of studies in investments, accounting, law and 
medical sciences. Bursaries were also awarded as part of the supplier 
development to suppliers of RH Managers and RH Bophelo for their 
different courses of studies. Two newly graduated diploma students 
studying towards their chartered accountant degrees were provided 
with an internship programme to help them put their skills to use.

Leadership Development at Universities

Bursaries were provided to post-graduate students studying law, 
nuclear energy and radiology at South African universities.

Other Projects

RH Bophelo was involved in a number of youth initiatives, including 
music and recreational youth programmes. The money donated 
was used for food, travel and accommodation costs for the youth 
programmes that are currently running.
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3.7 Special Resolutions Passed

Financial year end 28 February 2019

1.  AUTHORISATION FOR THE COMPANY TO 
GRANT FINANCIAL ASSISTANCE

RESOLVED THAT the granting of the loan in terms of the VPH 
Loan Agreement to VPH Doctors’ Special-Purpose Vehicle (SPV) 
constitutes or gives rise to the granting by the Company of financial 
assistance as contemplated in sections 44 and/or 45 of the 
Companies Act and the provision of such financial assistance be and 
is hereby authorised by way of special resolution in terms of sections 
44(3)(a)(ii) and 45(3)(a)(ii) of the Companies Act respectively.

 

2.  APPROVAL AND ADOPTION OF THE REVISED 
MEMORANDUM OF INCORPORATION (MOI)

RESOLVED THAT, subject to the approval of Ordinary Resolution 
number 4, in terms of section 16(1)(c) of the Companies Act, the 
current MOI be and is hereby substituted in its entirety by the 
revised MOI as signed by the Chairperson of the General Meeting on 
the first page thereof for identification purposes, with effect from the 
date of filing of the required notice of amendment with Companies 
and Intellectual Property Commission (CIPC).

 

3.   REMUNERATION OF NON-EXECUTIVE 
DIRECTORS

RESOLVED THAT, in terms of Section 66(9) of the Companies Act, 
the Company be and is hereby authorised to remunerate its  
Non-executive Directors for their services as Directors on the basis 
set out below. 

Fee per meeting attendance (R)

Board meeting 10 000

Investment committee meetings  
(including Chairperson)

10 000

Audit and risk committee meetings 
(including Chairperson)

10 000

Social and ethics committee meetings 
(including Chairperson)

10 000

Remuneration and nomination committee 
meetings (including Chairperson)

10 000

4.  INTER-COMPANY FINANCIAL ASSISTANCE

RESOLVED THAT, in terms of section 45(3)(a)(ii) of the Companies 
Act, as a general approval, the Board of the Company be and is hereby 
authorised to approve that the Company provides any direct or 
indirect financial assistance (‘financial assistance’ will herein have the 
meaning attributed to it in section 45(1) of the Companies Act) that 
the Board of the Company may deem fit to any person, company or 
corporation that is related or inter-related (‘related’ or ‘inter-related’) 
will herein have the meaning attributed to it in section 2 of the 
Companies Act) to the Company, on the terms and conditions and for 
amounts that the Board of the Company may determine. 

 

5.  FINANCIAL ASSISTANCE FOR THE 
SUBSCRIPTION/OR ACQUISITION OF 
SHARES IN THE COMPANY OR A RELATED  
OR INTER-RELATED COMPANY

RESOLVED THAT, in terms of section 44(3)(a)(ii) of the Companies 
Act, as a general approval, the Board of the Company be and is 
hereby authorised to approve that the Company provides any direct 
or indirect financial assistance (‘financial assistance’ will herein 
have the meaning attributed to it in sections 44(1) and 44(2) of 
the Companies Act) that the Board of the Company may deem fit 
to any company or corporation that is related or inter-related to the 
Company (‘related’ or ‘inter-related’ will herein have the meaning 
attributed to it in section 2 of the Companies Act) and/or to any 
financier who provides funding by subscribing for preference shares 
or other securities in the Company or any company or corporation 
that is related or inter-related to the Company, on the terms and 
conditions and for amounts that the Board of the Company may 
determine for the purpose of, or in connection with the subscription 
of any option, or any shares or other securities, issued or to be 
issued by the Company or a related or inter-related company or 
corporation, or for the purchase of any shares or securities of the 
Company or a related or inter-related company or corporation.
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4.1 GENERAL INFORMATION

Name:  
RH Bophelo Limited

Registration number:  
2016/533398/06

Registered office:  
3rd Floor, 18 Melrose Boulevard, Melrose Arch, 2076

Telephone:  
(+27) (0)10 007 2171

Investment manager:  
RH Bophelo Management Company Proprietary Limited 
The Square, 3rd Floor, 18 Melrose Boulevard, Melrose Arch, 2076

Auditor:  
Deloitte & Touche Registered Auditor - Gauteng  
Buildings 1 and 2, Deloitte Place, The Woodlands  
Woodlands Drive, Woodmead, Sandton, 2052

Sponsor:   
Deloitte & Touche Sponsor Services Proprietary Ltd 
(Registration number 1996/000034/07)  
The Woodlands, Woodlands Drive, Woodmead, Sandton 
Johannesburg, 2196, South Africa
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The directors are responsible for the preparation, integrity and fair 
presentation of the annual financial statements of RH Bophelo 
Limited. The financial statements are prepared in accordance with 
the IFRS, the South African Institute of Chartered Accountants 
(SAICA) Financial Reporting Guides as issued by the Accounting 
Practices Committee, the Financial Reporting Pronouncements 
as issued by Financial Reporting Standards Council and the 
requirements of the Companies Act, 71 of 2008.

The directors consider that in preparing the financial statements 
they have used the most appropriate accounting policies, 
consistently applied and supported by reasonable and prudent 
judgements and estimates, and that all International Financial 
Reporting Standards that they consider to be applicable have been 
followed. The directors are satisfied that the information contained 
in the financial statements fairly present the results of operations for 
the year and the financial position of the Company at the end of the 
financial year. 

The directors acknowledge that they are ultimately responsible 
for the system of internal financial control established by the 
Company, and place considerable importance on maintaining a 
strong control environment. To enable the directors to meet these 
responsibilities, the directors set standards for internal control 
aimed at reducing the risk of error or loss in a cost effective manner. 
The standards include the proper delegation of responsibilities 
within a clearly defined framework, effective accounting procedures 
and adequate segregation of duties to ensure an acceptable level of 
risk. These controls are monitored throughout the Company and all 
employees are required to maintain the highest ethical standards 
in ensuring the Company’s business is conducted in a manner that 
in all reasonable circumstances is above reproach. The focus of risk 
management is on identifying, assessing, managing and monitoring 
all known forms of risk across the Company. While operating risk 
cannot be fully eliminated, an endeavour is made to minimise it 

by ensuring that appropriate infrastructure, controls, systems and 
ethical behaviour are applied and managed within predetermined 
procedures and constraints.

The directors are of the opinion, based on the information and 
explanations given by management that the system of internal 
control provides reasonable assurance that the financial records 
may be relied on for the preparation of the financial statements. 
However, any system of internal financial control can provide 
only reasonable, and not absolute, assurance against material 
misstatement or loss.

The financial statements were prepared on a going concern basis. 
The assets of the Company, fairly valued, exceed its liabilities. The 
directors are of the opinion that the Company will continue as a 
going concern in the future.

The financial statements were audited by the independent auditors, 
Deloitte & Touche, to whom unrestricted access was given to all 
financial records and related information, including minutes of all 
meetings of shareholders, the Board of Directors and committees of 
the board. The directors believe that all representations made to the 
independent auditors during their audit are valid and appropriate.

The annual financial statements set out on pages 70 to 98 for 
the year ended 28 February 2019 were approved by the Board of 
Directors and signed on its behalf by:

  

 

Dion Mhlaba (Financial Director) 
Date: 28 June 2019

4.2 Statement of Directors’ Responsibility
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4.3 Company Secretary’s Certification

Corporate Services 
Ragni Naicker (Company Secretary) 
Date: 28 June 2019

DECLARATION BY THE COMPANY SECRETARY 
IN RESPECT OF SECTION 88(2)(E) OF THE 
COMPANIES ACT

In my capacity as the Company Secretary, I hereby confirm, in 
terms of the South African Companies Act, No. 71 of 2008, as 
amended, that for the year ended 28 February 2019, RH Bophelo 
Limited has lodged with the Registrar of Companies all such returns 
as are required of a public company in terms of this Act, and that 
all such returns are, to the best of my knowledge and belief, true, 
correct and up to date.
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4.4 Audit and Risk Committee Report

INTRODUCTION

The audit and risk committee (“the Committee”) presents its report 
for the financial year ended 28 February 2019. The Committee 
reports that it has adopted formal terms of reference as its audit and 
risk committee Charter (“the Charter”), and that it has discharged 
all of its responsibilities for the current financial year, in compliance 
with the Charter.

 

OBJECTIVES AND SCOPE

The overall objectives of the Committee are:

  Assess the adequacy of the internal control system, financial 
control systems and the accounting systems;

  Review of the integrated report, summarised financial 
statements, interim financial statements and annual  
financial statements;

  Nominate external auditors for appointment, approve external 
audit fees and set groups policy on non-audit services provided 
by external auditors;

 Monitor compliance with legal requirements;
 Assess the performance of financial management; 
 Recommend budgets and plans;
  Conduct periodic review and assessment of the business risks 

the Group faces.

 

COMPOSITION OF THE COMMITTEE

The Committee consists of three independent non-executive 
directors, all having the necessary qualifications and experience to 
execute their responsibilities, with two members forming a quorum:

 Ms Londeka Shezi (Chairperson)  
 Dr Kgaogelo Ntshwana 
 Dr Solly Motuba 

In addition, Mr Quinton Zunga (CEO), Mr Dion Mhlaba (CFO),  
Ms Vuyokazi Nomvalo (Investment Executive) and Deloitte & 
Touche are also permanent invitees to the meetings.

 

MEETINGS

The Committee held four meetings during the year and the quorum 
was met at all the meetings.

In the conduct of its statutory duties, the Audit and  
Risk Committee:

  is satisfied that the external auditor, Deloitte & Touche, is 
independent of the Company in terms of the Companies Act.

  Assurance was sought and provided by Deloitte & Touche that 
internal corporate governance processes within Deloitte & 
Touche support its claim to independence;

  agreed, in consultation with executive management, to the terms 
of the engagement letter, audit plan and budgeted fees for the 
2019 year;

  approved the non-audit service arrangements with Deloitte 
& Touche. The nature and extent of these services have been 
reviewed to ensure the fees for these services do not become so 
significant as to impact its independence;

  recommended the annual financial statements to the Board for 
approval, based on processes and assurances obtained;

  through its review of the 2019 budget and discussions 
with management, reported to the Board that it supported 
management’s view that the Company will be a going concern in 
the foreseeable future; and

  reviews the key risks facing the Company on an ongoing basis. 
The audit and risk committee is satisfied that adequate controls 
are in place to mitigate the identified key risks.

  the audit and risk committee has considered the JSE Proactive 
Monetary Report issued on 20 February 2019.

The audit and risk committee has complied with its legal, 
regulatory and other responsibilities. The audit and risk committee 
recommended the integrated report to the Board for approval.

 

2019 IN OVERVIEW

The Committee is satisfied that an adequate system of internal 
controls is in place to reduce significant risks faced by the group 
to an acceptable level, and that these controls have been effective 
throughout the period under review. The system is designed to 
manage, rather than eliminate, the risk of failure and to maximise 
opportunities to achieve business objectives. This can provide only 
reasonable, but not absolute assurance. In addition, the Committee 
reviewed the financial control systems, the accounting systems and 
is satisfied with the design and effectiveness of the systems.

As required by the JSE Limited Listings Requirements 3.84(g), the 
audit and risk committee has satisfied itself that Mr Dion Mhlaba the 
CFO during the current financial year has the appropriate experience 
and expertise to fulfil the responsibilities of the finance function.

The Committee has considered the key audit matters set out 
in the independent auditor’s report and is comfortable that it is 
correctly presented.
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Key audit matter How the matter was addressed

Financial assets 
at fair value 
through and loss

Judgements and assumptions applied on 
the valuation of investments, on the EBITDA, 
WACC and terminal values used. Use of 
independent valuer’s to assist the committee 
with benchmarks.

IFRS 10: 
Classification of 
investments

Investment Entities are exempt from 
consolidation and measured at fair value 
through profit and loss in terms of IFRS 9. 
Changes in fair value, primarily driven by 
revaluation of portfolio investments, are 
recognised in profit and loss in the period of 
change. Use of an independent service provider 
to assist the committee with the assessment.

The review of the Integrated Report together with the annual financial 
statements are also the responsibility of the audit and risk committee. 
The Committee has evaluated the integrated reported and annual 
financial statements of RH Bophelo Limited for the year ended 28 
February 2019 and based on the information provided to the audit and 
risk committee, considers that it complies, in all material respects, 
with the requirements of the various acts and regulations governing 
disclosure and reporting. 

The Committee considered the nature, risks and internal control 
environment at the head office and concluded that it was not 
necessary to have a dedicated internal audit function. Specific internal 
audit assignments are considered on a periodic basis and outsourced.

 

EXTERNAL AUDIT

The Committee, having considered all relevant matters, satisfied itself 
through enquiry that auditor independence, suitability, objectivity 
and effectiveness were maintained in 2019. The Committee is further 
satisfied that Mr Patrick Ndlovu complies with the relevant provisions 
of the Companies Act and the JSE Listings Requirements.

Having taken all of the above assessments into account, the 
Committee recommended the approval of the annual financial 
statements by the Board.

The Committee has agreed to a five (5) year audit rotation and 
annual assessment of the auditors fitness and independence.

 
 

Dr Solly Motuba (Audit and risk committee member) 
Date: 28 June 2019
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REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF THE ANNUAL 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Opinion

We have audited the annual financial statements of RH Bophelo 
Limited set out on pages 70 to 98 that comprise the statement 
of financial position as at 28 February 2019, and the statement 
of comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and 
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the 
annual financial statements, including a summary of significant 
accounting policies.

In our opinion, the annual financial statements fairly present, in all 
material respects, the financial position of RH Bophelo Limited as 
at 28 February 2019, and its financial performance and cash flows 
for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards and the requirements of the Companies Act 71 
of 2008.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International 
Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities under those 
standards are further described in the Auditors’ Responsibilities for 
the Audit of the Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements 
section of our report. We are independent of the Group in 

accordance with the sections 290 and 291 of the Independent 
Regulatory Board for Auditors’ Code of Professional Conduct for 
Registered Auditors (Revised January 2018), parts 1 and 3 of the 
Independent Regulatory Board for Auditors’ Code of Professional 
Conduct for Registered Auditors (Revised November 2018) 
(together the IRBA Codes) and other independence requirements 
applicable to performing audits of financial statements in South 
Africa. We have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities, as 
applicable, in accordance with the IRBA Codes and in accordance 
with other ethical requirements applicable to performing 
audits in South Africa. The IRBA Codes are consistent with the 
corresponding sections of the International Ethics Standards 
Board for Accountants’ Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants 
and the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ 
International Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants 
(including International Independence Standards) respectively. 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient 
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional 
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the annual 
financial statements of the current period. These matters were 
addressed in the context of our audit of the annual financial 
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we 
do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

4.5 Independent Auditor’s Report

Valuation of financial assets through profit and loss

Key audit matter How the matter was addressed in the audit

The carrying value of financial assets through profit and loss is R158 
million at year-end (Rnil million in 2018). This represents fair value of 
investment in RH Bophelo Operating Company Proprietary Limited. 

The valuation of RH Bophelo Operating Company Proprietary Limited 
is based on its net asset value, consisting of fair value of its financial 
assets less the carrying amounts of its liabilities. 

The fair value of financial assets is based on future cash flows of its 
underlying investments, and the use of appropriate discount rates. 
There is estimation involved in forecasting and discounting future 
cash flows, with the growth rates and discount rates being the most 
significant assumptions impacting the valuation.

As the financial assets at fair value through profit and loss balance 
is material to the Company, and significant judgement is exercised 
by the directors in determining the fair value, the valuation thereof is 
considered to be a key audit matter.

In assessing the fair value of financial assets of RH Bophelo 
Operating Company Proprietary Limited, we obtained and assessed 
fair valuation of the underlying investments and performed the 
following procedures: 

 Involving our corporate finance valuation specialists;
  Evaluating the Company’s fair value calculations and  

the principles  
and integrity of the discounted cash flow models; 

  Testing of inputs into the cash flow forecast against the 
companies’ strategic plans;

  Comparing the growth rates used to strategic plans and  
historical performance;

  Testing the assumptions used to calculate the discount  
rates and recalculating those rates; and

 Re-computing of the fair values.

Based on the results of the above procedures, we consider the 
carrying value of financial asset through profit and loss be 
reasonable and the disclosures to be appropriate.
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Other information

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other 
information comprises the Directors’ Report and the audit and risk 
committee’s Report as required by the Companies Act 71 of 2008 of 
South Africa, which we obtained prior to the date of this report. Other 
information does not include the annual financial statements and 
our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the annual financial statements does not cover the 
other information and we do not express an audit opinion or any 
form of assurance in the conclusion thereon..

In connection with our audit of the annual financial statements, 
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, 
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent 
with the annual financial statements or our knowledge obtained in 
the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based 
on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material 
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report 
that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of the directors for the Annual 
Financial Statements

The directors are responsible for the preparation and fair 
presentation of the annual financial statements in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements of  

the Companies Act 71 of 2008, and for such internal control as the 
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of annual 
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the annual financial statements, the directors are 
responsible for assessing the Company’s ability to continue as a 
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going 
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless 
the directors either intend to liquidate the Company or to cease 
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the Annual 
Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether 
the annual financial statements as a whole are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an 
auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance 
is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit 
conducted in accordance with the ISAs will always detect a 
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise 
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in 
the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the 
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these annual 
financial statements. 
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As part of an audit in accordance with the ISAs we exercise 
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism 
throughout the audit. We also:

  Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the 
annual financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, 
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, 
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate 
to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a 
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for 
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, 
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of 
internal control.

  Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit 
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the 
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion 
on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control.

  Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the 
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures 
made by the directors.

  Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the 
going concern basis of accounting and based on the audit 
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists 
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt 
on the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we 
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to 
draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures 
in the annual financial statements or, if such disclosures are 
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on 
the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. 
However, future events or conditions may cause the Company to 
cease to continue as a going concern.

  Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the 
annual financial statements, including the disclosures, and 
whether the annual financial statements represent the underlying 
transactions and events in a manner that achieves  
fair presentation.

We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters, 
the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit 
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control 
that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the directors with a statement that we 
have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding 
independence, and have communicated with them all relationships 
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our 
independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the directors, we determine 
those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the 
annual financial statements of the current year and are therefore 
the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s 
report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about 
the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine 
that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the 
adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to 
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements

In terms of the IRBA Rule published in Government Gazette Number 
39475 dated 4 December 2015, we report that Deloitte & Touche 
has been the auditor of RH Bophelo Limited for three years.

 
Deloitte and Touche 
Registered Auditors 
Per P Ndlovu 
Partner 
28 June 2019

Deloitte & Touche 
Registered Auditor 
Audit – Gauteng, Buildings 1 And 2 
Deloitte Place, The Woodlands 
Woodlands Drive 
Woodmead Sandton 
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THE  
COMPANY01

The current financial statements have been prepared for the year 
ended 28 February 2019. This is the third of audited annual financial 
statements for the Company.

PRINCIPAL 
ACTIVITIES02

The Company is an investment holding company and invests 
primarily in the healthcare value chain. At year end, the Company 
had only one (1) direct subsidiary, RH Bophelo Operating Company 
Proprietary Limited.

FINANCIAL  
RESULTS03

The Company recorded total comprehensive income of  
R21 160 889 (2018: R8 119 325). Full details of the financial 
position and results of the Company are set out in the financial 
statements. These financial statements have been prepared in 
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards. 

DIVIDENDS04
There were no dividends declared in the current year and prior year.

DIRECTORS’ FEES AND 
REMUNERATION05

The directors’ emoluments and earnings have been disclosed 
under note 12.

DIRECTORS06
At the date of this report, the directors of the Company were:

Quinton Zunga (Executive) 
Katekani Dion Mhlaba (Executive) 
Vuyokazi Phatheka Nomvalo (Executive)

Maunatlala Peter Mehlape (Non-executive, classified as  
non-executive on 30 June 2018)

John Rabagadi Oliphant (Non-executive) 
Phetole David Sekete (Non-executive) 
Solomon Gabriel Motuba (Lead Independent) 
Kgaogelo Rachel Ntshwana (Independent) 
Londeka Shezi (Independent)

GOING  
CONCERN07

The financial statements are prepared on an going concern basis, as 
the directors are of the view that the Company has adequate financial 
resources to continue for the foreseeable future, based on forecasts 
and available cash resources. As at year end, the Company had a 
positive net asset value of R530 119 886 (2018: R495 945 698)  
and a positive net current asset position of R375 940 776  
(2018 R495 945 698).

MATERIAL  
EVENTS08

During the current year, the Company issued 1 250 000 shares “A” 
ordinary shares at a VWAP of R10 a share as part of the settlement 
for the Africa Healthcare acquisition. In the prior year, the Company 
issued 49 999 999 “A” ordinary shares in issue at R10.

During the current year, the Company entered into sale agreements 
for the acquisition of Medicare Private Hospital, Fauchard Private 
Hospital for R124,6 million and a loan agreement with Africa 
Healthcare for R20 million. Refer to note 15 and 17 respectively.

After year end but before the reporting date, the Company entered 
into sale agreements for the acquisitions of Netcare Bell Hospital, 
Wesmart Financial Services and Africa and Worldwide Medical 
Assistance Service for a combined consideration of R63,9 million. 
Detailed disclosure is included under Note 16.

4.6 Directors’ Report
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4.7 Statements of Financial Position

Notes 2019 (R)   2018 (R)

Assets        

         

Non-current assets        

Financial asset at fair value through profit and loss 6  157 896 791    – 

     157 896 791    – 

         

Current assets        

Loans 9 2 338 541    – 

Other receivables 8 1 432 736    – 

Current tax 332 216 –

Cash and cash equivalents 7  373 548 658    499 063 418 

     377 652 151    499 063 418 

         

Total assets   535 548 942   499 063 418

         

Liabilities        

         

Equity        

Stated capital 11 500 839 672   487 826 373

Retained income   29 280 214   8 119 325

    530 119 886   495 945 698

         

Non-current liabilities        

Deferred tax 10 3 717 681    – 

         

Current liabilities        

Other payables   1 711 375   3 117 720

         

Total equity and liabilities   535 548 942   499 063 418

         

Number of shares in issue 51 250 000   50 000 000

       

Net Asset Value per share (R)  10,34    9,92 

Tangible Net Asset Value (R) 7,29 9,98

as at 28 February 2019
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  Notes 2019 (R)   2018 (R)

Investment income        

Interest income    24 490 345    20 826 640 

Other income    230 475    – 

Net gain from financial instruments at fair value through profit and loss 6  16 596 791    – 

Total investment income    41 317 611    20 826 640 

Expenses        

Professional services fees    (5 164 314)    (8 513 898)

Management fees    (4 363 015)    (2 458 055)

Other operating expenses    (3 647 227)    (1 156 526)

Total expenses    (13 174 556)    (12 128 479)

         

Total income for the year before tax    28 143 055    8 698 161 

Income tax 10  (6 982 166)    (578 836)

         

Total income after tax    21 160 889    8 119 325 

Other comprehensive income  –  – 

Total comprehensive income  21 160 889  8 119 325 

4.8 Statements of Comprehensive Income
for the year ended 28 February 2019

Basic and diluted earnings per share were 42 cents (2018: 26 cents). Refer to note 13 for further details.
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4.9 Statements of Changes in Equity 
for the year ended 28 February 2019

   Notes Stated capital Retained income Total 

         

Balance at 1 March 2017   1  – 1

Shares issued 11  487 826 372  –  487 826 372

Total comprehensive income for the year    – 8 119 325 8 119 325

         

Balance as at 1 March 2018   487 826 373 8 119 325 495 945 698

Shares issued 11 13 013 299  – 13 013 299

Total comprehensive income for the year   21 160 889 21 160 889

         

Balance as at 28 February 2019   500 839 672 29 280 214 530 119 886
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4.10 Statements of Cash Flows
for the year ended 28 February 2019

   Notes 2019 (R)   2018 (R)

Cash flows from operating activities        

Profit before tax   28 143 055   8 698 161

Net gain from financial instruments at fair value through profit and loss 6 (16 596 791)    – 

    11 546 264   8 698 161

Changes in working capital        

Increase in other receivables   (1 432 736)    – 

(Decrease)/increase in other payables (1 406 345)   3 117 720

Cash generated from operations 8 707 183   11 815 880

         

Income tax   (3 596 701)   (578 836)

Net cash generated in operating activities   5 110 482   11 237 045

         

Cash flows from investing activities        

Net investments financial asset at fair value through profit and loss  6.2 (128 286 701)    – 

Loans   (2 338 541)    – 

Net cash utilised in investing activities   (130 625 242)    – 

         

Cash flows from financing activities        

Net capital contributions   – 487 826 372

Net cash generated from financing activities   –    487 826 372 

         

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents   (125 514 760)   499 063 417

         

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year   499 063 418   1

         

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year   373 548 658   499 063 418
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4.11 Notes to the Annual Financial Statements

1. GENERAL INFORMATION

RH Bophelo Limited (“The Company”) is a legal entity registered 
in the Republic of South Africa. The Company is involved in making 
equity, quasi-equity and equity related investments in healthcare, 
specifically in operational infrastructure, including health insurance, 
private hospital-related infrastructure, pharmaceuticals, retails and 
distributions, in South Africa. The Company was incorporated on  
13 December 2016.

RH Bophelo Operating Company Proprietary Limited is a 100% held 
subsidiary of the Company, which is utilised to acquire investments 
on behalf of the Company. 

RH Bophelo Management Company Proprietary Limited manages 
the investment and the administration activities of the Company. 
Refer to note 15 for further details. 

2.  NEW AND REVISED INTERNATIONAL 
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS  
IN ISSUE

 2.1.  New and Revised International Financial 
Reporting Standards in issue

  In the current year, the Company has adopted the following 
standards and interpretations that are effective for the current 
year and relevant to its operations.

  IFRS 15 Revenue from contracts with customers; and 
  IFRS 9 Financial Instruments.

 Effective date: years beginning on or after 1 January 2018.

  Expected impact: the adoption of these standards will not have 
any materials impact on the results of the Company given the 
nature of the Company and the fact that this is the first year that 
the Company has operations.

 2.2.  New and Revised International Financial 
Reporting Standards not yet issued

  At the date of authorisation of these financial statements, the 
following relevant IFRSs were not effective:

  IFRS 16 supersedes IAS 17 Leases, Mandatory adoption for 
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019.

  The major changes are for lessees, with IFRS 16 setting out a 
single model that eliminates the distinction between operating 
and finance leases, and results in the statement of financial 
position reflecting a ‘right of use’ asset and a corresponding 
liability for most lease contracts. The asset is subsequently 
accounted for as property, plant and equipment or investment 

property and the liability is unwound using the interest rate 
implicit in the lease. However, entities have an option not to 
bring onto the statement of financial position short term leases 
(i.e. those for periods of 12 months or less including the effect of 
extension options) and leases of low value items.

  Expected impact: the adoption of these standards will not have 
any material impact on the results of the Company given the 
nature of the Company and the fact that the business does not 
have any leases in its operations. 

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Basis of preparation

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards as issued by the 
International Accounting Standards Board, the SAICA Financial 
Reporting Guides as issued by the Accounting Practices Committee, 
the Financial Reporting Pronouncements as issued by Financial 
Reporting Standards Council and in the manner required by the 
Companies Act of South Africa and the JSE Listings Requirements. 
These financial statements have been prepared on the historical 
cost basis, except where indicated otherwise. 

Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of the Company are 
measured using the currency of the primary economic environment 
in which the entity operates (the “functional currency”).  
The financial statements are presented in South African Rand,  
which is also considered by the directors to be the Company’s 
functional currency.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the 
Statement of Financial Position when the Company becomes a 
party to the contractual provisions of the instruments.

Financial assets

Accounting for investments

Subsidiaries classified are classified as Investment Entities under 
IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements. Investment Entities are 
exempt from consolidation and measured at fair value through profit 
and loss in terms of IFRS 9. Changes in fair value, primarily driven by 
revaluation of portfolio investments, are recognised in profit and loss 
in the period of change.

Where the Company does not have control, but has significant 
influence over a portfolio investment, such entities are classified as 
associates. Given the nature of the Company’s operations, associates 
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are accounted for in accordance with IFRS9 at fair value through 
profit and loss (exemption allowed in IAS 28: Investments in 
Associates and Joint Ventures). Changes in fair value are recognised 
in profit or loss in the period of change.

The following were part of the consideration used by management 
in the application of IFRS 10:

 The business will realise value through the capital appreciation  
 and dividend return of its investee companies; 

 The Company has finalised a diversified investment strategy  
 that will see growth in other sectors; and 

 At the appropriate time, the Company will exit each investment  
 vertical following a carefully crafted Investment strategy in line  
 with its investment policy.

Initial Measurement:

Financial instruments are initially measured at fair value, which 
includes transaction costs, except for instruments classified at fair 
value through profit and loss. Investments not traded in an active 
market are initially measured a using acquisition cost.

Subsequent Measurement:

The investments, which are not traded on an active market, 
are valued using recognised principles to estimate fair value in 
accordance with IFRS13. 

The Company will adopt different valuation techniques as the base 
valuation method as highlighted by the general principles below:

 Available market values of the acquired assets as at reporting date; 
 A Discounted Cash Flow valuation for operational assets; 
 Market values for recent similar traded assets; and 
 Income multiple approach in years 7 to 9 years, since the   

 hospitals would have reached maturity and stability.

Net gain/loss from financial instruments at fair value through profit 
or loss includes all realised and unrealised fair value changes.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash is defined as cash on hand and cash in banks and investments in 
money market instruments with a maturity of three months or less.

Loans

Loans are initially measured at cost and subsequently at fair value if 
the loan is impaired.

Other receivables

Other receivables are initially measured at cost and subsequently  
at fair value.

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value and 
subsequently measured at amortised cost.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual 
interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its liabilities. 
Equity instruments issued by the Company are recognised at the 
proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Other payables

Other payables are stated at their nominal value, which 
approximates fair value. 

Income tax

Income tax represents current tax and deferred tax. 

Current tax assets/liabilities

The current tax asset/liability is based on taxable profit/loss for the 
year. Taxable profit/loss differs from profit/loss as reported in the 
statement of comprehensive income because it excludes items of 
income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and 
it further excludes items that are never taxable or deductible.

Deferred taxes

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between the 
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the financial statements 
and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable 
profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable 
temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are generally recognised 
for all deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is 
probable that taxable profits will be available against which those 
deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such deferred tax 
assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference 
arises from goodwill or from the initial recognition (other than in a 
business combination) of other assets and liabilities in a transaction 
that affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit. 

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary 
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and 
associates, except where the Company is able to control the reversal 
of the temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary 
difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax 
assets arising from deductible temporary differences associated 
with such investments and interests are only recognised to the 
extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits 
against which to utilise the benefits of the temporary differences 
and they are expected to reverse in the foreseeable future. 

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of 
each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer 
probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all 
or part of the asset to be recovered. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that 
are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is settled or 
the asset realised, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been 
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period. 
The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the 
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tax consequences that would follow from the manner in which the 
Company expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or 
settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities. 

Investment income

Interest and income on fair value through profit and loss are 
recognised on the accrual basis. 

 Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method 
 Fair value through profit and loss are recognised on a bi-annual  

 basis, using a suitable valuation methodology 

4.  SEGMENTAL INFORMATION

The Board has considered the implications of IFRS 8: Operating 
segments and is of the opinion that the current operations of the 
Company constitute one operating segment. 

5.  CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS 
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION 
UNCERTAINTY

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRSs 
requires management to make judgements, estimates and 
assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and 
the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. 
Actual results may differ from these estimates. Estimates and 
underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions 
to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the 
estimate is revised and in any future periods affected.

In particular, information about significant areas of estimation, 
uncertainty and critical judgements in applying accounting policies 
that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in 
the financial statements, includes the determination of fair value for 
assets that are carried at fair value through profit or loss.

Key judgements

Unlisted investments

Unlisted investments that consist of equity components and a 
loan are valued separately and considered together as a combined 
financial instrument in the case where the assets are distressed.

Significant assumptions

Unlisted investments

Refer to note 6 for significant assumptions and disclosure.

 Inflation 
 Growth rate 
 Capitalisation rate (Cap rate) 
 Weighted average cost of capital (WACC)
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6. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT AND LOSS 

In the current year, the Company had only one direct investment in RH Bophelo Operating Company Proprietary Limited (“RHBO”), a 100% held 
subsidiary. RHBO is a special purpose vehicle created in order to hold investments that are classified under the hospital portfolio. During the 
current year, RHBO made the following acquisitions. The R157 896 791 is the net asset value of RHBO as at 28 February 2019. 

2019 (R) 2018 (R)

Opening balance  –  – 

Disbursements  141 300 000  – 

Changes in fair value  16 596 791  – 

 157 896 791  – 

Below is an extract from the statement of financial position from RHBO as at 28 February 2019.

2019 (R) 2018 (R)

Current assets 285 735 –

Financial asset at fair value through profit and loss* 157 644 190 –

Related party loans  1 327 435  – 

Non-related loans*  5 042 230  – 

164 299 590  –

Current liabilities 85 310 –

Related party loans 2 338 541 –

Deferred taxes 3 978 948 –

6 402 799  –

Net asset value  157 896 791  – 

6.1 Unlisted investment held indirectly and classified as Financial asset at fair value through profit and loss

During the current year, RHBO made the following acquisitions which were classified as investments through profit and loss.

   Opening balance  Investment acquisition Fair value  Closing balance 

Africa Healthcare  – 62 500 000 32 989 661 95 489 661

Vryburg Private Hospital  – 24 320 000 2 834 529 27 154 529

Rondebosch Medical Centre  – 200 000 (199 999) 1

   – 87 020 000 35 624 192 122 644 192

*An amount of R162 686 422
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Entity % ownership Fair value at 
year end

Valuation 
technique

Unobservable 
inputs

Range FV Hierarchy

Africa Healthcare Proprietrary Limited1 60% 95 489 661 Discounted 
cash flow

EBITDA, WACC, 
and growth rate

6,76; 18% 
and 7,3%

Level 3

Vryburg Holdings Proprietary Limited2 74%  27 154 529 Discounted 
cash flow

EBITDA, WACC, 
growth rate and 

cap rate

6,76; 18%; 
7,3% and 

11%

Level 3

Rondebosch Medical Centre  
Proprietary Limited3

30%  35 000 000 Discounted 
cash flow

EBITDA, WACC, 
and growth rate

5,95; 18% 
and 6,5%

Level 3

6.2 Loans issued

   Opening balance Loan raised Interest/ (impairment)  Closing balance 

K2015398326 Proprietary Limited  –  4 480 000  562 230  5 042 230 

Rondebosch Medical Centre  –  49 800 000  (14 800 000**)  35 000 000 

Total  –  54 280 000  (14 237 770)  40 042 230 

Balance 141 300 000* 21 386 422 162 686 422

*  total new investments of R141 300 000 in loans and unlisted equities, consisting of cash contribution of R128 286 701 and a fresh issue of shares for R12 500 000 and R513 299 of issue costs.

** the loan was impaired in the current year.

6.3 Assumptions and estimates

IFRS 13 requires disclosure of fair value measurements by level of the following fair value measurement hierarchy: 
Level 1: Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities  
Level 2: Inputs other than quoted prices include within level that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (that is, as prices) or 
indirectly (that is, derived from prices) 
Level 3: Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data, (that is, unobservable inputs)

1  In May 2018, RHBO successfully acquired 60% of Africa Healthcare Proprietary Limited for R62,5 million, payable in combination of a cash subscription and share swap.
2 In May 2018, RHBO successfully acquired 74% of Vryburg Private Proprietary Limited for R24,3 million, through a sale of assets and liabilities.
3  In June 2018, RHBO successfully subscribed for 30% of Rondebosch Medical Centre Proprietary Limited for R200 000 and a shareholder loan of R49,8 million. In line with the policy, both the equity 

and loan are valued together. RHBO is entitled to a call option to acquire an additional 21% of the issued shares on the 4th anniversary.
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7. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

2019 (R) 2018 (R)

Investment Account*  350 221 087  495 597 475 

Current Account  23 327 571  3 465 943 

 373 548 658  499 063 418 

8. OTHER RECEIVABLES

2019 (R) 2018 (R)

SARS VAT 1 022 587 –

Other related party loans 244 675 –

Other *165 474 –

1 432 736 –

* the funds are held in a 7-day account with Rand Merchant Bank

* other relates to short-term loans that relates to new special purpose vehicles in preparation for new investments and a favourable loan balance of R14 286 with RH Bophelo Management Company.

6.4 Sensitivity analysis

AHC equity value - 60% -10% -5% Base +5% +10%

Terminal value  88 489 929  92 510 105  95 489 661  102 975 350 109 962 462

WACC  116 060 638  105 720 226  95 489 661  90 221 316 84 263 134

EBITDA 86 179 419 90 715 178 95 489 661 100 264 144 105 277 351

Vryburg equity value - 74% -10% -5% Base +5% +10%

Terminal value 10 741 236 11 416 424 10 954 529 13 178 192 14 357 769

WACC 14 283 413 13 605 169 10 954 529 11 065 111 10 096 478

EBITDA 9 886 462 10 406 803 10 954 529 11 502 255 12 077 368

Capitalisation rate 17 860 500 17 010 000 16 200 000 15 390 000 14 620 500

RMC equity value - 30%* -10% -5% Base +5% +10%

Terminal value  31 587 500  33 250 000  35 000 000  40 200 000  42 600 000 

WACC  38 587 500  36 750 000  35 000 000  33 250 000  31 587 500 

EBITDA  31 500 000  33 250 000  35 000 000  36 750 000  38 500 000 

* Valuation includes shareholder loan.
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9. LOANS

2019 (R) 2018 (R)

RH Bophelo Operating Company 2 338 541 -

10. TAXATION

2019 (R) 2018 (R)

South African Income tax

Normal taxation - current year  3 264 485  578 836 

Deferred taxation - current year  3 717 681  – 

 6 982 166  578 836 

Normal tax reconciliation:

Profit before tax 28 143 055  8 698 161 

Tax at 28% 7 880 055 2 435 485 

Less gain on financial assets through profit or loss at standard tax rate  (4 647 101) –

Add gain on financial assets through profit or loss at capital gains tax rate  3 717 681 –

Add impact of non-deductible expenses  31 531  (1 856 649)

6 982 166 578 836 

This is a short-term working capital loan that does not bear any interest, unsecured and with no repayment terms.
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11. STATED CAPITAL, MAJOR SHAREHOLDERS AND SHAREHOLDING SPREAD

11.1 Stated capital

Authorised

10 000 000 000 “A” ordinary shares with no par value (prior year: 10 000 000 000 “A” ordinary shares with no par value)

1 “B” share

Issued

51 250 000 “A” ordinary shares with no par value (prior year: 50 000 000 “A” ordinary share in issue)

1 “B” share with no par value (prior year: 1 “B” share in issue)

Reconciliation of issued “A” shares

2019 (R) 2018 (R)

Opening Balance  50 000 000  1 

Issued during the year 1 250 000 at R10 per share*  1 250 000   49 999 999 

Closing Balance  51 250 000  50 000 000 

*During the current year, shares were issued as part of the settlement for the Africa Healthcare acquisition.

Reconciliation of issued “B” shares

2019 (R) 2018 (R)

RH Bophelo Management Company 1 1

Net asset value per share and tangible net asset value per share. 
The net asset value per share at year end is R10,34 (prior year: R9,92). 
The tangible net asset value per share at year end is R7,29 (prior year: R9,98).
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11.2 Major Shareholders
Those Shareholders who, insofar as is known to the Company, directly or indirectly, beneficially hold significant shareholding of 3% or more of the 
issued share capital of the Company are set out below:

2019 recon:

Shareholder Number of A Ordinary Shares held % of A Ordinary Shares held*

Public Investment Corporation  40 812 182 80%

Sentio Capital Management  4 997 036 10%

RQ Capital Partners  1 500 000 3%

   47 309 218 93%

2018 recon:

Shareholder Number of A Ordinary Shares held % of A Ordinary Shares held*

Public Investment Corporation  39 700 000 79%

Sentio Capital Management  4 997 036 10%

Mvunonala Asset Managers  2 500 000 5%

RQ Capital Partners  1 500 000 3%

   48 697 036 87%

 
*Rounded to zero decimals

11.3 Shareholding spread 
Shareholder analysis per JSELR 3.43 of public and non-public shareholders:

2019:

Shareholder Number of Shareholders Number of ‘A’ Ordinary Shares held % Holding

Public shareholders 142 4 825 896 *9,42%

Non-public shareholders (Directors) 6 46 424 104 90,58%

Total 148 51 250 000 100%

2018:

Shareholder Number of Shareholders Number of ‘A’ Ordinary Shares held % Holding

Public shareholders 127  7 700 000 15,40%

Non-public shareholders (Directors) 4  42 300 000 84,60%

Total  131  50 000 000 100%

 
*in the current year, 5% of the shares that were classified as public shares were reclassified as non-public shares.

RH BOPHELO  INTEGRATED ANNUAL REPORT 2019   CULTIVATING THE FUTURE OF HEALTHCARE 93



12. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION AND INTERESTS

12.2 Directors’ interests
The direct and indirect interests of the Directors and their associates in the share capital of the Company are set out below:

2019 recon:

Director % of shares held directly % of shares held indirectly % of shares in issue held

Q Zunga – 3.0%* 3.0%

JR Oliphant – 2.0%** 2.0%

Dr. PD Sekete 0.4% – 0.4%

Total 0.4% 5.0% 5.4%

12.1 Directors’ remuneration
Remuneration was paid to the Directors or other key management personnel during the current year period ended 28 February 2019.

Director For services as a director Remuneration Total

Quinton Zunga*  –  1 206 665  1 206 665 

Vuyokazi Nomvalo*  –  675 000  675 000 

Peter Mehlape  10 000  433 333*  443 333 

Dion Mhlaba*  –  951 666  951 666 

John Oliphant  90 000  –  90 000 

Solomon Motuba  140 000  –  140 000 

Kgaogelo Ntshwana  150 704  –  150 704 

David Sekete  130 000  –  130 000 

Londeka Shezi  80 000  –  80 000 

 600 704  3 266 664  3 867 368 

Remuneration was paid to the Directors or other key management personnel during the current year period ended 28 February 2018.

Director For services as a director Remuneration Total

Quinton Zunga*  –  824 731  824 731 

Vuyokazi Nomvalo*  –  418 710  418 710 

Peter Mehlape*  –  659 785  659 785 

Dion Mhlaba*  –  507 527  507 527 

John Oliphant  40 000  –  40 000 

Solomon Motuba  40 000  –  40 000 

Kgaogelo Ntshwana  60 000  –  60 000 

David Sekete  60 000  –  60 000 

 200 000  2 410 753  2 610 753 

*The directors are remunerated by RH Bophelo Management Company Proprietary Limited, remuneration only includes salaries.

*  Held through a company controlled by Q Zunga, being RQ Capital Proprietary Limited. 
** Held through a company controlled by JR Oliphant, being Third Way Investment Group Proprietary Limited.

Dealings by directors after financial year end: Q Zunga purchased 100 RH Bophelo shares at R11.00 per share on 13 June 2019.  
There were no other share trades by directors between year-end date and the date of the integrated annual report.
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13.  EARNINGS AND DILUTED EARNINGS  
PER SHARE

Basic earnings per share 

The calculation of basic earnings per ordinary share is based on 
earnings of R21 160 889 (2018: R8 119 325) and a weighted average 
number of shares in issue of 50 938 356 (2018: 31 780 822).

Diluted earnings per share 

The calculation of diluted earnings per ordinary share is based on 
diluted earnings of R21 160 889 (2018: R8 119 325) and a weighted 
average number of shares in issue of 50 938 356 (2018: 31 780 822). 

Headline earnings per share

The calculation of headline earnings per ordinary share is based 
on headline earnings of R21 160 889 (2018: R8 119 325) and a 
weighted average number of shares in issue of 50 938 356  
(2018: 31 780 822). The headline earnings per share is 42 cents 
(2018: 24,7).

Diluted headline earnings per share

The calculation of diluted headline earnings per ordinary  
share is based on diluted headline earnings of R21 160 889 
(2018: R8 119 325) and a weighted average number of shares 
in issue of 50 938 356 (2018: 31 780 822). The diluted headline 
earnings per share is 42 cents (2018: 24,7). 

14. RELATED PARTIES

Management fees

Management fees incurred in the current year R4 363 015  
(2018: R2 458 055) have been paid by the Company to RH Bophelo 
Management Company Proprietary Limited. An amount of R14 286 
(2018: R776 616) was included in other receivables /(payables) at 
year end. The Company has entered into a management agreement 
with RH Bophelo Management Company Proprietary Limited for 
providing operational management services. Management fees are 
0,7% per quarter of the total capital raised, while the Company has 
not fully deployed more than 60% of the listing capital raise. The 
executive directors are remunerated by RH Bophelo Management 
Company Proprietary Limited.

Subsidiary

Fees of R1 138 747 (2018: R2 900 000) were paid by the 
Company to RH Bophelo Operating Company Proprietary 
Limited, a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, for costs 
related to the operations of the business. An amount of R2 338 
541 (2018: R26 403) was included under loans at year end.

Professional fees

Professional fees of Rnil (2018: R11 508 300) were paid by the 
Company to Third Way Investments Proprietary Limited. These 
payments were made for capital raising and corporate advisory 
services. Third Way Investments Proprietary Limited owns 30% 
of RH Bophelo Management Company Proprietary Limited and a 
non-executive director of the Company is a partner in Third Way 
Investments Proprietary Limited.

 
15. ACQUISITIONS DURING THE YEAR

The Company entered into a sale agreement for the acquisition of 
Fauchard Day Clinic Proprietary Limited (FDC) and Medicare Private 
Hospital Proprietary Limited (MPH) during the current financial 
period, but not included as part of the current year reporting as no 
conditions of sale were met. 

Details of the Fauchard Day Hospital acquisition:

In October 2018, the Company entered into a sale of shares 
agreement through its wholly owned subsidiary RH Bophelo 
Operating Company, upon the fulfilment or waiver (as the case may 
be) of the conditions precedent contained in the agreement, it will, 
inter alia:

 Acquire 100% of the property and clinic; and  
 The acquisition is for a combined consideration of R25 million   

 cash (R15 million for the property and R10 million for the  
 Day Clinic; 

Details of the Medicare Private Hospital acquisition:

On 5 February 2019, the Company entered into a Sale of Shares 
and Claims agreement (Agreement), through its wholly owned 
subsidiary, Megafrack Proprietary Limited (Megafrack) (being an 
entity established specifically for the purpose of the Acquisitions), 
in terms of which, upon fulfilment or waiver (as the case may be) 
of the conditions precedent contained in the Agreement, Megafrack 
will, inter alia:

  acquire 51.0% of the issued share capital in Medicare Private 
Hospital Proprietary Limited (MPH) through the purchase of 
existing shares from the current shareholders; and

  acquire 50.1% of the issued share capital in Magnacorp 84 
Proprietary Limited through the purchase of existing shares from 
the current shareholders.

  the acquisitions are for a combined consideration of R99,6 
million, whereby the payment will consist of a cash consideration 
of R75 million and 2.5 million RH Bophelo listed shares, using a 
30-day volume weighted average price (VWAP).

 the acquisition was classified as a category 2 acquisition. 
  acquire 51.0% of the issued share capital in Medicare Private 

Hospital Proprietary Limited (MPH) through the purchase of 
existing shares from the current shareholders; and

  acquire 50.1% of the issued share capital in Magnacorp 84 
Proprietary Limited through the purchase of existing shares from 
the current shareholders.
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  the acquisitions are for a combined consideration of R99,6 
million, whereby the payment will consist of a cash consideration 
of R75 million and 2.5 million RH Bophelo listed shares, using a 
30-day volume weighted average price (VWAP).

 the acquisition was classified as a category 2 acquisition.

16. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

The Company entered into a sale agreement for the acquisition 
of Netcare Bell Hospital Proprietary Limited (NBPH), Wesmart 
Financial and Administration Solutions Proprietary Limited 
(Wesmart) and approval of investment in Africa and Worldwide 
Medical Assistance Service Proprietary Limited “Africa Assist” after 
the current year reporting period but before the issue of the annual 
financial statements. 

Details of the Netcare Bell Private Hospital acquisition:

On 15 March 2019, the Company entered into a Sale of Business 
Agreement (SBA) and a Sale of Property Agreement (SPA) 
(Collectively, the Agreements”, through its wholly owned 
subsidiaries, Demo Medical Proprietary Limited (Demo) and 
Notamed Proprietary Limited (Notamed) (being entities established 
specifically for the purpose of the Acquisitions), in terms of which, 
upon fulfilment or waiver (as the case may be) of the conditions 
precedent contained in the Agreements:

  Demo will acquire 100% of Bell’s assets (being the business) 
from Netcare Hospitals; and 

  Notamed will acquire 100% of the Bell Property from the existing 
vendor, Netcare Property Holdings. 

  The acquisitions are for a combined consideration of  
R55.2 million, which is split between R1.6 million for the Bell’s 
assets and R53.6 million for the Bell Property. 

 The acquisition was classified as category 2 acquisition.
 As at date of this report, the conditions had not all been met.

Details of the Wesmart Financial and Administration  
Solutions acquisition:

On 30 April 2019, the Company subscribed to a 60% of the Wesmart 
Financial and Administration Solutions Proprietary Limited 
(Wesmart) through its wholly owned subsidiary RH Financial 
Services for a total cash consideration of R2 750 000 and corporate 
guarantee of R3 million. Wesmart, a registered authorised Financial 
Services Provider, (FSP: 45769), has received exemption in terms of 
the Demarcation Regulations from the Council for Medical Schemes 
(CMS) under exemption number DM1122. All conditions of sale were 
met at the date of this report.

Details of the Africa Assist acquisition:

On 27 May 2019, the Company obtained an approval to 
subscribe for a 60% in Africa and Worldwide Medical Assistance 
Service Proprietary Limited “Africa Assist” through its wholly 
owned subsidiary RH Financial Services for a total cash 
consideration of R3 000 000. Africa Assist is a medical 
assistance company that provides emergency medical 
assistance services to local and international clients. 

17. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

The Company has entered into a R20 million loan agreement with 
Africa Healthcare Proprietary Limited, its subsidiary, where the 
proceeds will be used by Africa Healthcare Proprietary Limited for 
the acquisition of Fochville Private Hospital. The full loan amount 
has not be drawn by year-end.

All other capital commitments are enclosed under note 16.

 
18. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

There were no contingent liabilities at year end.

 

19. GOING CONCERN

The financial statements were prepared on a going concern basis. 
The assets of the Company, fairly valued, exceed its liabilities. The 
directors are of the opinion that the Company will continue as a going 
concern in the future, based on forecasts and available cash resources.

RH BOPHELO  INTEGRATED ANNUAL REPORT 2019   CULTIVATING THE FUTURE OF HEALTHCARE96



20. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

Overview
The Board of Directors has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the Company’s risk management framework.  
The Company’s risk management policies are established to identify and analyse the risks faced by the Company, to set appropriate risk limits 
and controls and to monitor risks and adherence to limits. Risk management policies and systems are reviewed regularly to reflect changes in 
market conditions and the products offered.

The Company has exposure to the following risks from its use of financial instruments that arises from the normal course of business:

 Liquidity risk 
 Credit risk 
 Market risk

20.1 Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will encounter difficulty in meeting the obligations associated with its financial liabilities that are 
settled by delivering cash or another financial asset. The Company’s approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will 
always have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, under both normal and stressed conditions, without incurring unacceptable losses 
or risking damage to the Partnership’s reputation.

Liquidity risk is monitored on a quarterly basis by the Company. The nature of the business is such that the majority of operating assets and 
liabilities are settled within one month. 

The following table discloses the contractual maturity of financial assets and liabilities:

2019 Carrying amount 2 months or less 2 -12 months 1 to 5 years Over 5 year

Contractual cash inflows  

Financial asset at fair value through 
profit and loss

157 896 791  –  –  – 157 896 791 

Group loans 2 338 541  – 2 338 541  –  – 

Other receivables 1 764 952 1 764 952 –  –  –

Cash and cash equivalents 373 548 658 373 548 658  –  –  – 

Contractual cash outflows

Other payables (1 711 375) (1 711 375)  -  -  - 

  533 837 567 373 602 235 2 338 541  - 157 896 791 

2018 Carrying amount 2 months or less 2 -12 months 1 to 5 years Over 5 year

Contractual cash inflows  

Cash and cash equivalents  499 063 418  499 063 418  -  -  - 

Contractual cash outflows

Other payables (3 117 720) (3 117 720)  -  -  - 

   495 945 698  495 945 698  -  -  - 
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Cash and cash equivalents -1% -0,5% Base +0,5% +1%

Interest rates  24 246 054  24 367 893  24 490 345  24 612 797  24 735 861 

20.2 Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Company if a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument fails to meet its contractual 
obligations. It arises principally from derivative financial assets, cash and cash equivalents, margin accounts and balance due from brokers.  
For risk management purposes, the Company considers and consolidates all elements of credit risk exposure.

The Company’s maximum credit risk exposure (without taking into account collateral and other credit enhancements) at the reporting date is 
represented by the respective carrying amounts of the relevant financial assets in the statement of financial position. The risk of some of these 
exposures is mitigated by collateral held, where applicable.

Cash and cash equivalents:

2019 2018

Rating Rands Rating Rands

First National Bank Limited  BB+  373 548 658  BB+  499 063 418 

20.3 Market risk
Market risk is the risk that changes in the market prices will affect the Company’s income or the value of its holdings of financial instruments.  
The objective of market risk management is to manage and control market risk exposures within acceptable parameters, while optimising the return.

The Company has exposure to interest rate and market price risk.

(i) Interest rate risk

The Company is exposed to the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of its financial instruments will fluctuate as a result of changes in market 
interest rates. The Company’s policy is to transact in financial instruments that mature or re-price in the short term. Accordingly, the Company would 
be subject to limited exposure to fair value cash flow interest rate risk due to fluctuations in prevailing levels of market interest rates.

A summary of the Company’s interest rate gap position, analysed by the earlier of contractual re-pricing or maturity, is as follows:

 28 February 2019 Less than 3 months 3 to 12 months More than 12 months Total

Assets

Cash and cash equivalents  373 548 658 – –  373 548 658 

Total interest sensitivity gap  373 548 658  –  –  373 548 658 

 28 February 2018 Less than 3 months 3 to 12 months More than 12 months Total

Assets

Cash and cash equivalents  499 063 418  –  –  499 063 418 

Total interest sensitivity gap  499 063 418  –  –  499 063 418 

The sensitivity analysis reflects how changes in net assets attributable to holders of a redeemable interest in the Company would have been 
affected by changes in the relevant risk that were reasonably possible at the reporting date.

Management has determined that fluctuation in interest rates of 50 and 100 basis points is reasonably possible, considering the economic 
environment in which the Company operates.

(ii) Fair value estimation

Refer to note 6 disclosure on the market risks of financial asset at fair value through profit and loss.
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5.1 Notice of Annual General Meeting 
Notice is hereby given that the Annual General Meeting (AGM) of 
shareholders of RH Bophelo Limited will be held at the Company’s 
registered office, 3rd floor, 18 Melrose Boulevard, Melrose Arch, 
Melrose North, Johannesburg, 2076, South Africa on Friday,  
2 August 2019 at 12h00 (‘the AGM’). 

Purpose

The purpose of the AGM is to transact business set out in the 
agenda below.

Agenda 

1.  Presentation of the Company’s audited annual financial statements, 
including the reports of the Directors, the audit and risk committee 
and the auditors for the year ended 28 February 2019. 

2.  To consider and, if deemed fit, approve, with or without modification, 
the following ordinary resolutions and special resolutions:

Note: For any of the ordinary resolutions numbers 1 to 12 (inclusive) 
to be adopted, more than 50% of the voting rights exercised on each 
such ordinary resolution must be exercised in favour thereof, with 
the exception of ordinary resolution number 11 that requires 75% of 
voting rights to be exercised in favour thereof. For special resolution 
numbers 1 to 3, at least 75% of voting rights must be exercised in 
favour thereof.

 

1.  APPROVAL OF ANNUAL FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS 

 1.1 ORDINARY RESOLUTION NUMBER 1 

  RESOLVED that the audited annual financial statements, 
including the Report of the Board of Directors, the Independent 
Auditor’s report and the audit and risk committee report, of the 
Company for the financial year ended 28 February 2019, be 
accepted and approved. 

2.  RESIGNATION, RETIREMENT, RE-ELECTION 
OF DIRECTORS 

 2.1 ORDINARY RESOLUTION NUMBER 2 

  Confirmation of resignation of Mr Maunatlala Piet (Peter) 
Mehlape as a Non-executive Director. 

  RESOLVED that Mr Maunatlala Piet (Peter) Mehlape who retires 
by rotation in terms of the MOI of the Company and the Listings 
Requirements of the JSE, does not offer himself for re-election and 
hereby resigns as director effective as at the date of the AGM.

 

 2.2 ORDINARY RESOLUTION NUMBER 3

  Re-appointment of Dr Phetole (David) Sekete as a  
Non-executive Director. 

  RESOLVED that Dr Phetole (David) Sekete who retires by rotation in 
terms of the MOI of the Company and the Listings Requirements of 
the JSE, being eligible, offers himself for re-election, be and is hereby 
re-elected as a Non-executive Director.

 2.3 ORDINARY RESOLUTION NUMBER 4 

  Re-appointment of Ms Londeka Anelisiwe Shezi as an 
independent Non-executive Director. 

  RESOLVED that Ms Londeka Anelisiwe Shezi who retires by 
rotation in terms of the MOI of the Company and the Listings 
Requirements of the JSE, being eligible, offers herself for 
re-election, be and is hereby re-elected as an independent 
Non-executive Director. 

  The reason for ordinary resolutions numbers 2, 3, and 4 is that 
the MOI of the Company, the JSE Listings Requirements and, 
to the extent applicable, the South African Companies Act, 
71 of 2008, as amended (‘the Companies Act’), require that a 
component of the Non-executive Directors rotate at every AGM 
of the Company and, being eligible, may offer themselves for 
re-election as Directors.

   Brief CVs of all the Directors appear on pages 32 to 37 of this 
integrated annual report. 

3.  APPOINTMENT AND RE-APPOINTMENT OF 
THE MEMBERS OF THE AUDIT AND RISK 
COMMITTEE OF THE COMPANY 

  Note: For the sake of clarity and to avoid any doubt, all 
references to the audit and risk committee of the Company 
is a reference to the Audit Committee as contemplated in the 
Companies Act.

  3.1 ORDINARY RESOLUTION NUMBER 5 

  Re-election of Ms Londeka Anelisiwe Shezi, as Chairperson and 
member of the audit and risk committee. 

  RESOLVED that Ms Londeka Anelisiwe Shezi, being eligible, be 
and is appointed as Chairperson and member of the audit and 
risk committee of the Company, as recommended by the Board 
of Directors of the Company, until the next AGM of the Company.

 

RH BOPHELO  INTEGRATED ANNUAL REPORT 2019   CULTIVATING THE FUTURE OF HEALTHCARE102



  3.2 ORDINARY RESOLUTION NUMBER 6

  Re-election of Dr Kgaogelo Rachel Ntshwana, as member of the 
audit and risk committee. 

  RESOLVED that Dr Kgaogelo Rachel Ntshwana, being eligible, be 
and is appointed as a member of the audit and risk committee of 
the Company, as recommended by the Board of Directors of the 
Company, until the next AGM of the Company. 

 3.3 ORDINARY RESOLUTION NUMBER 7

  Re-election of Dr Solomon (Solly) Gabriel Motuba, as member of 
the audit and risk committee. 

  RESOLVED that Dr Solomon (Solly) Gabriel Motuba, being 
eligible, be and is appointed as a member of the audit and risk 
committee of the Company, as recommended by the Board of 
Directors of the Company, until the next AGM of the Company.

  Brief CVs of all the Directors appear on pages 32 to 37 of this 
integrated annual report.

 

4. RE-APPOINTMENT OF AUDITOR 

 4.1 ORDINARY RESOLUTION NUMBER 8 

  RESOLVED that Deloitte & Touche be and is hereby re-appointed as 
auditor of the Company and Mr Patrick Ndlovu as the designated 
audit partner for the ensuing year on the recommendation of the 
audit and risk committee of the Company.

  The reason for ordinary resolution number 8 is that the Company, 
being a public listed company, must have its financial results 
audited and such auditor must be appointed or re-appointed 
each year at the AGM of the Company as required by the 
Companies Act.

5.  NON-BINDING ENDORSEMENT OF  
RH BOPHELO LIMITED REMUNERATION 
POLICY 

 5.1 ORDINARY RESOLUTION NUMBER 9 

  RESOLVED that the shareholders endorse, by way of a  
non-binding advisory vote, the Company’s remuneration policy 
as set out on page 45 to 47 of the Integrated Report.

  The reason for ordinary resolution number 9 is that King VI 
recommends that the remuneration policy of the Company be 
endorsed through a non-binding advisory vote by shareholders.

  Shareholders are reminded that in terms of King IV, the 
passing of this ordinary resolution is by way of a non-binding 
vote. Should 25% or more of the votes cast, vote against this 
ordinary resolution, the Company undertakes to engage with 
shareholders as to the reasons therefore.

6.  UNISSUED SHARES UNDER THE CONTROL 
OF THE DIRECTORS 

 6.1 ORDINARY RESOLUTION NUMBER 10

  RESOLVED that all the authorised but unissued shares in the 
capital of the Company be and are hereby placed under the 
control and authority of the Directors of the Company, which 
Directors are hereby authorised to allot and issue shares in the 
capital of the Company to such person or persons, upon such 
terms and conditions and at such times as the Directors of the 
Company may from time to time and in their sole discretion 
deem fit, until the next AGM, provided that:

 a)  such allotment, issue or disposal shall not in aggregate be in 
excess of 10% (ten percent) of the Company’s current issued 
share capital; and

 b)  subject to the provisions of the Companies Act, the MOI of 
the Company and the Listings Requirements.

  The reason for ordinary resolution number 10 is that in terms of 
the Company’s MOI, the Companies Act and the JSE Listings 
Requirements, the authority given to place the unissued shares 
under the control of the Directors needs to be renewed at the 
Company’s AGM.

 

7.  GENERAL AUTHORITY TO ISSUE SHARES  
FOR CASH

 7.1 ORDINARY RESOLUTION NUMBER 11 

  RESOLVED that the Directors of the Company be and are 
hereby authorised, by way of a general authority to allot or 
issue all or any of the authorised but unissued shares in the 
capital of the Company for cash, as they, in their discretion, 
may deemed fit, as and when suitable opportunities arise, 
subject to the provision of the Company’s MOI, the Companies 
Act and the JSE Listings Requirements.

  The allotment and issue of shares for cash shall be subject to 
the following limitations: 

 a)  that the securities which are the subject of this general 
authority be of a class already in issue or, where this is not 
the case, must be limited to such securities or rights that are 
convertible into a class already in issue;

 b)  the general authority shall be valid until the Company’s next 
AGM, or for 15 months from the date on which the general 
authority for such ordinary resolution was passed, whichever 
date is earlier;

 c)  issues in terms of this authority in any one financial year shall 
not exceed 5 125 000 (five million) ordinary shares, which is 
not greater than 10% (ten percent) in aggregate of the number 
of shares (excluding treasury shares) in the Company’s issued 
share capital in issue at the date of this notice of the AGM. The 
10% (ten percent) shall also take into account (and shall include, 
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if applicable) any securities to be issued pursuant to a rights 
issue that has been announced, which is irrevocable and fully 
underwritten, or securities issued in terms of an acquisition that 
has had the final terms announced;

 d)  After the Company has issued equity securities, in terms 
of the approved general issue for cash representing, on a 
cumulative basis within the financial year, 5% or more of the 
number of equity securities in issue prior to that issue, the 
Company shall publish an announcement giving full details of 
the issue, including:

  i) the number of securities issued; 
  ii)   the average discount to the weighted average trading 

price of the securities over the 30 days prior to the 
date that the issue was determined and agreed by the 
Directors of the Company; and 

  iii)  impact on NAV, Net Tangible Asset Value (NTAV) and 
on Earnings and Headline Earnings per share shall be 
published at the time of any issue representing, on a 
cumulative basis within a financial year, 5% or more of the 
number of shares in issue, prior to such issue.

 e)  In determining the price at which shares will be issued in 
terms of this authority, the maximum discount permitted 
shall be 10% of the weighted average traded price of such 
shares, as determined over the 30-day business period prior 
to the date that the price of the issue is determined or agreed 
by the Directors of the Company. If no shares have been 
traded in the said 30-day business period, a ruling will be 
obtained from the JSE; and

 f)  Any such issue will be made to public shareholders as 
defined in paragraphs 4.25 to 4.27 of the JSE Listings 
Requirements and not to related parties.

  For this resolution to be adopted, at least 75% of the shareholders 
present in person or by proxy and entitled to vote on this resolution 
at the AGM must cast their vote in favour of this resolution.

 

8.  REMUNERATION OF NON-EXECUTIVE 
DIRECTORS 

 8.1 SPECIAL RESOLUTION NUMBER 1 

  RESOLVED in terms of Section 66(9) of the Companies Act that 
the Company be and is hereby authorised to remunerate its Non-
executive Directors for their services as Directors on the basis set 
out below, provided that this authority will be valid until the next 
AGM of the Company. 

Fee per meeting attendance (R)

Board meeting 10 000

Iinvestment committee meetings  
(including Chairperson)

10 000

Audit and risk committee meetings 
(including Chairperson)

10 000

Social and ethics committee meetings 
(including Chairperson)

10 000

Remuneration and nomination committee 
meetings (including Chairperson)

10 000

The reason for special resolution number 1 is for the Company to 
obtain the approval of shareholders, by way of a special resolution, 
for the payment of remuneration to its Non-executive Directors in 
accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act.

  The effect of special resolution number 1 is that the Company 
will be able to pay its Non-executive Directors for the services 
they render to the Company as Directors without requiring 
further shareholder approval until the next AGM of the Company.

 

9. INTER-COMPANY FINANCIAL ASSISTANCE 

 9.1 SPECIAL RESOLUTION NUMBER 2 

  RESOLVED in terms of section 45(3)(a)(ii) of the Companies 
Act, as a general approval, that the Board of the Company be 
and is hereby authorised to approve that the Company provides 
any direct or indirect financial assistance (‘financial assistance’ 
will herein have the meaning attributed to it in section 45(1) 
of the Companies Act) that the Board of the Company may 
deem fit to any person, company or corporation that is related 
or inter-related (‘related’ or ‘inter-related’ will herein have the 
meaning attributed to it in section 2 of the Companies Act) to 
the Company, on the terms and conditions and for amounts that 
the Board of the Company may determine, provided that the 
aforementioned approval shall be valid until the date of the next 
AGM of the Company.

  The reason for and effect of special resolution number 2 is to grant 
the Directors of the Company the authority, until the next AGM, 
to provide direct or indirect financial assistance to any person, 
company or corporation which is related or inter-related to the 
Company. This means that the Company is authorised to grant 
loans to its subsidiaries and to guarantee the debt of its subsidiaries.

 9.2 SPECIAL RESOLUTION NUMBER 3 

  RESOLVED, in terms of section 44(3)(a)(ii) of the Companies 
Act, as a general approval, that the Board of the Company be and 
is hereby authorised to approve that the Company provides any 
direct or indirect financial assistance (‘financial assistance’ will 
herein have the meaning attributed to it in sections 44(1) and 
44(2) of the Companies Act) that the Board of the Company 
may deem fit to any company or corporation that is related 
or inter-related to the Company (‘related’ or ‘inter-related’ will 
herein have the meaning attributed to it in section 2 of the 
Companies Act) and/or to any financier who provides funding 
by subscribing for preference shares or other securities in the 
Company or any company or corporation that is related or inter-
related to the Company, on the terms and conditions and for 
amounts that the Board of the Company may determine for the 
purpose of, or in connection with the subscription of any option, 
or any shares or other securities, issued or to be issued by the 
Company or a related or inter-related company or corporation, or 
for the purchase of any shares or securities of the Company or a 
related or inter-related company or corporation, provided that the 
aforementioned approval shall be valid until the date of the next 
AGM of the Company.
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  The reason for and effect of special resolution number 3 is to 
grant the Directors the authority, until the next AGM of the 
Company, to provide financial assistance to any company or 
corporation that is related or inter-related to the Company and/
or to any financier for the purpose of or in connection with the 
subscription or purchase of options, shares or other securities 
in the Company or any related or inter-related company or 
corporation. This means that the Company is authorised, 
inter alia, to grant loans to its subsidiaries and to guarantee 
and furnish security for the debt of its subsidiaries where 
any such financial assistance is directly or indirectly related 
to a party subscribing for options, shares or securities in the 
Company or its subsidiaries. For example, the Company may 
rely on this authority if a subsidiary raises funds by way of 
issuing preference shares and the third-party funder requires 
the Company to furnish security, by way of a guarantee or 
otherwise, for the obligations of its subsidiary to the third-party 
funder arising from the issue of the preference shares. The 
Company has no immediate plans to use this authority and is 
simply obtaining same in the interests of prudence and good 
corporate governance should the unforeseen need arise to use 
the authority. 

 In terms of and pursuant to the provisions of Sections 44 
and 45 of the Companies Act, the Directors of the Company 
confirm that the Board will satisfy itself, after considering all 
reasonably foreseeable financial circumstances of the Company, 
that immediately after providing any financial assistance as 
contemplated in special resolution numbers 2 and 3 above: 

   the assets of the Company (fairly valued) will equal or 
exceed the liabilities of the Company (fairly valued) (taking 
into consideration the reasonably foreseeable contingent 
assets and liabilities of the Company); 

   the Company will be able to pay its debts as they become due 
in the ordinary course of business for a period of 12 months; 

   the terms under which any financial assistance is proposed 
to be provided, will be fair and reasonable to the Company; 
and 

   all relevant conditions and restrictions (if any) relating to the  
granting of financial assistance by the Company as 
contained in the Company’s MOI have been met.
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10. IMPLEMENTATION OF RESOLUTIONS 

 10.1 ORDINARY RESOLUTION NUMBER 12 

  RESOLVED that any Director and/or the Secretary of the 
Company, be and is hereby authorised to do all such things, sign 
all such documents and take all actions as may be necessary to 
implement the above ordinary and special resolutions.

  In order for this ordinary resolution number 12 to be adopted, the 
support of at least 50% of the total number of votes, which the 
shareholders present or represented by proxy at this meeting are 
entitled to cast, is required.

 Voting and Proxies 

 1.  The date on which shareholders must be recorded as such 
in the Share Register maintained by the transfer secretaries 
of the Company (‘the Share Register’) for purposes of being 
entitled to receive this notice is Friday, 28 June 2019.

 2.  The date on which shareholders must be recorded in the Share 
Register for purposes of being entitled to attend and vote at 
this AGM is Friday, 26 July 2019, with the last day to trade 
being Tuesday, 23 July 2019.

 3.  Meeting participants will be required to provide proof of 
identification to the reasonable satisfaction of the Chairman 
of the AGM and must accordingly bring a copy of their valid 
identity document, passport or driver’s licence to the AGM. 
If in doubt as to whether any document will be regarded 
as satisfactory proof of identification, meeting participants 
should contact the Transfer Secretaries for guidance.

 4.  Shareholders entitled to attend and vote at the AGM may 
appoint one or more proxies to attend, speak and vote 
thereat in their stead. A proxy need not be a shareholder 
of the Company. A form of proxy, which sets out the 
relevant instructions for its completion, is enclosed for 
use by a certificated shareholder or own-name registered 
dematerialised shareholder who wishes to be represented at 
the AGM. Completion of a form of proxy will not preclude such 
shareholders from attending and voting (in preference to that 
shareholder’s proxy) at the AGM.

 5.  The instrument appointing a proxy and the authority (if any) 
under which it is signed must reach the Transfer Secretaries 
of the Company at the address given below by no later than 
12:00 on Wednesday, 31 July 2019, provided that any form of 
proxy not delivered to the Transfer Secretary by this time may 
be handed to the Chairman of the AGM at any time prior to the 
commencement of the AGM.

 6.  Dematerialised shareholders, other than own-name registered 
dematerialised shareholders, who wish to attend the AGM in 
person, will need to request their Central Securities Depository 
Participant (CSDP) or broker to provide them with the 
necessary authority in terms of the custody agreement entered 
into between such shareholders and the CSDP or broker.

 7.  Dematerialised shareholders, other than own-name registered 
dematerialised shareholders, who are unable to attend the 
AGM and who wish to be represented thereat, must provide 
their CSDP or broker with their voting instructions in terms of 
the custody agreement entered into between themselves and 
the CSDP or broker in the manner and time stipulated therein.

 8.  On a show of hands, every shareholder present in person or 
represented by proxy and entitled to vote shall have only one 
vote irrespective of the number of shares such shareholder 
holds. On a poll, every shareholder present in person or 
represented by proxy and entitled to vote shall be entitled to 
one vote for every share held or represented by that shareholder. 

 Electronic participation by shareholders 

  Should any shareholder (or representative or proxy for a 
shareholder) wish to participate in the AGM electronically, that 
shareholder should apply in writing (including details on how 
the shareholder or representative (including proxy) can be 
contacted) to the Transfer Secretaries, at the address above, to 
be received by the Transfer Secretaries at least seven business 
days prior to the AGM (thus to be confirmed) for the Transfer 
Secretaries to arrange for the shareholder (or representative 
or proxy) to provide reasonably satisfactory identification to 
the Transfer Secretaries for the purposes of section 63(1) of 
the Companies Act and for the Transfer Secretaries to provide 
the shareholder (or representative or proxy) with details on 
how to access the AGM by means of electronic participation. 
The Company reserves the right not to provide for electronic 
participation at the AGM if it determines that it is not practical 
to do so, or an insufficient number of shareholders (or their 
representatives or proxies) request to participate in this manner.

 

By order of the Board

Corporate Vision Consulting Proprietary Limited  
Company Secretary  
Thursday, 4 July 2019

Registered office  
3rd floor, 18 Melrose Boulevard  
Melrose Arch, Melrose North  
Johannesburg, 2076  
South Africa 

Transfer Secretaries  
Computershare Investor Services Proprietary Limited  
Rosebank Towers, 15 Biermann Avenue, Rosebank  
Johannesburg, 2196  
South Africa
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5.2 Form of Proxy

TO BE COMPLETED BY CERTIFICATED SHAREHOLDERS AND DEMATERIALISED SHAREHOLDERS 
WITH ‘OWN-NAME’ REGISTRATION ONLY

RH BOPHELO LIMITED 
(Incorporated in the Republic of South Africa) 
(Registration number: 2016/533398/06) 
(Share code: RHB ISIN: ZAE000244737) 
(“RH Bophelo” or “the Company”)

I/We (please print names in full) 

of (address) 

Telephone number  Cellphone number   

Email address   

being the holder/s  ‘A’ Ordinary shares in RH Bophelo Limited, do hereby appoint:  

1.  or, failing him/her 

2.  or, failing him/her 

3. The Chairman of the AGM,  
as my/our proxy to vote for me/us on my/our behalf at the AGM, which will be held for the purpose of considering and, if deemed fit, passing, with 
or without modification, the resolutions to be proposed thereat and at each adjournment thereof and to vote for and/or against the said resolutions 
and/or to abstain from voting in respect of the A Ordinary Shares of the Company registered in my/ our name(s), on the following ordinary and 
special resolutions to be proposed at such meeting:

For use at the Annual General Meeting (AGM) of shareholders of the Company, to be held at 3rd floor, 18 Melrose Boulevard, Melrose Arch, Melrose 
North, Johannesburg, 2076, South Africa at 12h00 on Friday, 2 August 2019, or at any adjournment or postponement of that meeting. 

A shareholder is entitled to appoint one or more proxies (none of whom need to be a shareholder of the Company) to attend, participate in, speak 
and vote or abstain from voting in the place of that shareholder at the AGM.

RH BOPHELO  INTEGRATED ANNUAL REPORT 2019   CULTIVATING THE FUTURE OF HEALTHCARE 107



Number of Shares

For Against Abstain

Ordinary resolution number 1: Approval of financial statements

Ordinary resolution number 2: Resignation of Peter Mehlape as Director

Ordinary resolution number 3: Re-election of David Sekete as Director

Ordinary resolution number 4: Re-election of Londeka Shezi as Director

Ordinary resolution number 5: Re-appointment of Londeka Shezi as member of the audit and 
risk committee

Ordinary resolution number 6: Re-appointment of Kgaogelo Ntshwana as member of the audit 
and risk committee

Ordinary resolution number 7: Re-appointment of Solly Motuba as member of the audit and 
risk committee

Ordinary resolution number 8: Re-appointment of Deloitte & Touche as auditors

Ordinary resolution number 9: Non-binding endorsement of RH Bophelo Limited’s 
remuneration policy

Ordinary resolution number 10: Unissued shares under the control of the Directors

Ordinary resolution number 11: General authority to issue shares for cash

Special resolution number 1: Remuneration of Non-executive Directors

Special resolution number 2: Inter-company financial assistance

Special resolution number 3: Financial assistance for the subscription/or acquisition of shares 
in the Company or a related or inter-related company

Ordinary resolution number 12: Authority for Directors or Company Secretary to implement 
resolutions

Please indicate with an “X” in the appropriate spaces provided above how you wish your vote to be cast. If no indication is given, the proxy may 
vote or abstain as he/she sees fit.

Signed at this day  of  2019

Signature  Assisted by me, where applicable (name and signature)  

Please read the notes overleaf.

(which include, inter alia, a summary of the rights established by section 58 of the 
Companies Act, as amended (Companies Act).

SUMMARY OF RIGHTS CONTAINED IN SECTION 58 OF THE COMPANIES ACT 
In terms of section 58 of the Companies Act: 

  A shareholder may, at any time and in accordance with the provisions of section 
58 of the Companies Act, appoint any individual (including an individual who is not 
a shareholder) as a proxy to participate in, and speak and vote at, a shareholders’ 
meeting on behalf of such shareholder. 

   A shareholder may appoint two or more persons concurrently as proxies and may 
appoint more than one proxy to exercise voting rights attached to different securities 
held by the shareholder.

  A proxy may delegate his authority to act on behalf of a shareholder to another person, 
subject to any restriction set out in the instrument appointing such proxy. 

  Irrespective of the form of instrument used to appoint a proxy, the appointment of 
a proxy is suspended at any time and to the extent that the relevant shareholder 
chooses to act directly and in person in the exercise of any of such shareholder’s rights 
as a shareholder.

  Any appointment by a shareholder of a proxy is revocable, unless the form of 
instrument used to appoint such proxy states otherwise.

  If an appointment of a proxy is revocable, a shareholder may revoke the proxy 
appointment by: 

 (i)  cancelling it in writing or making a later inconsistent appointment of a proxy and
 (ii)    delivering a copy of the revocation instrument to the proxy and to the relevant 

company.

  A proxy appointed by a shareholder is entitled to exercise, or abstain from exercising, 
any voting right of such shareholder without direction, except to the extent that the 
relevant company’s memorandum of incorporation, or the instrument appointing the 
proxy, provides otherwise.

  If the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies has been delivered by a shareholder 
to a company, then, for so long as that appointment remains in effect, any notice 
that is required in terms of the Companies Act or such company’s memorandum of 
incorporation to be delivered to a shareholder must be delivered by such company to: 

 (i) the relevant shareholder; or
 (ii) the proxy or proxies, if the relevant shareholder has: 

 Directed such company to do so, in writing; and 

 Paid any reasonable fee charged by such company for doing so.

Notes to the form of proxy
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1.    Each shareholder is entitled to appoint 1 (one) or more proxies 
(none of whom need be a shareholder) to attend, speak and vote 
in place of that shareholder at the AGM.

 2.  A shareholder may insert the name of a proxy or the names of 
two alternative proxies of the shareholder’s choice in the space/s 
provided with or without deleting ‘the Chairman of the AGM,’ but 
the shareholder must initial any such deletion. The person whose 
name stands first on the form of proxy and who is present at the 
AGM will be entitled to act as proxy to the exclusion of those 
whose names follow. 

3.   A shareholder’s instructions to the proxy must be indicated by 
the insertion of the relevant number of votes exercisable by the 
shareholder in the appropriate box provided or an ‘X’ should 
the shareholder wish the proxy to exercise all votes. Failure to 
comply with the above will be deemed to authorise and direct 
the Chairman of the AGM, if the Chairman is the authorised 
proxy, to vote or abstain from voting at the AGM as the Chairman 
deems fit, or any other proxy to vote or abstain from voting at 
the AGM as he/ she deems fit, in respect of all the votes of the 
shareholder exercisable at the meeting.

4.   Completed forms of proxy and the authority (if any) under which 
they are signed must be lodged with or posted to the Transfer 
Secretaries of the Company, Computershare Investor Services 
(Pty) Limited, at Rosebank Towers, 15 Biermann Avenue, 
Rosebank, 2196 or posted to the Transfer Secretaries at PO Box 
61051, Marshalltown, 2107, to be received by them by no later 
than 12:00 on Wednesday, 31 July 2019, provided that any form 
of proxy not delivered to the Transfer Secretary by this time may 
be handed to the Chairman of the AGM at any time prior to the 
commencement of the AGM. 

5.  Completion and lodging of this form of proxy will not preclude 
the relevant shareholder from attending the AGM and speaking 
and voting in person thereat to the exclusion of any proxy 
appointed in terms hereof, should such shareholder wish to do so. 

6.   The Chairman of the AGM may accept or reject any form of proxy 
not completed and/or received in accordance with these notes or 
with the MOI of RH Bophelo. 

7.  Any alteration or correction made to this form of proxy must be 
initialled by the signatory/ies. 

8.  Documentary evidence establishing the authority of a person 
signing this form of proxy in a representative capacity (e.g. for a 
company, close corporation, trust, pension fund, deceased estate, 
etc.) must be attached to this form of proxy, unless previously 
recorded by RH Bophelo or the Transfer Secretaries. 

9.   Where this form of proxy is signed under power of attorney, such 
power of attorney must accompany this form of proxy, unless it 
has been registered by RH Bophelo or the Transfer Secretaries or 
waived by the Chairman of the AGM.

10.  Where “A” Ordinary Shares are held jointly, all joint holders are 
required to sign this form of proxy. 

11.    A minor shareholder must be assisted by his/her parent/
guardian, unless the relevant documents establishing his/her 
legal capacity are produced or have been registered by  
RH Bophelo or the Transfer Secretaries. 

12.    Dematerialised shareholders who do not own shares in ‘own-
name’ dematerialised form and who wish to attend the AGM, or 
to vote by way of proxy, must contact their CSDP or broker who 
will furnish them with the necessary letter of representation to 
attend the AGM or to be represented thereat by proxy. This must 
be done in terms of the agreement between the shareholder and 
his/her CSDP or broker.

 13.   This form of proxy shall be valid at any resumption of an 
adjourned meeting to which it relates, although this form of 
proxy shall not be used at the resumption of an adjourned 
meeting if it could not have been used at the AGM from which 
it was adjourned for any reason other than it was not lodged 
timeously for the meeting from which the adjournment took 
place. This form of proxy shall, in addition to the authority 
conferred by the Companies Act except insofar as it provides 
otherwise, be deemed to confer the power generally to act at the 
AGM in question, subject to any specific direction contained in 
this form of proxy as to the manner of voting. 

14.    A vote given in accordance with the terms of an instrument 
of proxy shall be valid notwithstanding the death or mental 
disorder of the principal or revocation of the proxy or of the 
authority under which the proxy was executed, or the transfer 
of the share in respect of which the proxy is given, provided that 
no notification in writing of such death, insanity, revocation or 
transfer as aforesaid shall have been received by the Transfer 
Secretaries before the commencement of the meeting or 
adjourned meeting at which the proxy is used. 

15.    Any proxy appointed pursuant to this form of proxy may 
not delegate her or his authority to act on behalf of the 
relevant shareholder. 

16.    In terms of section 58 of the Companies Act, unless revoked, 
an appointment of a proxy pursuant to this form of proxy 
remains valid only until the end of the AGM or any adjournment 
of the AGM.

 NOTES
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FINAL 2019

Financial year end Thursday, 28 February 2019  
Publication of preliminary results 

SENS: Friday, 31 May 2019  
Press: Friday, 31 May 2019 Financial report and notice of AGM posted on Thursday, 4 July 2019  
Annual General Meeting: Friday, 2 August 2019.

INTERIM 2020 

Interim period ends: Friday, 30 August 2019.  
Announcement of interim results: November 2019.

5.3 Corporate Diary
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Unless the context indicates otherwise, a word or an expression which denotes any gender includes the other genders, a natural person includes a 
juristic person and vice versa, the singular includes the plural and vice versa and the following words and expressions bear the meanings assigned 
to them below:

AGM Annual General Meeting

Agterskot Final Deferred Payment

AHC Africa Health Care Proprietary Limited

B-BBEE Broad-Based Black Economic Empowerment as envisaged in the BEE Act

BHF Board of Healthcare Funders

BEE Black Economic Empowerment

BEE Act Broad-Based Black Economic Empowerment Act, No 53 of 2003 as amended or substituted from time to time

Board or Directors Board of directors of the Company

BofAML Bank of America Merrill Lynch 

CA Chartered Accountant

CEO Chief Executive Officer

CFO Chief Financial Officer

Company or  
RH Bophelo

RH Bophelo Limited (Registration number 2016/533398/06), a public company duly registered and incorporated in 
South Africa 

Company Secretary Corporate Vision Consulting Proprietary Limited (Registration number 2015/006536/07), a private company duly 
registered and incorporated in South Africa

Companies Act Companies Act, No. 71 of 2008, as amended from time to time

COO Chief Operating Officer

CIPC Companies and Intellectual Property Commission

CRISA Code for Responsible Investing in SA

CSDP Central Securities Depository Participant 

Directors A member of the board of people that manages or oversees the affairs of a business

DBSA Development Bank of Southern Africa

DoH Department of Health

EBIT Earnings Before Interest & Tax

EBITDA Earnings Before Interest, Taxation, Depreciation & Amortisation

ESD Environmental, Social and Governance

EV Enterprise Value

GDP Gross Domestic Product

GEPF Government Employees Pension Fund

Group The Company and its wholly-owned subsidiary, RH Bophelo Operating Company Proprietary Limited

HR Human Resources

IDC Industrial Development Corporation

IFRS International Financial Reporting Standards

5.4 Definitions and Interpretations
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ISA International Standards on Auditing 

JSE Johannesburg Stock Exchange

King IV King IV Report on Corporate Governance for South Africa 2016

Management 
Company or 
RH Bophelo 
Management 
Company or ManCo

RH Bophelo Management Company Proprietary Limited (Registration number 2016/533552/07), a private company 
duly registered and incorporated in South Africa

MOI Memorandum of Incorporation

NAV Net Asset Value

NHI National Health Insurance

NHN National Hospital Network

OECD Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development

PAYE Pay-As-You-Earn 

P/E Price Earnings

PwC PricewaterhouseCoopers

RA Registered Auditor

Razorite Healthcare 
and Rehabilitation 
Fund

Razorite Healthcare and Rehabilitation Fund is a South African based private equity fund that is structured as an en 
commandite partnership and whose mandate is to invest in healthcare infrastructure in South Africa

RH Managers RH Managers Proprietary Limited (Registration number 2013/080004/07), a private company duly registered and 
incorporated in South Africa

RMA Rand Mutual Assurance

RMC Rondebosch Medical Centre Proprietary Limited

ROE Return on Equity

SAICA South African Institute of Chartered Accountants

SANC South African Nursing Council

SENS Stock Exchange News Service

SPAC Special Purpose Acquisition Company as envisaged in the JSE Listings Requirements

TWIG Third Way Investment Group

UIF Unemployment Insurance Fund

VPH Vryburg Private Hospital

VWAP Volume Weighted Average Price

ZAR South African Rand
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5.5 Corporate Information

COMPANY DETAILS 

RH Bophelo Limited 
Registration number: 2016/533398/06 
Share code: RH BOPHELO 
ISIN: ZAE000244737 
Date of incorporation: 13 December 2016 
Place of incorporation: South Africa 

 

REGISTERED OFFICE 

3rd Floor, 18 Melrose Boulevard 
Melrose Arch, Melrose North 
Johannesburg, 2076 
South Africa 

 

DIRECTORS 

Q Zunga (Chief Executive Officer) 
KD Mhlaba (Chief Financial Officer) 
VP Nomvalo (Executive Director) 
MP Mehlape (Non-executive Director) 
Dr SG Motuba (Lead Independent Non-executive Director) 
Dr KR Ntshwana (Independent Non-executive Director) 
LA Shezi (Independent Non-executive Director) 
JR Oliphant (Non-executive Chairman) 
Dr PD Sekete (Non-executive Director) 

 

COMPANY SECRETARY 

Corporate Vision Consulting Proprietary Limited 
(Registration number 2015/006536/07) 
Prism Office Park
9 Ruby Close, Fourways
Johannesburg, 2191
South Africa

 

TRANSFER SECRETARIES 

Computershare Investor Services Proprietary Ltd 
(Registration number 2004/003647/07) 
Rosebank Towers 
15 Biermann Ave, Rosebank 
Johannesburg, 2196 
South Africa

SPONSOR 

Deloitte & Touche Sponsor Services Proprietary Ltd 
(Registration number 1996/000034/07) 
The Woodlands, Woodlands Drive 
Woodmead, Sandton 
Johannesburg, 2196 
South Africa

 

EXTERNAL AUDITORS 

Deloitte & Touche (South Africa) 
(Practice number 902276) 
The Woodlands, Woodlands Drive 
Woodmead, Sandton 
Johannesburg, 2196 
South Africa

 

RISK ADVISORS

SkX Protiviti Proprietary Limited
Office Park, Building 1
15 Forest Road 
Waverley, Sandton
Johannesburg, 2199
South Africa

 

COMMUNICATIONS AGENCY

Kaitoma Creatives CC 
The Hunt at Hunts End  
38 Wierda Road West  
Wierda Valley, Sandton 
Johannesburg, 2196
South Africa
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RH Bophelo Celebrates Two Years of 
Transforming Healthcare in South Africa

For two years, RH Bophelo has successfully positioned health as an investment. 

Through the support of private and institutional investors, RH Bophelo continues  
to ensure that South Africans have access to affordable quality healthcare.

Invest in health, invest in RHB.

Invest with us. Visit RHBophelo.co.za



#InvestInRHB

Registered address:  
3rd Floor, 18 Melrose Boulevard, 
Melrose Arch, Johannesburg

Tel: +27 (0)10 007 2171
Email: invest@rhbophelo.co.za
Website: www.rhbophelo.co.za
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